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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBHEE

Notes 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
Mz ZEZNE ZEIZfF IZZIC “RT-F EIEF
Revenue (HK$000) W (FE7)
a. Construction a2 BE 77,648 (88,954) 395,521 1,133,711 497,147
b. Property leasing b ERE 276,531 243,072 200,687 164,674 139,835
¢. Property development CHEERE 178,512 4,850,442 221,659 194,000 265,614
532,691 5,004,560 817,867 1,492,385 902,596
Profit from operations (#k$000) &&&F| (FE7T) 435,798 1,634,272 85,579 249,466 110,600
Operating profit/(loss) excluding MR EMEATE
changes in fair value of #E LSRR/
investment properties (B8 51,635 1,658,144 (7,135) 248,077 120,944
Changes in fair value of investment R EMENAFEEF
properties 384,163 (23,872) 92,714 1,389 (10,344)
Underlying (loss)/profit (4k$000) BB (&i8) /&% (F47) () (85713) 1,299,332 (75,167) 147,646 44,173
Dividends (+k$000) BE FE7T) 56,809 653,105 397,472 113,564 411,667
Current ratio et 1.18 2.12 0.63 0.84 145
Gearing ratio EXEELER (i) 199.0% 155.3% 230.9% 161.6% 177 4%
Net gearing ratio BELBRILE (i) 179.8% 134.8% 198.1% 116.4% 85.7%
Return on equity Nk 10.1% 42.8% 0.8% 6.0% 1.4%
Notes: HiaE -

() Underlying (loss)/profit is arrived at by excluding the effect of changes in () £ (538) ER DR ER GG B
fair value of investment properties from profit for the year ZAFEE

(i)  Gearing ratio represents total interest-bearing borrowings divided by (i) BABEBELRIEEFBERGURERTGHE

shareholders’ equity and multiplied by 100% LL100%

@iy Net gearing ratio represents total interest-bearing borrowings less cash (i) FEXEGELRENBIBSRIBTEGUERS
and bank balances and restricted and pledged deposits divided by RH & BIRIRPER B EEREURRER
shareholders’ equity and multiplied by 100% BFRL100%
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

HFEMBEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E_NE = E"&F T BTHE
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FAEir FET
RESULTS e}
For the year ended 31 March HE=F=+—HILFE
Revenue Wz 532,691 5,004,560 817,867 1,492,385 902,596
Profit before taxation BRI AT A 313,131 1,529,180 26,733 187,904 43,272
Profit for the year ERimF 298,450 1,275,460 17,547 149,035 33,829
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR
As at 31 March KR=BA=+—H
Total assets mEE 9,386,245 8,150,242 10,673,730 9,840,259 9,549,612
Total liabilities maf 6,433,239 5,168,409 8,548,181 7,362,721 7,144,253
Total equity MR 2,953,006 2,981,833 2,125,549 2,477 538 2,405,359
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHRS

Chan Hung Ming
R FLEA

Chairman

TE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Grand Ming Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am delighted
to present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2024 (“FY
2023/24").

RESULTS

The Group's profit for the year amounted to HK$298.5 million,
representing a decrease of 76.6% as compared to HK$1,275.5 million for
the year ended 31 March 2023 (“FY 2022/23"). Disregarding the change
in fair value of investment properties, the Group recorded an underlying
loss for the year of HK$85.7 million, compared to an underlying profit of
HK$1,299.3 million in FY 2022/23. The deterioration in the results was
primarily due to the substantial decrease in the number of properties
sold from property development projects during the year under review.

DIVIDENDS

A final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023 of 5.0 HK cents per
ordinary share of the Company (the “Share(s)”) and a special dividend
of 15 HK cents per Share were paid to the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”) on 18 September 2023. An interim dividend for
the six months ended 30 September 2023 of 4.0 HK cents per Share was
paid to Shareholders on 20 December 2023.

In view of challenging market conditions, the Board does not
recommend payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 March
2024.
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8,5708 7T > ¥1E£2022/23F BRI A BB HFHY
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MERRBERELNYEHS KRR
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (Continued)

FEHRS (B

REVIEW OF OPERATION

Property Development — Hong Kong

The Grand Marine

This residential development is located at No. 18 Sai Shan Road, Tsing
Yi, the New Territories. It offers 776 units with a total gross floor area of
approximately 400,000 square feet. This project was well received by the
market with over 98% of the units being sold cumulatively as at the date
of this report.

The Grands

This residential-cum-commercial project is located at No. 45 Pau Chung
Street, To Kwa Wan, Kowloon in close proximity to MTR To Kwa Wan
station. It provides 76 residential units with commercial shops on the
ground and first floor covering a total gross floor area of approximately
31,000 square feet. This project was well received and all residential
units were sold as at the date of this report. Around 31% of the
residential units were handed over to the buyers with related revenue
recognised in FY 2023/24.

Luen Fat Street project

This site, situated at No. 1 Luen Fat Street, Fanling, the New Territories,
is developing into a 17-storey residential-cum-commercial tower with
a total gross floor area of approximately 36,000 square feet. The Group
had agreed to the provisional basic terms of the proposed in-situ land
exchange and is currently negotiating the land premium with the Hong
Kong Government. Meanwhile superstructure works is underway and
the development is scheduled to be completed in or around mid-2025.

North Point project

This project comprises two sites located at No. 66 Fort Street and No.
57 Kin Wah Street, North Point, Hong Kong with an aggregate gross floor
area of approximately 30,000 square feet. The site at No. 57 Kin Wah
Street will be developed into a 27-storey residential tower, whilst the site
at No. 66 Fort Street will be developed into a single-storey commercial
shop. Foundation works is in progress and the project is expected to be
completed in or around the second half of 2027.

Cristallo
This luxury residential project, at No. 279 Prince’s Road West, Kowloon,
was well received in the market. Cumulatively 15 units out of the total
18 units had been sold. No sales was recorded for this project in FY
2023/24.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)

EEHRS (B

Property Development — Mainland China

The Group's development project in the Mainland China is located
at Guangxi-ASEAN Economic and Technological Development Zone,
Wuming District, Nanning City, Guangxi Province with a gross floor
area of approximately 1,435,000 square feet. It will develop into a
luxury residential project under the theme of leisure and healthy
lifestyle, comprising high-rise apartments and villas complemented by
commercial and a wellness centre facility. Target customers will be the
elderly and retirees and their families. Superstructure works of the high-
rise apartments and basement construction works for the remaining
part of the site are now underway. The development is expected to be
completed in or around the second half of 2026.

Data Centre Premises Leasing

The Group currently owns two data centres, namely iTech Tower 1 and
iTech Tower 2. Revenue from its leasing business recorded an increase
of 14.4% year-on-year to HK$268.8 million. This was mainly driven
by ramp up of spaces utilised and increasing power consumption by
customers.

The development at No. 3 On Kui Street and No. 8 On Chuen Street in
Fanling, the New Territories are now known as “iTech Tower 3.1" and
“iTech Tower 3.2" respectively with a gross floor area of approximately
186,000 square feet in aggregate. The change of land use through land
exchange for both sites have been completed, with the land premium
fully settled.

The infrastructure and power supply of both iTech Tower 3.1 and 3.2
are designed to accommodate cloud computing and Al workloads.
Superstructure works of iTech Tower 3.1 have been completed, and
installation of the electrical and mechanical equipment and internal
fitting out works are now underway. During the year, this data centre has
been committed to a single customer under a long-term agreement, and
is scheduled for phased delivery starting mid-2025.

For iTech Tower 3.2, foundation works are well underway and the
development is scheduled to be completed in or around 2026.

Construction

The Group's construction business consists of the provision of building
services as a main contractor in property development projects, as well
as the provision of existing building alterations, renovation and fitting-
out works services for prominent local developers, public institutions
and the Group's companies.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group held contracts (inclusive of external
customers and the Group’s companies) with an aggregate value of
approximately HK$2.05 billion.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (Continued)

FEHRS (B

Construction revenue derived from external customers for FY 2023/24
amounted to HK$77.6 million, whilst a negative revenue of HK$89.0
million was recorded for FY 2022/23 due to a reversal of revenue of
HK$165.5 million arising from the change in estimate of the transaction
price on certain variation orders of a construction project. Excluding
the effect of reversal of revenue, construction revenue for FY 2023/24
increased by 1.5% when compared to that of FY 2022/23.

OUTLOOK

We are still operating in a challenging environment in 2024. The
uncertain economic outlook and persistently high interest rate year had
dragged on the recovery of the local economy and property market. On
28 February 2024, the Hong Kong Government announced cancellation
of all demand-side management measures for residential properties,
suspended the mortgage loan stress test and relaxed the mortgage
loan ratio. All these measures improved the market sentiment and led
to an increase in residential property transaction volume. Seizing this
opportunity, we successfully sold all units of The Grands and most of the
remaining units of The Grand Marine. The proceeds received from the
sales of properties would be applied to replenish the Group's working
capital and repay existing bank borrowings. We will continue selling the
remaining units of The Grand Marine and Cristallo.

The development of iTech Tower 3.1 and 3.2 is progressing on
schedule. We are committed to meeting the stringent requirements of
our customer and delivering iTech Tower 3.1 on time. Meanwhile we
endeavour to securing customers for iTech Tower 3.2. We continue
to improve and upgrade the existing facilities of iTech Tower 1 and 2
with a view to providing reliable services and fulfilling the needs of the
customers.

Given the construction labour and material costs remain high, our
construction team will focus on undertaking internal construction
projects for our data centre leasing and property development segment.
Currently, we have four internal projects in progress, which are
scheduled for completion between mid-2025 and late 2027.

APPRECIATION

I'would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to the Board
for its brilliant leadership, to the Shareholders for their strong support,
and to the community for their enthusiastic help, and last but not least,
to our staff for their dedicated efforts.

Chan Hung Ming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SR EYSs i

FINANCIAL REVIEW

In FY 2023/24, the Group's consolidated revenue amounted to HK$532.7
million (FY 2022/23: HK$5,004.6 million), representing a decline of
89.4% as compared to FY 2022/23. The consolidated gross profit also
decreased 91.5% to HK$168.6 million (FY 2022/23: HK$1,987.8 million).
These are primarily due to a substantial decrease in the number of
properties sold from property development projects during the year
under review.

Operating expenses (inclusive of selling and general and administrative
expenses) for the year decreased by 63.4% to HK$123.1 million (FY
2022/23: HK$335.9 million), largely because of the reduction of agency
commission incurred following the reduction in the sales of properties.

An unrealised fair value gain on investment properties and investment
properties under development of HK$384.2 million (FY 2022/23: fair
value loss of HK$23.9 million) was recognised in FY 2023/24, mainly
arising from the revaluation of the two data centres under development.
Gain on revaluation was recorded during the year under review due to
the completion of the change of the land use of the aforesaid two sites
with the land premium involved being fully settled and conclusion of
agreement with customer for iTech Tower 3.1.

Finance costs for the year increased by 16.7% to HK$122.7 million (FY
2022/23: HK$105.1 million), primarily due to the increase in interest rate
during the year under review.

Net profit for FY 2023/24 decreased by 76.6% to HK$298.5 million
(FY 2022/23: HK$1,275.5 million). Excluding the change in fair value
of investment properties, the Group recorded an underlying loss of
HK$85.7 million in FY 2023/24, as compared to an underlying profit of
HK$1,299.3 million in FY 2022/23.

10
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

BEEEwmRA R (B

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group finances its operations and capital expenditure with internally
generated cash flows and through bank borrowings. A variety of
credit facilities are maintained which had contracted repayment terms
ranging from repayable on demand to about 17.5 years. As at 31 March
2024, the Group had outstanding bank borrowings of approximately
HK$5,841 million (31 March 2023: approximately HK$4,630 million),
all of which were denominated in Hong Kong dollars. Increase in the
bank borrowings was primarily attributable to the drawdown of bank
loans during the year under review for refinancing a portion of the
land acquisition costs and the land premium payment, and funding the
construction of iTech Tower 3.1 and 3.2.

Apart from bank borrowings, there was a loan advanced by Chan
HM Company Limited (the Company's ultimate holding company) of
HK$36.8 million as at 31 March 2024 at the best lending rate for Hong
Kong dollars per annum from time to time as quoted by HSBC which is
repayable in December 2026. Such loan transaction was a connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However, it is
fully exempt from the reporting, announcement, and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to the Listing Rules,
because it is conducted on normal commercial terms or better and is
not secured by the assets of the Group.

The gearing ratio (defined as total interest-bearing borrowings divided by
shareholders’ equity) of the Group was approximately 199.0% (31 March
2023: approximately 155.3%). The current ratio (defined as current assets
divided by current liabilities) of the Group was 1.18 times (31 March
2023: 2.12 times).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$567.4 million (31 March 2023: approximately HK$611.8
million). The cash and bank balances were denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and Renminbi. Taking into account the cash generated from
operating activities and the available credit facilities from banks, the
Directors considered that the Group has sufficient working capital for its
liquidity requirement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
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INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from bank borrowings,
which bear interest at floating rates. The Group had in place a treasury
policy by which the exposure to floating interest rate risk was mitigated
by the use of interest rate swaps. As at 31 March 2024, the Group had
outstanding interest rate swaps with notional amount of approximately
HK$1,048 million. These swaps have fixed interest rates ranging from
1.3% t0 3.4% per annum and will mature between March to July 2025.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Directors consider that the Group’s foreign currency risk is
insignificant as substantially all of the Group's transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The Group has not implemented
any foreign currency hedging policy at the moment. However, the
management monitor the Group’s foreign exchange exposure closely
and may consider adopting foreign currency hedging policy in the future
depending on the circumstances and the trend of foreign currency.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2024, certain assets of the Group with an aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HK$8,720 million were pledged to
secure bank loans of approximately HK$5,754 million granted to the
Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements,
there were no other significant events after the reporting period up to
the date of this report.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Save as disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had no other capital commitments as at 31 March 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31 March
2024 and 2023.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and
associated companies by the Company during FY 2023/24.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group had a total of 152 employees as at 31 March 2024. Total
remuneration of employees for FY 2023/24 was approximately HK$131.8
million. The remuneration policy and packages of the Group's employees
are periodically reviewed by making reference to the prevailing market
conditions. The components of remuneration packages consist of basic
salary, benefits-in-kind, fringe benefits and contributions to mandatory
provident funds, discretionary bonuses which are determined according
to individual performance of employees. The Group also put in place
share option scheme and share award plan for the purpose of retaining,
motivating and rewarding the employees.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Except for investments in subsidiaries, the Group did not hold any
significant investment in equity interest in any other company during FY
2023/24.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

As at the date of this annual report, the Group did not enter into any
agreement in respect of any proposed acquisitions and did not have any
future plans relating to material investment or capital assets.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFTHRS

The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY 2023/24.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the business of building
construction, property leasing and property development. Details of
the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are
set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements. There were
no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities
during FY 2023/24.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for FY 2023/24 are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 56 of this annual report.

The Group had distributed the final dividend of 5.0 HK cents per Share,
totalling HK$71.0 million in respect of the year ended 31 March 2023
and the special dividend of 15.0 HK cents per Share, totalling HK$213.0
million on 18 September 2023. The Group had paid the interim dividend
of 4.0 HK cents per Share, totalling HK$56.8 million in respect of the
six months ended 30 September 2023 on 20 December 2023.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2024.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board is not aware of any
Shareholders who have waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

It is the Company’s policy to reward Shareholders in sharing the
Company’s profit whilst retaining adequate capital for business
development. The Board may declare or propose payment of dividends
after taking into account a number of factors, including the results of
operations, financial conditions, working capital, capital requirement and
other factors the Board may deem relevant.

The Company currently, subject to the factors and considerations above,
pays dividends twice a year in the form of interim and final dividend.
Cash dividends will be paid in Hong Kong dollars. Other distributions,
if any, will be paid to Shareholders by any means which the Directors
deem legal, fair and practicable.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

EFEREE

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from 19 August 2024 to 22 August 2024, both
days inclusive, during which period no share transfer will be effected.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, all share transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, on 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 16 August 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and the outlook
of the Group's business are provided in the Chairman’s Statement
section from pages 6 to 9 of this annual report. Description of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group can be found in
the Chairman’s Statement, including the financial risks mentioned in
the Management Discussion and Analysis section and note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements. Particulars of the events that have
occurred since the end of the reporting period are provided in note
36 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the Group's
performance during the year using financial key performance indicators
is provided in the Financial Highlights and Management Discussion and
Analysis sections of this annual report. All the above sections form part
of this report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

EFEHRS A

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business partners
are the keys to the sustainable development of the Group. The Group
is committed to building a close and caring relationships with its
employees and business partners, and improving the quality of services
and products to the customers.

Employees are regarded as the most vital and valuable assets of the
Group. The Group ensures that all staff are reasonably remunerated,
regular seminars on safety for specific types of work and activities and
safety induction training are provided for all employees as well as the
subcontractors’ employees.

The Group stays connected with its customers and has ongoing
communication with them through various channels such as physical
meetings, telephone and electronic mail communication to obtain their
feedback and suggestions.

The Group establishes long-term business relationships with the
subcontractors. Through the past dealings with the subcontractors,
the Group has acquired sufficient appreciation of their expertise and
strengths so that it would enable us to maintain our quality standards.

The Group also pays efforts to build up and maintain good relationships
with various commercial banks as the Group’s businesses are capital
intensive and require on-going funding to maintain continuous growth.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Company endeavours to protect the environment in which it
operates its business. The Group’s construction and data centre leasing
segments has established environmental management systems and was
certified by Certification Asia (HK) Limited to be in compliance with the
requirements of ISO 14001:2015.

During FY 2023/24, there was no material non-compliance in relation
to air pollution, noise control, disposal and emission of construction
wastes. Green office practices are also encouraged in the operation
of the Group's businesses, such as double-sided printing and copying,
setting up recycling bins, sending and presenting corporate documents
or information to the members of the Board in electronic format, and
reducing energy consumption by switching off idle lighting and electrical
appliances.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

EFTHRS E

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of the Company
prepared in accordance with Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) has been published on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange at the same time as the
publication of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During FY 2023/24, no material non-compliance of the laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Company was noted. In
addition, a discussion on the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules is
included in the Corporate Governance Report.

DONATIONS
During FY 2023/24, the Group made a charitable donation of HK$20,000.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group is set out on
page 5 of this annual report.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in fixed assets (including investment properties
and property, plant and equipment) during the year are set out in note
15 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK LOANS
Details of bank loans of the Group as at 31 March 2024 are set out in
note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED
The amount of interest capitalised by the Group during the year is set
out in note 8(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE ISSUED AND SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

EFEHRS A

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on page 60 of this annual report and in note 25(b) to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer
and the five largest customers in aggregate was 14.2% and 51.1% of the
Group's total sales for the year respectively.

The percentage of purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier
and the five largest suppliers in aggregate was 13.8% and 39.0% of the
Group’s total purchases for the year respectively.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors, their close
associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
own more than 5% of the Company's total number of issued shares) had
an interest in the five largest suppliers or customers of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association of the Company (the “Articles”) and there is no restriction
against such rights which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Hung Ming (Chairman)

Mr. Lau Chi Wah (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Kwan Wing Wo (Chief Financial Officer)
Ms. Tsang Ka Man

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Tsui Ka Wah

Mr. Kan Yau Wo

Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan

Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny

Pursuant to article 84 of the Company’s article of association, Mr. Chan
Hung Ming, Mr. Kwan Wing Wo and Mr. Tsui Ka Wah will retire from
office by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election as
Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

EFTHRS E

DIRECTORS' AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 31 to 35 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial term of three years and will continue
thereafter unless terminated in accordance with the terms of the service
agreement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years, and such
appointment may be terminated in accordance with the terms of the
letter of appointment.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract that is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF THE INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that
all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, the Company
has in force indemnity provisions as permitted under the relevant
statutes for the benefit of the Directors of the Company. The permitted
indemnity provisions are provided for in the Articles and in the directors’
and officers’ liability insurance maintained for the Group in respect of
potential liability and costs associated with legal proceedings that may
be brought against such Directors.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

EFEHRS A

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which
(@) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange, were as follows:

EERTFETHABRE AR KREEH
EEZ D BRARG N EEENES
KA

A ZETMNF=RA=1+—H BEEZERTFETHA
BRARBERETAEREZE (E&RRE S A
E&BIEXVER) Z D BN R ERET > %
EQRIBEEHERIBERAIEXVIE7RSDE IR
EANGARANBARBRMZzERZ AR (BIER
BESRBERAIZRERDAUERIEES
ZRERIRE) ; )RS S REAEEAIZE352
BIETELABEEZELMAZERRKRE ;
FOIRIE L ABEFETESF R ZNRETH
(ME#EFR))) BRI GA R RBRAZEm Kk
KB W

Number of
underlying Approximate
Name of Group member/ Capacity/Nature of Number of  Shares held percentage of
Name of Director associated corporation  interest Shares held (Note 1) Total shareholding
FAEERRGR
rEBARERE/ 8 RHERA
B WL TE g/ #EtE RERMYE (1) agy Bt
Mr. Chan Hung Ming The Company Interest of a controlled 921,642,940 - 921,642,940 64.89%
corporation (Note 2)
BRALBAEE ARE SEEERER (22)
Chan HM Company Limited ~ Beneficial owner 1 = 1 100%
BmEEA
Mr. Lau Chi Wah The Company Interest of a controlled 106,293,660 - 106,293,660 7.48%
corporation (Note 3)
AEERE YN S EER (23)
Beneficial owner - 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.07%
BGEEA
Mr. Kwan Wing Wo The Company Beneficial owner = 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.07%
BKMESE /NG| ERBEEA
Ms. Tsang Ka Man The Company Beneficial owner 1,586,000 1,000,000 2,586,000 0.18%
BEHL P /N BaGEEA
Mr. Tsui Ka Wah The Company Beneficial owner = 200,000 200,000 0.01%
BRELE /NG| EmEEA
Mr. Kan Yau Wo The Company Beneficial owner - 200,000 200,000 0.01%
BRMEE KR BB
Mr. Lee Chun Yiu Johnny  The Company Beneficial owner = 200,000 200,000 0.01%
ERIETE VNG| EmEAA

20

GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

EFETHRS @

Note:

1. This represented the number of share options granted to Directors by the
Company under the Old Share Option Scheme (as defined hereinbelow).
Details of the share options are disclosed in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” below.

2. Mr. Chan Hung Ming holds 100% of the issued share capital of Chan
HM Company Limited, which owns 921,642,940 Shares out of the total
number of issued shares of the Company. Therefore, Mr. Chan Hung Ming
is deemed to have the same interest in the Company by virtue of SFO.

3. Mr. Lau Chi Wah holds 100% of the issued share capital of Lau CW
Company Limited, which owns 106,293,660 Shares out of the total number
of issued shares of the Company. Therefore, Mr. Lau Chi Wah is deemed to
have the same interest in the Company by virtue of SFO.

All the interests disclosed above represent the long position in the
Shares and underlying Shares.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company has or is deemed to have any interests or short positions in
the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations as at 31 March 2024.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, so far as the Directors were aware, the following
persons/entity (not being the Directors or chief executives of the
Company) had, or were deemed to have interests or short positions
in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations which were required to be notified to the
Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO:

1. EXRRRRBEERESD (ExR T RY
FEENREREHE -BREBINFBEINT
X ER B —HiF o

2. PBRFELBALEAEFRFAChan HM Company LimitedB2
BFITRRAB100%# s > MChan HM Company
LimitedBEBEARARBA B EITRMDLE R
921,642,9408% B 1% o BRI IE > FRFLBASE £ R B8 &5
KEERAIEEANR AR RE R MR

3. BEFEHREFEALau CW Company Limited B 217
B&Z<H9100% M 2 > iLau CW Company Limited i
BARQE) B ETRIDAEE106,293,6608% B 15 ©
Rt BIEE S ERIBE S RAERAIEEAR
PIN/NETEZ SR =1L

LB EmiERO AR BEFE -

PrEXFriRSESIIN R _E_ME=F=+—H"
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ARG 1R B SB336IF RN F EZ B L MAVHE

e
mo KA

Number of
underlying Approximate
Number of Shares held percentage of
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held (Note 1) Total  shareholding
FHEHER
R #E R EREAY
R4 B/ HEE4E HERNEE (1) B Bt
Chan HM Company Limited  Beneficial owner 921,642,940 - 921,642,940 64.89%
BnEAA
Lau CW Company Limited Beneficial owner 106,293,660 = 106,293,660 7.48%
BnEAA
Ms. Cheung Shuk Fong Family (Note 2) 106,293,660 1,000,000 107,293,660 7.55%

RS Lt Kk (:22)
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Note:

1. This represented the number of share options granted to Directors by the
Company under the Old Share Option Scheme (as defined hereinbelow).

2. Ms. Cheung Shuk Fong, the spouse of Mr. Lau Chi Wah, is deemed to be
interested in Mr. Lau’s interest in our Company by virtue of the SFO.

All the interests disclosed above represent the long position in the
Shares and underlying Shares.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any
other relevant interests or short positions in the total number of issued
shares of the Company as at 31 March 2024 which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Interests and Short
Positions of Directors and Chief Executives in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures of the Company and its Associated Corporations”,
“Share Option Scheme” and “Share Award Plan” in this report, at no time
during FY 2023/24 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any
holding company or any subsidiary of the Company’s holding company,
a party to any arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any
of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any right
to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any
other body corporate or had exercised any such right.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
Save for their respective interests in the Group, none of the Directors
was interested in any business which competes or is likely to compete
with the businesses of the Group for FY 2023/24.

EXEMPTED CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During FY 2023/24, Chan HM Company Limited (the Company's ultimate
holding company and controlling shareholder) advanced a loan of
HK$36.8 million to the Company. The loan is unsecured, bear interest at
the rate of HSBC's Hong Kong dollar best lending rate per annum, and
repayable in December 2026.
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As Chan HM Company Limited is the controlling shareholder of the
Company holding 64.89% equity interest in the Company, the loan
transaction constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As the loan was on normal commercial
terms or better and was not secured by the assets of the Group, such
loan transaction is fully exempted from the reporting, announcement,
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule
14A.90 of the Listing Rules.

A summary of material related party transactions made during FY
2023/24 is disclosed in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
Save as disclosed above, these related party transactions do not
constitute a connected transaction or continuing connected transaction
as defined under the Listing Rules. In relation to those related party
transactions which constitute connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction as defined under the Listing Rules, the Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
Save as disclosed in this annual report, no Director or any entity
connected with a Director had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
the business of the Group to which the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or any of its fellow subsidiaries was a party
during the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'S INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

None of the Company or any of its subsidiaries had entered into any
contract of significance or contract of significance for provision of
services with the Company’s controlling shareholder (“Controlling
Shareholder”) or its subsidiaries during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION
Details of the Directors’ remuneration during the year are set out in note
11 to the consolidated financial statements.

A Chan HM Company Limited27s/A 5] 1A%
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

The Controlling Shareholders had confirmed to the Company of each
of their compliance with the non-competition undertakings provided
to the Company under the Deed of Non-Competition (as defined in
the prospectus of the Company dated 30 July 2013). The independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the status of compliance and
confirmed that all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition
have been complied with by the Controlling Shareholders.

PENSION SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) for all its qualifying employees in Hong Kong. Under the
rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the scheme at rates specified in the
rules, and contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in trustee-
administered funds independently. There are no forfeited contributions
for the MPF Scheme as the Group's employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in the PRC
are required to participate in a central pension scheme (the “PRC
Pension Scheme”) operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the PRC Pension Scheme. The contributions are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the PRC Pension Scheme. Under the PRC Pension Scheme, no forfeited
contributions will be used by the employers to reduce the existing level
of contributions.

During FY 2023/24, the aggregate amounts of employer’s contributions
made by the Group were approximately HK$2.4 million.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Old Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 23 July 2013 (the
“Old Share Option Scheme”) and was valid and effective for a
period of 10 years from 23 July 2013. The Old Share Option Scheme
has expired on 23 July 2023. Upon its expiry, no further options were
granted but the options granted before expiration shall continue to be
valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms of the Old Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant subject to the
provisions of early termination thereof. The rules of the Old Share Option
Scheme do not restrictively specify the vesting period of options granted
thereunder.
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Details of the Old Share Option Scheme are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements, the 2022/23 Annual Report and the
clarification and supplemental announcement in relation to 2022/23
Annual Report dated 2 November 2023.

Details of movement of the share options granted under the Old Share

EREBRESINFBHNGESMBRERM
5£33°2022/23F A BB/ T _=F+—8
T BAER2022/23F HBVE BRI A

RBE BRS8N B R B 2023/24F E

Option Scheme during FY 2023/24 are set out below: NEEFFEHINUWT -
Outstanding Outstanding
asat Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled asat
Name and/or Exercise 1 April during the during the during the during the 31 March
category Date of grant Exercise period price 2023 year year year year 2024
RZEZ=fF RIEZME
- \ - mA—H - . =B=+—-H
REAGRHER RHAH 7168 oot W R ITE FRRE FERTE FEREH FRFEH HRITE
Executive Directors
HiTE
Lau ChiWah 15/12/2022 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 2 HK$3.95 1,000,000 = = = S 1,000,000
5= 39587
Kwan Wing Wo 15/12/2022 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 2 HK$3.95 1,000,000 = = = S 1,000,000
B 39587
Tsang Ka Man 15/12/2022 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 2 HK$3.95 1,000,000 = = = S 1,000,000
1 39587
Independent
Non-Executive
Directors
BUFRTES
Tsui Ka Wah 15/12/2022 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 2 HK$3.95 200,000 - - - - 200,000
HRRE 39587
Kan Yau Wo 15/12/2022 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 2 HK$3.95 200,000 - - - - 200,000
ERA 39587
Lee Chun Yiu Johnny 15/12/2022 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 2 HK$3.95 200,000 - - - - 200,000
FRIE 3958 TT
Sub-total for Directors 3,600,000 - - - - 3,600,000
BEat
Management personnel and ~ 15/12/2022 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 ? HK$3.95 5,030,000 = (410,000)" (640,000) = 3,980,000
core employees of the 3958 7T
Group*
FEEEEABRZOEE 11/1/2023 11/1/2024-10/1/2033 * HK$6.04 8,000,000 = = (300,000) = 7,700,000
6,04 7T
Sub-total for other
employees 13,030,000 = (410,000) (940,000) o 11,680,000
Hith8 T/hst
Total 16,630,000 - (410,000) (940,000) - 15,280,000
By

L The weighted average closing price of the share immediately before the
dates of exercise of the share options by the Group’s employees was
HK$5.45

2 Such share options granted have no vesting conditions

g Such share options granted were vested to grantees on 11 January 2024

g Excluding Directors, chief executives or substantial Shareholders or any of
their respective associates

1
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The number of options available for grant under the Old Share Option
Scheme as at 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 is 22,800,000 and Nil,
respectively.

As at 31 March 2024, the total number of Shares which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding share options granted under
the Old Share Option Scheme was 15,280,000 Shares, representing
approximately 1.1% of the issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) as
at that date.

The New Share Option Scheme

On 19 June 2023, in view of the expiration of the Old Share Option
Scheme, the Board proposed to adopt a new share option scheme (the
“New Share Option Scheme”) so that the Company can continue
to provide incentives or rewards to the Group's eligible participants
for their contribution to the Group and to attract, retain and motivate
high-calibre eligible participants for the benefit of the Group. Eligible
participants of the New Share Option Scheme include any employees,
executives or officers of the Group and any directors (including non-
executive and independent non-executive directors) of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries.

The New Share Option Scheme was adopted by an ordinary resolution
passed by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 4
August 2023. The New Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for
a period of 10 years commencing on 4 August 2023 (the “Adoption
Date”).

The vesting period in respect of any share options granted to any
participant shall be determined by the Board at its discretion subject
to a minimum period of not less than 12 months. However, the Board
or the remuneration committee of the Company (“Remuneration
Committee”) have the discretion in allowing a shorter vesting period in
certain circumstances as set out in the New Share Option Scheme.

The maximum number of Shares in respect of all share options to be
granted under the New Share Option Scheme and all share options
and share awards to be granted under any other schemes of the
Company were 142,012,234 Shares, representing 10% and 9.99% of
the issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) on the Adoption Date
and the date of this report, respectively. The limit may be refreshed by
obtaining Shareholders” approval at a general meeting from time to time
after three years from the Adoption Date or the date of Shareholders’
approval for the last refreshment (or any refreshment within any three
(3)-year period be approved by Shareholders with the Controlling
Shareholders and their associates abstained from voting in favour of the
relevant resolution at the general meeting), provided that the new limit
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued Shares as at the date of
the relevant shareholders” approval in general meeting.
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The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to any eligible participants or grantee (including
both exercised and outstanding options) under the New Share Option
Scheme in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued
Shares at the date of grant of the option, unless separately approved
by Shareholders in general meeting with such eligible participant and
his/her close associates (or associates if the eligible participant is a
connected person) abstaining from voting.

Details of the New Share Option Scheme are set out in the circular of
the Company dated 6 July 2023 and note 33 to the consolidated financial
Statements.

Since the adoption of the New Share Option Scheme and as at the date
of this report, no share options have been granted by the Company
under the New Share Option Scheme.

As at the Adoption Date and 31 March 2024, the number of options and
awards available for grant under the New Share Option Scheme and
other share schemes of the Company is 142,012,234.

As at 31 March 2024, the total number of shares available for issue
under all share schemes of the Company is 157,292,234 Shares,
representing approximately 11.1% of the issued Shares as at that date.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options and
awards granted under all share schemes of the Company during FY
2023/24 divided by the weighted average number of issued Shares
(excluding treasury shares) for the year is 0%, as no option or award was
granted under all share schemes of the Company during that year.

SHARE AWARD PLAN

The Old Share Award Plan

The Company adopted a share award plan on 23 July 2013 (the “Old
Share Award Plan”) and was valid and effective for a period of 10
years from 23 July 2013. The Old Share Award Plan has expired on 23
July 2023.

Details of the Old Share Award Plan are set out in the 2022/23 Annual
Report and the clarification and supplemental announcement in relation
to 2022/23 Annual Report dated 2 November 2023.

The number of awards available for grant under the Old Share Award
Plan as at 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 is 141,954,234 and Nil,
respectively.

No shares had been awarded by the Company under the Old Share
Award Plan since the date of its adoption and up to the date of its
expiration.
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The New Share Award Plan

On 19 June 2023, in view of the expiration of the Old Share Award Plan,
the Board proposed to adopt a new share award plan (the “New Share
Award Plan”) so that the Company can continue to provide incentives
or rewards to the Group's eligible participants for their contribution to
the Group and to attract suitable personnel for the further development
of the Group. Eligible participants of the New Share Award Plan include
any employees, executives or officers of the Group and any directors
(including non-executive and independent non-executive directors) of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

The New Share Award Plan was adopted by an ordinary resolution
passed by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 4
August 2023. The New Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on the Adoption Date.

The vesting period in respect of any share awards granted to any
participant shall be determined by the Board at its discretion subject
to a minimum period of not less than 12 months. However, the Board
or Remuneration Committee has the discretion in allowing a shorter
vesting period in certain circumstances as set out in the New Share
Award Plan.

The maximum number of Shares in respect of all share awards to be
granted under the New Share Award Plan and all share options and
share awards to be granted under any other schemes of the Company
were 142,012,234 Shares, representing 10% and 9.99% of the issued
Shares (excluding treasury shares) on the Adoption Date and the date
of this report, respectively. The limit may be refreshed by obtaining
Shareholders’ approval at a general meeting from time to time after
three years from the Adoption Date or the date of Shareholders’
approval for the last refreshment (or any refreshment within any three
(3)-year period be approved by Shareholders with the Controlling
Shareholders and their associates abstained from voting in favour of the
relevant resolution at the general meeting), provided that the new limit
must not be in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued Shares as at the
date of the relevant shareholders’ approval in general meeting.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon share awards
being granted to any eligible participants or grantee under the New
Share Award Plan in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
issued Shares at the date of grant of the award, unless separately
approved by Shareholders in general meeting with such eligible
participant and his/her close associates (or associates if the eligible
participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting.

The New Share Award Plan is subject to the administration of the Board.

The Board may engage trustee in the process of granting, administrating
and/or vesting any awards.

28

w1 SR 51 8

RIBEZ=ZFXA+TIA ERERDERE
JE i BEEEEEBRWTRMN LRSS (TR
BZEEtEL) WEARBENEED S EEEF
HERZ G ER2HER MBI RR LUIKRR
SIGBBATMALE—DHEFSRERBERE M
RNDERSABNCERSREQELERENTE
AEE - TTHRASHSHREE UREFAEAF
HEMBRARES (BEIFRITRBIUIFATE
F) e

MRROEBSEHRRN - =ZF/\FIAH
BUNRRBFAG EUEBERERBB R
P EERh s8I B HR4 B HRESt AR+ o

ERETEMNSEENEARNEZRBEREDR
AHREFENEEE EREMRAF/IN+Z
B8R -2AM  EFFAFHMEES ST OIRRIMKRMN
BB EMINETERNEEF2RERAR
SN

MO EETREHZMBERGEE
UEAABAEMKGHEETKEHZMA
EREREROEBFAIRZEBROESHES
142,012,234 B 17 » BE AR B2 BUF #48 B
HEARAREHBPEZRTRND FEEEFR
1) Z210%529.99% ° E BABR %8 °J FL #¥% 4% B #A AR
Bt E L —XREFHZHES =ZFR (HEE=Q3)
FERMNENNBEESRER A TR RRE
BMBANBERBAS ENERZERERR
ER) IR ERAQAGNRKRERSG LEERE
HERN S NEH - EMRREARST 2B R SBB A
ERREAE LEHERAMEELEZETRMG
210%°

REA+ZERBER AEAEERSHAER
ERANRBEHIR D EB T8 ER T RO EEM
BT TETZROBE T EBEEERR
HHIABEITRMZ1% FBRIFARRFITERR
ARE Lt BERAGERBEERATEMEA
(HHZEERBEERTATNBAEAL R
HBMEN) 0 ARERE-

MRORBABHEFEERE-EFTANK
EEER/ABREBEAREBEPEEZT
Ao

GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

EFEREE

The Board may from time to time transfer funds to the trustee for the
purposes of the New Share Award Plan. The Board may instruct the
trustee to purchase the number of Shares underlying the award from
the open market (either on-market or off-market) and the trustee shall
hold such shares on trust for the participants until they are vested in
accordance with the rules of the New Share Award Plan.

The Board may grant awards to any participant at nil consideration. The
rules of the New Share Award Plan do not prescribe the amount payable
on application or acceptance of the award and the period within which
payments or calls must or may be made or loans for such purposes
must be repaid. The basis of determining the purchase price of shares
awarded is not applicable as there is no purchase price under the rules
of the New Share Award Plan.

Details of the New Share Award Plan are set out in the circular of the
Company dated 6 July 2023.

Since the adoption of the New Share Award Plan and up to the date of
this report, no shares have been awarded by the Company under the
New Share Award Plan.

As at the Adoption Date and 31 March 2024, the number of awards and
options available for grant under the New Share Award Plan and other
share schemes of the Company is 142,012,234.

As at 31 March 2024, the total number of shares available for issue
under all share schemes of the Company is 157,292,234 Shares,
representing approximately 11.1% of the issued Shares as at that date.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options and
awards granted under all share schemes of the Company during FY
2023/24 divided by the weighted average number of issued Shares
(excluding treasury shares) for the year is 0%, as no option or award was
granted under all share schemes of the Company during that year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during FY 2023/24.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all
the code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
("CG code") as contained in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules throughout the FY 2023/24. Details are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 36 to 49.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION
The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed minimum public
float under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for FY 2023/24 have been audited
by BDO Limited. A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO Limited as
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Hung Ming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 June 2024
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Details of the biographies of Directors and senior management up to the
date of this annual report are set out below:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS/SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Hung Ming, aged 70, is our chairman and executive Director.
He is also our Controlling Shareholder and a director of all subsidiaries
of our Group. Mr. Chan is a co-founder of our Group and has participated
in the management of our Group since 1995. He is primarily responsible
for formulating the overall strategic development and direction of the
business development of our Group. He has accumulated over 50 years'
experience in construction and property development field and 16
years' experience in data centre leasing business.

Mr. Chan holds a Higher Certificate in Building Technology from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University).

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Chan is interested in 921,642,940
Shares, representing 64.89% of the number of the issued shares of the
Company. Save as aforementioned, Mr. Chan has no other interests in
the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Lau Chi Wah, aged 59, is our executive Director and chief
executive officer. He is also a director of all subsidiaries of our Group.
Mr. Lau is a co-founder of our Group and has participated in the
management of our Group since 1995. He is primarily responsible for
formulating the overall strategic planning of our Group and overseeing
the business development, administrative and compliance matters
of our Group. He had over 35 years of audit, accounting and finance
experience.

Mr. Lau holds an Honour Diploma in Accountancy from the Lingnan
College (now known as the Lingnan University) and Master's Degree
in Professional Accounting from Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He
is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA").

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Lau is interested in 106,293,660
Shares, representing 7.48% of the number of the issued shares of the
Company, He also holds options entitling him to subscribe for 1,000,000
Shares. Save as aforementioned, Mr. Lau has no other interests in the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr. Kwan Wing Wo, aged 56, iS our executive Director and chief
financial officer. He also holds directorship in certain subsidiaries of our
Group. Mr. Kwan joined the Group in 2008 and has participated in the
management of the Group since then.

Mr. Kwan is responsible for the corporate finance, accounting, taxation,
investment and administrative matters of our Group. He has over
33 years’ experience in auditing, accounting and finance field. Prior
to joining our Group, Mr. Kwan held a management position in a listed
company in Hong Kong for 12 years and was mainly responsible for
its finance, financial reporting obligations, accounting, taxation and
administrative matters.

Mr. Kwan holds a Bachelor's degree in Accountancy from the City
University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants of United Kingdom and a member of the HKICPA.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Kwan holds options entitling him
to subscribe for 1,000,000 Shares. Save as aforementioned, Mr. Kwan
has no other interests in the Company within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO.

MS. TSANG KA MAN, aged 33, was appointed as an executive Director
with effect from 15 December 2022. Ms. Tsang joined the Group in
2016 and is currently responsible for developing the Group's property
development business in Hong Kong. She has over 7 years of experience
in the management of construction projects.

Ms. Tsang holds a Master of Science in Construction and Real Estate
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a Bachelor of Science
with Second Class Honours in Construction Management from the
University of Wolverhampton, United Kingdom.

As at the date of this annual report, Ms. Tsang is interested in 1,586,000
Shares, representing approximately 0.11% of the issued Shares. She also
holds options entitling her to subscribe for 1,000,000 Shares. Save as
aforementioned, Ms. Tsang has no other interests in the Company within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tsui Ka Wah, aged 71, is our independent non-executive Director
since 23 July 2013. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the audit committee (“Audit
Committee”) and the nomination committee (“Nomination
Committee”) of the Company.

Mr. Tsui has 36 years of banking experience with United States and local
banks, and has held various management positions in corporate, retail
and private banking. Currently he holds the position of chief executive
officer of SME Credit Company Limited. He is also an independent
non-executive director of Oriental Explorer Holdings Limited (stock
code: 430), Multifield International Holdings Limited (stock code: 898)
and Southeast Asia Properties & Finance Limited (stock code: 252)
respectively, whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Tsui holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree and a Master's Degree of
Business Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Tsui holds options entitling him
to subscribe for 200,000 Shares. Save as aforementioned, Mr. Tsui has no
other interests in the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Kan Yau Wo, aged 71, is our independent non-executive
Director since 23 July 2013. He is also the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Mr. Kan has been working with Fujitsu’s group of companies for over 30
years and was appointed as the president in Fujitsu Hong Kong Ltd. in
2007 and then the chief executive officer of Fujitsu’s South China and
Hong Kong Region. Mr. Kan retired from his position in Fujitsu’s group of
companies in 2011.

Mr. Kan graduated from University of Hull in United Kingdom with
Bachelor of Science (First Class Honour) in Computer Studies and
Mathematics.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Kan holds options entitling him
to subscribe for 200,000 Shares. Save as aforementioned, Mr. Kan has no
other interests in the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan, aged 63, is our independent non-executive
Director since 1 January 2023. He is also the chairman of the Audit
Ccommittee, and a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Ho has over 30 years of experience in providing statutory audit,
group reporting, due diligence review and regulatory advisory
services for various clients with shares listed in Hong Kong and
businesses in manufacturing, retail, and property development in
Hong Kong and the Mainland China. He worked for Price Waterhouse
(now PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong) from 1985 to 1989. He
then worked for Hamiltons in Sydney, Australia, a firm specialised
in insolvency practice, from 1989 to 1992 with his last position as
manager. From 1993 to 1995, Mr. Ho rejoined PricewaterhouseCoopers
Hong Kong and worked as an audit manager. He then joined
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP, Guangzhou Branch and acted
as a manager and then senior manager from 1995 to 2002, and was
admitted as partner from 2002 to 2021. Mr. Ho retired from partnership
of the firm in June 2021.

Mr. Ho obtained a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of New
South Wales in 1984. He is a member of the HKICPA since 1993, a
member of the Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand
(previously the Institute of Chartered Accountant Australia) since 1991.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Ho did not have any interests in
the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny, aged 80, is our independent
non-executive Director since 23 July 2013. He is also a member of each
of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company.

With over 29 years’ experience in the field of architecture, Mr. Lee
worked in several architect firms including as a director from 1995 to
2009. From 2009, Mr. Lee has been working for an architecture company
as a project director.

Mr. Lee graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor's
Degree in Architecture. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Architects and a registered architect with Architects Registration Board
in Hong Kong. Mr. Lee is also an authorised person within the List of
Architects maintained by the Buildings Department.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Lee holds options entitling him

to subscribe for 200,000 Shares. Save as aforementioned, Mr. Lee has no
other interests in the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFOQ.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Wai Chuen, aged 58, is the company secretary of the
Company since July 2013. Mr. Leung has over 33 years' experience in
auditing, accounting, financial management and company secretarial
matters. Prior to joining our Group, he worked for and held senior
positions in various listed companies in Hong Kong and was responsible
for their finance, accounting and company secretarial functions.
Currently he is an independent non-executive director of E Lighting
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8222, a company listed on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange). He is also appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Fourace Industries Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1455, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange) on August 2020. Mr. Leung was a non-executive director
of MOS House Group Limited (stock code: 1653, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) from November 2017 to
August 2019.

Mr. Leung is a member of the HKICPA, a fellow of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom and an associate
of the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered
Governance Institute. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Social Sciences
from the University of Hong Kong, a Master's Degree in Business
Administration jointly awarded by the University of Wales and the
University of Manchester and a Master's Degree in Business (Logistics
Management) from the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology (now
known as RMIT University).

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Leung holds options entitling him
to subscribe for 200,000 Shares.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXRELRWS

COMMITMENT TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company acknowledges the importance of good corporate
governance practices and procedures, and regards a pre-eminent
board of directors, sound internal controls and accountability to
all Shareholders as the core elements of its corporate governance
principles. The Company endeavours to ensure that its businesses are
conducted in accordance with rules and regulations, and applicable
codes and standards.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all the
code provisions as set out in the CG Code as contained in Part 2 of
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules throughout FY 2023/24.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1. Responsibilities of the Board
The Board is primarily responsible for management of the Group,
including the responsibilities of formulating business strategies,
directing and monitoring the Group's development. Apart from its
statutory responsibilities, the Board is also required to approve
the Group's strategic development plan and major investments;
review the Group's financial performance; identify principal risks
of the Group's business and ensure adequate systems of risk
management and internal control. The Board also delegates
certain responsibilities to various board committees which have
been established by the Board to deal with different aspects of the
Company'’s affairs.

The day-to-day operations and administration are delegated to the
management of the Group under the leadership of the executive
Directors.

2. Board Composition
The Board currently comprises eight members, as detailed below:

Independent
Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Tsui Ka Wah

Mr. Kan Yau Wo

Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan

Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Hung Ming (Chairman)

Mr. Lau Chi Wah (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Kwan Wing Wo (Chief Financial Officer)
Ms. Tsang Ka Man

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 31 to
35 of this annual report. There is no financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship among members of the Board.
A list of Directors and their roles and functions has been published
on the Company’s website.
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The Board has adopted a board diversity policy with the aim
of achieving diversity on the Board. The Company recognises
the benefits of having a diverse Board, and sees diversity of
perspectives at the Board level as essential in achieving a
sustainable and balanced development. In designing the Board's
composition, board diversity has been considered from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge, industry
experience and expertise. All Board appointments are based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against a variety
of criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

When identifying suitable candidates for directorship, the
Nomination Committee will carry out the selection process by
making reference to the skills, experience, education background,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments
of the proposed candidates, and also the Company’s needs and
other relevant statutory requirements and regulations required for
the positions. All candidates must be able to meet the standards
as set forth in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing Rules. A candidate
who is to be appointed as an independent non-executive Director
should also meet the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. Qualified candidates will then be recommended
to the Board for approval.

The Board comprises Directors with diverse backgrounds and/or
extensive expertise in corporate management, with over 50% of
the Directors possessing professional qualifications.

Currently, the Board has one female Director out of eight Directors.
The Board will strive to improving gender diversity as and
when suitable candidates are identified. The Group advocates a
diversified and inclusive workplace, and adheres to the concept of
gender equality, and guarantees equal employment opportunities
for female employees. As at 31 March 2024, 74% of the Group's
employees (including Directors and senior management) were
male and 26% were female. The Company considers that gender
diversity in respect of the Board and the Group’'s workforce has
been achieved.
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All the independent non-executive Directors are appointed
for a specific term of three years and are required to retire by
rotation and eligible for re-election at the Company's annual
general meeting. The Company has received, from each of the
independent non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of
his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all independent non-executive Directors
are independent.

The Company has complied with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules
and met the requirement of Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules of at
least one-third of the members of the Board being independent
non-executive Directors. In addition, Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan, one of
the independent non-executive Directors, has the appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.

Mechanism ensuring sufficient independent views to
the Board

The Board recognises Board independence is critical to good
corporate governance. The Company has put in place the
mechanisms to ensure a strong independence element on the
Board, which are summarised below:

Board composition

The Board endeavours to ensure the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors and at least one-third of the
Board members being independent non-executive Directors (or
such higher threshold as may be required by the Listing Rules from
time to time)

Independence Assessment

The Nomination Committee shall strictly adhere to the nomination
policy and the independence assessment criteria as set out in the
Listing Rules with regard to the nomination and appointment of
independent non-executive Directors.

Each independent non-executive Director is also required to
inform the Company as soon as practicable if there is any change
in his own personal particulars that may materially affect his
independence.

The Nomination Committee is mandated to assess annually the
independence of all independent non-executive Directors by
reference to the independence criteria as set out in the Listing
Rules to ensure that they can continually exercise independent
judgement.
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Decision Making

All Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are
entitled to seek further information and documentation from the
management on the matters to be discussed at board meetings.
They can also seek assistance from the Company’s company
secretary and, where necessary, independent advice from external
professional advisers at the Company’s expense.

All Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) shall
not vote or be counted in the quorum on any board resolution
approving any contract or arrangement in which such Director or
any of his close associates has a material interest.

The Board had made an annual review on the implementation
of the abovementioned mechanisms and was of the view
that the abovementioned mechanisms had been satisfactorily
implemented.

Board and Board Committee Meetings
The Board's attendance in the general meetings, board meetings
and board committee meetings during FY 2023/24 are as follows:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
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Meetings Attended/Held

BERUERY B
Annual
Audit Remuneration  Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
E58 BREZEg HNZESg RLEEE RREFEAE
Executive Directors WITES
Mr. Chan Hung Ming BRFLEAL & 6/6 - - - Al
Mr. Lau Chi Wah BEERE 6/6 - - - 11
Mr. Kwan Wing Wo REK M4 6/6 - - - Al
Ms. Tsang Ka Man BEHLL 6/6 - - - 11
Independent Non-Executive B EHITES
Directors
Mr. Tsui Ka Wah BRERE 6/6 212 2/2 1”1 171
Mr. Kan Yau Wo EMLE 6/6 2/2 2/2 11 11
Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan AIBREE 6/6 212 2/2 1”1 171
Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny FRIBRE 6/6 22 2/2 Al Al
conflict of Interest 5. FmEE
If a Director has a potential conflict of interest in a matter being MEEEREEFT B TFTERNEETR
considered in the board meeting, he will abstain from voting. FREBENRER HABERERR B
Independent non-executive Directors with no conflict of interest mERNBEIUIFRTEEREFERRERE
will be present at meetings dealing with such conflict of interest BRF @ EHENEIE

issues.
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6. Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance
The Company has appropriate and sufficient insurance coverage
relating to directors’ and officers’ liability to indemnify the
Directors and senior management against any potential liabilities
arising from the Company’s business activities for which such
Directors and senior management may be held liable.

7. Directors’ Time Commitments and Trainings

The Company has received confirmation from each Director that
he had sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company
for the year. The Directors have disclosed to the Company the
number and nature of offices they held in Hong Kong or overseas
listed public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments, with the identity of the public companies and
organisations and an indication of the time involved. They are
reminded to notify the Company in a timely manner of any
changes of such information. All Directors are encouraged to
attend the Board meeting and board committee meeting in
person. For the Directors and committee members who are unable
to attend the meeting, participation through electronic means is
arranged and available.

All Directors, namely, Mr. Chan Hung Ming, Mr. Lau Chi Wah,
Mr. Kwan Wing Wo, Ms. Tsang Ka Man, Mr. Tsui Ka Wah, Mr. Kan
Yau Wo, Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan and Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny,
had participated in continuous professional development with
respect to directors’ duties, relevant programmes and seminars,
in compliance with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code. A record
of the Directors’ participation in such programmes is kept by
the Company. Reading materials on the latest developments or
updates in connection to the Group’s businesses, accounting,
regulatory and corporate governance aspects were provided
to the Directors. They also received monthly financial highlights
provided by the management.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual.

The chairman and the chief executive officer are currently two separate
positions held by Mr. Chan Hung Ming and Mr. Lau Chi Wah respectively
with clear distinction in responsibilities.
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Mr. Chan Hung Ming, being the chairman, is responsible for the
management and leadership of the Board to formulate overall strategies
and business development directions for the Group, to ensure that
adequate, complete and reliable information is provided to all Directors
in a timely manner, and to ensure that the issues raised at the Board
meetings are explained appropriately.

Mr. Lau Chi Wah, being the chief executive officer, is responsible for
the daily operations of the Group and the implementation of business
policies, objectives and plans as formulated and adopted by the Board,
and is accountable to the Board for the overall operation of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties. Given below are the main corporate governance duties of the
Board:

(i)  to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on
corporate governance,

(i) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the
Company;

(i) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group
and the Directors; and

(V)  to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

The Board had reviewed the corporate governance matters of the
Company for FY 2023/24. The Company had complied with the
principles and applicable code provisions of the CG Code.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established three committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Group's affairs and discharging its functions.
Sufficient resources are provided to enable the Board committees to
undertake their specific role.

1.  Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 23 July
2013 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
The Remuneration Committee consists of all four independent
non-executive Directors. The current members are Mr. Tsui Ka Wah
(chairperson), Mr. Kan Yau Wo, Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan and Mr. Lee
Chung Yiu Johnny.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
among others, (i) making recommendation to the Board on
the remuneration policy and structure for Directors and senior
management; (ii) reviewing and approving the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate
goal and objective; (iii) making recommendation to the Board on
the remuneration packages of executive Directors and senior
management and remuneration of non-executive Directors;
and (iv) ensuring none of the Directors determine their own
remuneration.

During FY 2023/24, the Remuneration Committee held two
meetings. The work of the Remuneration Committee included:

(i)  reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the
Directors and senior management;

(i) reviewed and recommended the annual emoluments of the
Directors to the Board for approval;

(i) reviewed and recommended the annual bonus for the
executive Directors to the Board for approval; and

(iv) reviewed and recommended the new share option scheme
and new share award plan to the Board for adoption.

Details of remuneration of Directors are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 23 July 2013
with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The
Audit Committee consists of all four independent non-executive
Directors. The current members are Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan
(chairperson), Mr. Tsui Ka Wah, Mr. Kan Yau Wo and Mr. Lee Chung
Yiu Johnny. Mr. Ho holds the appropriate professional qualifications
as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among others,
() making recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditors; (i) reviewing
the financial statements, risk management and internal control
systems; and (iii) overseeing the financial reporting and the
effectiveness of the internal control procedures.

During FY 2023/24, the Audit Committee held two meetings. The
work of the Audit Committee included:

()  reviewed the audited financial statements and annual results
announcement for the year ended 31 March 2023;

(i) reviewed the unaudited financial statements and interim
results announcement for the six months ended 30
September 2023; and

(i) reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal controls system.

The Group's audited financial statements and annual results
announcement for FY 2023/24 were reviewed by the Audit
Committee on 25 June 2024.

The committee members also met in separate session with the
external auditor without the presence of executive Directors.
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3.  Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 23 July
2013 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
The Nomination Committee consists of all four independent
non-executive Directors. The current members are Mr. Kan Yau Wo
(chairperson), Mr. Tsui Ka Wah, Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan and Mr. Lee
Chung Yiu Johnny.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on regular basis; to
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members;
to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors. In assessing the
suitability of a proposed candidate for directorship, the Board
will take into account the candidate’s qualification (including
professional qualifications, skill and knowledge), experience in
relation to the Group’s businesses and potential contribution that
can bring to the Company.

During FY 2023/24, the Nomination Committee held one meeting.
The work of the Nomination Committee included:

(i) reviewed the size, composition and diversity of the Board;

(i) assessed the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors; and

(i) made recommendation to the Board on the re-election of
Directors at the annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiries to all Directors by the
Company, all Directors confirmed their compliance with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout FY 2023/24.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare
the financial statements that give a true and fair view of the Group's
financial position and of its financial performance and cash flow
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the
applicable disclosures provisions of the Listing Rules. The management
provides information and explanation to the Board to enable it to
make an informed assessment of the financial and other decisions by
the Board. Accordingly, appropriate accounting policies are selected
and applied consistently, and judgements and estimates made by
the management for financial reporting purpose are prudent and
reasonable.

The responsibilities of the external auditor for the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report
on pages 50 to 55 of this annual report.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services provided
by the Company’s external auditor to the Group for FY 2023/24 are
approximately HK$1,425,000 (FY 2022/23: HK$1,384,000) and HK$25,000
(FY 2022/23: HK$25,000) respectively. The non-audit services primarily
include review of the Company’s preliminary result announcement.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has the overall responsibility for maintaining a sound and
effective system of internal controls and risk management within
the Group, and reviewing its operational adequacy and effectiveness
through the Audit Committee.

The Board has identified the top risks of the Group and determined how
much risk the Board is willing to take to achieve the Group's strategic
objectives. The Group’s risk management structure matches with the
“Three Lines of Defense” model. Each business unit assumes risk
management responsibilities as the first line of defense. The middle and
back offices, including finance and accounting, company secretarial
and human resources departments, set up relevant internal control
and management procedures as the second line of defense. They also
perform financial, operational and compliance monitoring as well as risk
management functions. The internal auditor of the Group (the “Internal
Auditor”), as the third line of defense, provides independent and
objective assurance on the overall effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control system.
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Each business unit, as risk owners, identifies, evaluates, and monitors
its own risks, and reports such risk assessment on a monthly basis. The
results of the risk assessments and changes of the risk exposure faced
by the Group will be consolidated and presented to the Board at each
regularly scheduled meeting.

The Internal Auditor conducted reviews on systems of risk management
and internal controls of the Group over financial, operational and
compliance control according to the internal audit plan endorsed by
the Audit Committee. During the process of review, the Internal Auditor
identified internal control deficiencies and weakness, and proposed
recommendations for improvements and remedial actions with
management. The results of internal control review and management’s
remedial actions have also been reported to the Audit Committee at
each regularly scheduled meeting.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal controls system. The
review, which cover all material control areas including financial,
compliance and risk management functions, has been carried out
annually. During the review, the Audit Committee also considered the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting function and their training
programmes and budgets.

The Board, through the review by the Audit Committee, considers
that the Group’s internal control and risk management system for FY
2023/24 is effective and adequate. No significant areas of concern that
may affect the financial, operational, compliance controls, and risk
management functions of the Group have been identified. The systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has adopted and implemented its own disclosure policy
aiming to provide a general guide to Directors and management of the
Company in handling of confidential information and/or monitoring of
information disclosure pursuant to applicable laws and regulations in
compliance with the Listing Rules and SFO.

The disclosure policy provides the procedures and internal controls
for the handling and dissemination of inside information by publication
of the announcement to the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange on a timely basis to enable the public, namely Shareholders,
institutional investors, potential investors and other stakeholders of the
Company to access the latest information of the Group, unless such
information fall within the safe harbours with the SFO.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communications with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The
Company also recognises the importance of transparency and timely
disclosure of corporate information, which will enable Shareholders and
investors to make informed investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company are expected to provide a forum
for communication between the Board and Shareholders. The chairman
of the Board as well as chairmen of the board committees and, in their
absence, other members of the respective committees are available
to answer questions at shareholder meetings. The Company’s external
auditor is also invited to attend the annual general meeting to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and
content of the Independent Auditor’s Report.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.grandming.com.hk, where information and updates on the
Group's business developments and operations, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for
public access.

The Company has established a shareholders’ communication policy
which is posted on the Company’s website and will review it on a regular
basis to ensure its effectiveness. The Company considers that the
shareholders’ communication policy was effectively implemented during
FY 2023/24 with the above measures in place.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

1. Convening Extraordinary General Meetings ("EGM")
The following procedures for Shareholders to convene an EGM of
the Company are prepared in accordance with the Articles:

(i) One or more Shareholders (“Requisitionist(s)”) holding, at
the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of
voting at general meetings, shall have the right, by written
notice, to require an EGM to be called by the directors for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

(i) Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company by post to the
Company’s headquarters in Hong Kong at 22/F, Railway
Plaza, No. 39 Chatham Road South, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong, or by email to info@grandming.com.hk.
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(iii)

(iv)

The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition.

If the Board fails to proceed to convene the EGM within
21 days of such deposit, the Requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
Requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meetings

(i)

Proposal for election of a person other than a Director as a
Director:

A shareholder may propose a person other than a retiring
Director (“Candidate”) for election as a Director at a
general meeting by lodging the following documents at
the headquarters of the Company in Hong Kong or the
Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services limited, on 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong:

(@) a written notice (“Proposal Notice") of the intention
to propose the Candidate for election as a Director,
which must (i) state the information of the Candidate
as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules,
which is available on the Stock Exchange's website
(www.hkex.com.hk) and (ii) must be signed by
Shareholder; and

(b) awritten notice (“Consent Notice") by the Candidate,
which must (i) indicate his/her willingness to be
elected as a Director and consent to the publication
of his/her personal information as required by Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, and (ii) must be signed by
the Candidate.

The Proposal Notice and the Consent Notice shall be lodged
for a period of at least 7 clear days commencing no earlier
than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting and ending no later than 7 clear days before the
date of such general meeting.

(iii)

(iv)
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(i) Other Proposals:

If a Shareholder wishes to make other proposals (the
“Proposal(s)”) at a general meeting, he/she may lodge
a written request, duly signed, at the head office of the
Company in Hong Kong.

The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the Shareholder
concerned at the general meeting varies according to the
nature of the Proposal as follows:

(1) Notice of not less than 21 clear days in writing if
the Proposal requires approval in an annual general
meeting of the Company.

(2)  Notice of not less than 14 clear days in writing if the
Proposal requires approval in an extraordinary general
meeting of the Company.

3. Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to
the Board
Shareholders may send their enquiries in writing with their
detailed contact information to the company secretary of the
Company or the Board either by:

(i)  Post to the Company’'s headquarters in Hong Kong at 22/F,
Railway Plaza, No. 39 Chatham Road South, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong; or

(i) Email to info@grandming.com.hk

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During FY 2023/24, the Company did not amend its constitutional
document.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary supports the chairman, the Board and the board
committees by ensuring good information flow and Board policy and
procedures are followed. The company secretary is an employee of
the Company and is appointed by the Board. The company secretary
reports to the chairman and chief executive officer. All directors may call
upon him for advice and assistance at any time in respect of his duties.
The company secretary has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training. The biographical details of the company secretary
are shown on page 35 of this annual report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B\ EEMER S

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

IBDO

EEE ¢ +852 2218 8288
{HE : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

To the shareholders of Grand Ming Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Grand
Ming Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 56 to 151 which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 3(b) to the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates at the end of the reporting period, the Group had bank
loans amounting to HK$1,657,064,000 that are repayable within twelve
months after the reporting date whilst the Group only had cash and
bank balances amounted to HK$62,562,000 as of the same date. These
conditions, along with other matters set forth in note 3(b), indicate
that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described
in the "Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern” section, we have
determined that matters described below to be the key audit matters to
be communicated in our report.

Valuation of investment properties and investment
properties under development

Investment properties consist of a commercial shop and two high-tier
data centres whilst investment properties under development consist
of two other data centres under construction. As disclosed in note
15 to the consolidated financial statements, the carrying amount of
the Group's investment properties and investment properties under
development at fair value are amounted to HK$5,950,000,000 at 31
March 2024, representing 63% of the Group's total assets.

As disclosed in note 15(a) to the consolidated financial statements, an
independent firm of qualified professional valuer (the “Valuer”) was
engaged to perform the valuation. Discounted cash flow method of the
income approach, market comparison method and residual method
were used to determine the fair value of the investment properties and
investment properties under development, respectively. Details of these
valuation approaches are disclosed in the note 15(a) to the consolidated
financial statement. These methods involve the making of assumptions,
which involve significant judgments, and estimates applied, including
estimated market rental growth rate, occupancy rate, estimate costs of
completion, capitalisation rate as well as discount rate.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Valuation of investment properties and investment
properties under development (continued)

our responses:

Our audit procedures in relation to assessing the appropriateness of
valuation of investment properties and investment properties under
development included:

- Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
Valuer;

- Assessing the appropriateness and consistency of the use of the
valuation methodology with relevant accounting requirements and
industry norms;

- Using auditor’s expert to assist in assessing the valuation
methodology and key assumptions used by the Valuer,

- Evaluating the reasonableness of key assumptions adopted in the
valuation, in particular capitalisation rates, by comparing them
with historical rates and available market data;

- Performing analysis on the reasonableness of the prospective
cash flows input to evaluate the results on the valuation; and

= Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and relevance of the
prospective cash flows input on existing leases by agreeing the
rental income and lease terms to the signed lease agreements.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises information included in the Company's annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
Statements.
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AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

J identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors” use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.
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AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Amy Yau Shuk Yuen
Practising Certificate Number P06095

Hong Kong, 25 June 2024
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CONSOLlDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
n‘7|-\ ?ﬂﬁnﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BECZTFE=A=+—HIFE QBT

2024 2023
—ETMmE —EI=HF
Notes $’000 $°000
=3 FiT FT
Revenue & /@) 532,691 5,004,560
Direct costs BERK (364,126) (3,016,788)
Gross profit EF 168,565 1,987,772
Other income and gain, net HW A R U358 7(d) 6,123 6,303
Selling expenses HEMX (50,387) (275,663)
General and administrative expenses — R RITE RS (72,666) (60,268)
Changes in fair value of REMEZ N TFEED

investment properties 75 384,163 (23,872)
Profit from operations &R 435,798 1,634,272
Finance costs R AR 8@) (122,667) (105,092)
Profit before taxation PRI ATEF 8 313,131 1,529,180
Income tax expenses FTi8MZH %a) (14,681) (253,720)
Profit for the year FERiEH 298,450 1,275,460
HK cents HK cents
Al B

Earnings per share SKREF 14(3)
- Basic B 21.02 89.85
- Diluted —#8 21.00 89.79

Details of the dividends payable to owners of the Company attributable B R EREF BN FTARAATIEE AWK EFEE
to the profit for the year are disclosed in note 13(a) to the consolidated R4S BIF R R E13(@) ©
financial statements.

The notes on pages 63 to 151 form part of these consolidated financial  SF63ZE151BEFFEMEB R ARG S HFFRE—
statements. 7o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

n‘7|-\

m R HM2EEER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BECZTNE=A=+—HIFE CUETIT)

2024 2023
—EmE ot = s
Notes $’000 $°000
g3 F FT
Profit for the year b | 298,450 1,275,460
Other comprehensive income FREMEZEKE
for the year 10
Item that will not be reclassified FEEM S EEEmVEE -
subsequently to profit or 10ss:
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAEMEERE S
other comprehensive income TREE-ATEREDN
- net movement in fair value reserve ey 462 (1,357)
Items that may be reclassified HE R GEE# 7 EE B m Y
subsequently to profit or loss: B
Exchange differences on translation HMEBINEFR
of foreign operations bl 7 A= BE (6,142) (13,765)
Cash flow hedges - net movement REREEF—HPREEN
in hedging reserve FEE 5,986 6,692
,,,,,,,, (16)  (.073)
Other comprehensive income FAHMEEE  HRRIE
for the year, netoftax ... 306 (8,430)
Total comprehensive income FAZEKEREE
for the year 298,756 1,267,030
The notes on pages 63 to 151 form part of these consolidated financial  F63ZE1S1BEFFEMFEB RN ARG S M FFRE—
statements. 7o
tREERRERAT 2025/2458 O/



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

EAMBIRRER

As at 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

R ZE_WFE=A=+—H HETIIT

2024 2023
—EE =
Notes $000 $000
Jiog=3 FiT FiT
Non-current assets ERHEE
Fixed assets EEEE
— Investment properties —REYE 15 5,950,000 4,594,220
— Property, plant and equipment o E N A ISE 15 816,284 837,043
6,766,284 5,431,263
Deferred tax assets IR TEE B 9c) 81,013 71,306
Intangible assets BT EE 500 500
Derivative financial instruments TESMITA 22 12,103 5,857
Financial assets at fair value through BAFESARMEEWEG L
other comprehensive income ETHMEE 10,127 9,665
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABRCTHEE
profit or l0ss 10,476 9,591
6,880,503 . 5,528,182
Current assets RBEE
Inventories of properties MEFES 16 1,773,757 1,727,828
Contract assets BHEE 17(a) - 46,317
Trade and other receivables JE U BR R e ELAh P U Rk T8 18 161,196 233,051
Derivative financial instruments TESMTA 22 923 -
Current tax assets FEWRIRIBE = 2,445 3,063
Restricted and pledged deposits Z R R EEFTER 79 504,859 386,367
Cash and bank balances IRE MIRTTHEER 79 62,562 225,434
2,505,742 . 2,622,060
Current liabilities REAaE
Trade and other payables FE 1T BR R0 R ELAth FE {3 7R 1B 20 167,223 197,905
Contract liabilities 586 17(b) 24,937 1,005
Bank loans RITEW 21 1,657,064 770,948
Current tax liabilities ERNRIEEE 274,648 265,821
_ 2123872 1,235,679
Net current assets nEEEE 381,870 1,386,381
Total assets less current liabilities HMEERTHERE 7,262,373 6,914,563
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)
SAEMBRRR @)

As at 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
NZEZNE=A=+—H UHEI™

2024 2023
—E_ME B4
Notes $°000 $000
Hiat FT T
Non-current liabilities ERHER
Bank loans RITER 21 4,183,866 3,859,106
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIBE(E 9c) 88,701 73,624
Loan from ultimate holding company RERKIERABZER 23 36,800 -
4309367 . 3,932,730
NET ASSETS BEEEFE 2,953,006 2,981,833
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B 2s R et 4
Share capital (&N 24 14,202 14,198
Reserves (=36 2,938,804 2,967,635
TOTAL EQUITY mRERs 2,953,006 2,981,833
On behalf of the Board RREEE
Chan Hung Ming Lau Chi Wah
FRFLEA FEE
Director Director
EZF EF

The notes on pages 63 to 151 form part of these consolidated financial ~ F63FE151EFFH M B R A & 75k & —2F
Statements. 7o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
MAEEEER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BECZTFE=A=+—HIFE QBT
Share Fair
Share Share option value Hedging Exchange Retained Total
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve profits equity
B ROEE BRERE ATERE H0RE SMERE  REEN LY 3
$000 $000 $o0o $000 $000 $o0o $o0o $000
At 1 April 2022 RZZZZEMA—H o 7147,1?67 = ?LS§1 777777 o/ 7(27,518)7 i 7(17,891)7 o 747,9227 - 27,07197,2997 7%1257,5@7
Profit for the year FREF - - - - - - 1275460 1,275,460
Other comprehensive income HEt2EhE 100) = = - (1,357) 6,692 (13,765) - (8,430)
Total comprenensive income for the year  FRZEM@SE 0 i - - 037 6692 (13765 1275460 1,267,080
Dividends approved in respect EEZLFERE
of the previous year 13(0) - - - - - - (56,782) (56,782)
Dividends approved in respect BREZAEERE
of the current year - - - - - - (369,081)  (369,081)
Share-based payment expenses MRBFAZ M Z2HZ - - 14,050 - - - - 14,050
Shares issued upon exercise of TEERERETNRN
share options 2 1,392 327 - - - - 1,067
At 31 March 2023 and RZIZZ=£=A=+-Ak
1 April 2023 ZEZ=FMA-H 14,198 92,933 13,723 (3,875) 4,891 (8,843) 2,868,806 2,981,833
Profit for the year FERiaF - - - - - - 298450 298,450
Other comprehensive income Hit2EhE 100) - - - 462 5,986 (6,142) - 306
Total comprehensive income for the year  £RZEM@BE 00 > = - 462 5986  (6,142) 298,450 298,756
Dividends approved in respect Btz LEERE
of the previous year 13) - - - - - - (284,024) (284,024)
Dividends approved in respect EREZEEERE
of the current year 13(@) - - - - - - (56,809) (56,809)
Transfer on lapse of share options S ER G - - (1,334) - - - 1,334 -
Share-based payment expenses M AZ M zEx - - 11,631 - - - - 11,631
Shares issued uipon exercise of EBRERBTNRN
share options 4 2,112 (497) - - = = 1,619
At 31 March 2024 K-F-ME=A=+-A 14,202 95045 23523  (3413) 10,877  (14,985) 2,827,757 2,953,006

The notes on pages 63 to 151 form part of these consolidated financial

Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

nv N Eﬁﬁllllgi

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_TNE=-RB=+—HILFE CUBTH)

™

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=
Notes $’000 $°000
Jibrza FiT T
Operating activities EEES
Profit before taxation FRIR AT &R 313,131 1,529,180
Adjustments for: AT RIEEHAE
- Interest income —F BUA 7(d) (9,919) (12,576)
- Dividend income from unlisted —FLTREEETHNREWA
fund investments 7(a) (722) (722)
- Net foreign exchange loss —IMERIFEEIE 7(d) 9,256 1,884
- Changes in fair value of financial assets —RAFEFAEZZ EMEE
at fair value through profit or loss ZRFEET 7(d) (707) (483)
- Gain on disposal of property, —HEME- -BRE MBI
plant and equipment 7(a) (3) -
— Loss on written-off of property, —MEE Y2 ~ B R s 1
plant and equipment 2 K518 7(d) = 445
- Finance costs — B 8@ 122,667 105,092
- Depreciation —iTE 8(c) 21,913 40,343
— Write-down of inventories of properties —#)%=Z5& 2 iR 8(c) 20,296 52,358
- Impairment loss (reversal)/recognised — EWER RN AV E
on trade receivables (B4 #518 8(c) (655) 318
- Changes in fair value of investment —RKEYMENTFEED
properties 15 (384,163) 23,872
- Share-based payment expenses —UERMBEAZN X 8ib) 11,631 14,050
Operating profit before working EEESEHIN
capital changes EERN 102,725 1,753,761
Changes in working capital: SEETEE
- Decrease in inventories of properties — B MEEFES 35,642 2,395,568
- Decrease in contract assets — B LDENEE 46,317 213,486
- Decrease in trade and other receivables —ig/>FEUSER U
HihE W R 72,400 13,631
— (Increase)/decrease in restricted deposits — (1) /L ZREIFER (10,993) 31,663
- Decrease in trade and other payables — D E(TER R R LAt I R 1B (30,571) (65,415)
- Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities —1&/0, G&i/b) &4 &E 23,932 (3,311,481)
cash generated from operations EEEENRSE 239,452 1,031,213
Income tax paid BEIFR1ER (1,049) (6,154)
Net cash generated from operating EEENEEN
activities HEHEE 238,403 1,025,059
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CONSOLlDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (Continued)
n‘7r\ EEEI"[E% Clglg

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BECZTFE=A=+—HIFE QBT

2024 2023
—EME ZET=F
Notes $’000 $°000
=3 FiT FT
Investing activities KEEH
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEE¥) % iRE K& H (1,267) (61,063)
Proceeds from disposal of HEME -BERLEZ
property, plant and equipment FTigsIa 3 -
Expenditure on investment properties NEMERST (840,764) (141,192)
Interest received BUHE 9,640 12,304
Dividends received from BWIELETREETHRE
unlisted fund investments 722 722
(Placement)/release of pledged deposits  (F&) RENEIKIRFER (117,245) 165,713
Net cash used in investing activities  IREEHFABEZIREFEE - (948911)  (23516)
Financing activities FLEEEN
Proceeds from bank loans fﬁﬁiéf#kﬁﬂ%?ﬂé 32 2,162,403 1,606,238
Proceeds from loan from ultimate REFRBRERRT
holding company BRmigmia 32 36,800 -
Repayments of bank loans BIEIRITER 32 (951,527) (1,883,121)
Interest on bank loans and IRITEM R EMERT R
other borrowings 32 (359,999) (182,700)
Exercise of share options 1TIRRE RS 1,619 1,067
Dividends paid BENKRE 32 (340,842) (425,853)
Net cash generated from/(used in) MEEEBELE FrA) Z
financing activities Re®sE 548,454  (884,3¢9)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and HERRELEEY (BL)
cash equivalents EINFEE (162,054) 117,174
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes $MMSEXREHHIRE K
on cash and cash equivalents HEEEYHNEE (818) (4,830)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FUNRERREEEY
beginning of the year 225,434 113,090
cash and cash equivalents at FRNRERREEEY
the end of the year 79 62,562 225,434

The notes on pages 63 to 151 form part of these consolidated financial ~ SF63ZE151BEFFEMEB R ARG SHFFRE—
statements. 7o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R M IRR MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIFEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Grand Ming Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the business of building construction, property leasing
and property development. The Company was incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands as an exempted company with limited liability
on 14 August 2012 under the Companies Law, Cap.22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since
9 August 2013.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 27.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@) New standards, interpretations and amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard
("HKFRS") - effective on 1 April 2023
In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
which are effective for the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the annual period beginning on or after 1
April 2023:

HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts

o Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies, changes
in accounting estimates and errors. Definition of
accounting estimates

. Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
Statements and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Making
materiality judgements. Disclosure of accounting
policies

. Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes. Deferred tax
related to assets and liabilities arising from a single
transaction

o Amendments to HKAS 12, income taxes: International
tax reform — Pillar Two model rules (effective
immediately upon the issue of the amendments and
retrospectively)

—RRE#
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ERET-

AAB 2 M ERREBE R EIR
RERH AN ER FIRE

ERBDR/EKEZERRT -HXEZMB LT
By E ZEFEAOMIEE27 0

& R
@ HERRIERAETE BN
SRR —j % = £

CREN
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B R G iaM 2 5] REMEST BB
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4= A
mR =

MR RIME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFERIEERRIN » LUBTTHIT)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.

64

(@)

New standards, interpretations and amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard
("HKFRS") — effective on 1 April 2023 (continued)
Except as disclosed below, none of these new or
amendments to HKFRSs has a material impact on the
Group's result and financial position for the current or prior
period.

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Making
materiality judgements: Disclosure of accounting
policies

The HKICPA issued HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making
Materiality Judgements” in March 2021 to provide entities
with non-mandatory guidance on how to make materiality
judgements when preparing their general purpose financial
statements in accordance with HKFRS. In April 2021, the
HKICPA issued amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2. The amendments aim to make accounting
policy disclosures more informative by replacing the
requirement to disclose “significant accounting polices” with
“material accounting policy information”. The amendments
also provide guidance under what circumstance, the
accounting policy information is likely to be considered
material and therefore requiring disclosure.

These amendments have no effect on the measurement
or presentation of any items in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group but affect the disclosure of
accounting policies of the Group.

New guidance on accounting for the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong issued by
HKICPA

In June 2022, Employment and Retirement Schemes
Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance
2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”) was enacted. The
Amendment Ordinance abolishes the use of the accrued
benefits derived from employers’ mandatory contributions
under the mandatory provident fund (“MPF”) scheme to
offset severance payment (“SP”) and long service payments
("LSP") (the "Abolition”). Subsequently, the Government of
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region announced that
the Abolition will take effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition
Date”).

BEIEREH ()
(@) #AER REREIETEBYTE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIFEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

New guidance on accounting for the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong issued by
HKICPA (continued)

The following key changes will take effect since the
Transition Date:

- Accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory
MPF contributions cannot be used to offset the
LSP/SP in respect of the employment period after the
Transition Date.

- The pre-transition LSP/SP is calculated using the last
month’s salary immediately preceding the Transition
Date, instead of using the last month’s salary of
employment termination date.

Due to the complexities of the accounting for the offsetting
of accrued benefits derived from an employer's mandatory
MPF contributions and its LSP obligation and the accounting
for the offsetting mechanism could become material in
light of the Abolition, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” (the “Guidance”) in July 2023 to
provide guidance to account for the offsetting mechanism
and the Abolition. The HKICPA concluded that there are
two acceptable accounting approaches for the offsetting
mechanism, being:

- Approach 1: Account for the amount expected to be
offset as a deemed employee contribution towards
that employee’s LSP benefits in terms of HKAS 19.93(a)

- Approach 2: Account for the employer MPF
contributions and the offsetting mechanism as a
funding mechanism for the LSP obligation

Application of the Guidance had no material effect on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

2. EFEEREE B

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e MBERRIE @)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFERIEERRIN » LUBTTHIT)

2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. GHBEREH B

(c) New standards, interpretations and amendments (c)
that have been issued but are not yet effective
The following amendments to HKFRSs have been issued, but
are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the
Group:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and

Leaseback’
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current’
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants’
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
(Revised) Statements — Classification

by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand

Clause’
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements’

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets

and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2024

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

e No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments is expected to be in
the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that
the adoption of them is unlikely to have significant impact on
the Group's result of operations and financial positions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIFEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(@)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the "HKFRSs") issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”).

Basis of measurement and going concern basis
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis except for certain properties
and financial instruments, which are measured at fair values
as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had bank loans amounting
to $1,657,064,000 that are repayable within twelve months
after the reporting date whilst the Group only had cash and
bank balances amounted to $62,562,000 as of the same
date. In preparing these consolidated financial statements
using the going concern basis, the directors of the Company
("Directors”) considered the future liquidity of the Group
based on a cash flow forecast covering 12 months from the
end of the reporting period that takes into account of the
following:

() with the Hong Kong SAR Government abolishing all
demand-side management measures for residential
properties in February 2024, the Group expected
to realise substantial portion of the inventories of
properties at margin. Subsequent to the cancellation
of the aforesaid measures, the Group had sold a
significant portion of those properties and expected
that the remaining inventories of properties could be
sold within the forecast period at a margin sufficient to
cover the carrying amount of those properties;

(i) As at the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, the Group has unutilised credit
facilities of $618,367,000 available to support on-going
development of various property projects and the
Directors had reasonable expectation that the credit
facilities would be available given the Group has not
defaulted any of these credit facilities;

R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e MBERRIE @)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFERIEERRIN » LUBTTHIT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 3. RNEEBE
(b) Basis of measurement and going concern basis (b) FEEZE #E)

(continued)

(i) The Group has obtained a loan of $50,000,000 from the
controlling shareholder in April 2024. The controlling
shareholder further granted a facility of $700,000,000
in May 2024, of which loans of $298,247,000 were
drawn down. Both loans are unsecured, bear interest
at a fixed rate of 3% per annum and repayable on the
date falling 48 months from the date of loan facility
agreement. The controlling shareholder has also
confirmed his intention to provide continuing financial
support to enable the Group to meet its obligations in
full as and when they fall due, in order to maintain the
Group as a going concern; and

(iv) As at 31 March 2024, the Group was unable to
meet a financial covenant under relevant bank loan
agreements with a bank. Total bank loans concerned
amounting to $192,914,000 became immediately
repayable upon request by that bank due to such
non-compliance, of which $130,912,000 originally
scheduled for repayable after twelve months are
reclassified as current liabilities. Based on the
communication with the relevant bank, the Directors
considered that it is unlikely for the bank to exercise
its discretion to demand immediate repayment and
such bank loans will be settled in accordance with
scheduled repayment dates.

In the opinion of the Directors, taking into account the
above plans and measures, the Group will have sufficient
working capital to finance its operation and meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due. Accordingly,
the Directors consider that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIFEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(b)

Basis of measurement and going concern basis
(continued)

Notwithstanding the above, the use of the going concern
basis depends on successful implementation of the above
plans and measure that there are uncertainties inherently
associated with their future outcomes, that include (1)
sales of the inventories of properties under the expected
market sentiment over the forecast period; and (2) obtaining
of funding successfully, as and when needed, from the
controlling shareholder as mentioned in (iii) above. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, and therefore, that it may be
unable to realise its assets or discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write
down the carrying value of the Group's assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and
non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Inter-company transactions and balances between group
companies together with unrealised profits are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in
which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

(b)
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4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

70

(b)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able
to exercise control. The Company controls an investee if all
three of the following elements are present: (i) power over
the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
the investee, and (iii) the ability to use its power to affect
those variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts
and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in
any of these elements of control.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at
fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is
positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges,
which is recognised in other comprehensive income and
later reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item
affects profit or loss (see note 4(d)).

Hedging

Cash flow hedges

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a
hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset
or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction or the
foreign currency risk of a committed future transaction,
the effective portion of any gains or losses on re-
measurement of the derivative financial instrument to fair
value are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the hedging reserve.
The ineffective portion of any gain or loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results
in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-financial
liability, the associated gain or loss is reclassified from equity
to be included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of
the non-financial asset or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIFEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Hedging (continued)

Cash flow hedges (continued)

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in
the recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability, the
associated gain or loss is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss in the same period or periods during which the asset
acquired or liability assumed affects profit or loss (such as
when interest income or expense is recognised).

When a hedging instrument expires, or is sold or terminated,
or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge
accounting, hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively,
any cumulative gain or loss remains in equity at that time
is accounted for according to the nature of the underlying
transactions (as discussed above) once the hedged cash
flow occurs. When a forecast transaction is no longer
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that has been
reported in equity is reclassified to profit or loss immediately.

Fixed assets

(i) Investment properties and investment
properties under development
Investment properties are land and/or buildings which
are owned or held under a leasehold interest (see
note 4(f)) to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. These include land held for a currently
undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment

property.

Investment properties and investment properties
under development are stated at fair value, unless they
are still in the course of construction or development
at the end of the reporting period and their fair value
cannot be reliably measured at that time. Any gain
or loss arising from a change in fair value or from
the retirement or disposal of an investment property
is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from
investment properties is accounted for as described in
note 4(my(iii).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFERIEERRIN » LUBTTHIT)

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4. EEHE &
(e) Fixed assets (continued) e BEEEE #&)

72

(i)  Other property, plant and equipment
Other property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see note 4(g)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as
to write off their cost net of expected residual value, if
any, over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis. The useful lives, residual value and depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
each end of the reporting period. The useful lives are

(i) EMHYE- -BERRE
HAMY)ZE ~ B R 5% 8 12 B 2,
ERSHITERBEEERYR (R
PisEA(Q) ©

WEFHHENE BE MR EBE
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PREE WA E RN
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ME BB RREITERHMGS
I fE AT EG A M H Al
R EGEtRIBREE (WA) 5t
ReRIERAEM RFEERT
ERENREHRETERR
AE (NBEA) - EREHAN

as follows: AIEE:
Buildings 50 years S 504
Plant and machinery 3-5 years B R 1 2% 3FE54F
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-5 years RE-BENRHE 3ESE
Motor vehicles 5 years AE 5%
(f) Leased assets () HEEE
Accounting as a lessee EBARBAN B EEE

All leases are capitalised in the statement of financial
position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, except
for () leases which are short-term leases and/or (i) leases
for which the underlying asset is of low-value. The lease
payments associated with those leases have been expensed
on straight-line basis over the lease term. The Group
accounts for leasehold land and buildings that are held for
rental or capital appreciation purpose under HKAS 40 and
are carried at fair value. The Group accounts for right-of-use
assets related to interests in leasehold land which is held as
inventories of properties are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIFEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Leased assets (continued)

Accounting as a lessor

The Group has leased out its investment properties to a
number of tenants. Rental income from operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as
an expense on the straight-line basis over the lease term
(see note 4(my(iii)).

Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired:

- fixed assets (other than properties carried at fair value),
and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated.

(i)  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueaq)
(8) Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)
(continued)

74

(i)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units, are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

(h) Financial instruments

(i)

Financial assets

Trade receivables are initially recognised when they
are originated. All regular way purchases and sales
of financial assets are recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. All other financial assets are initially
recognised when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is initially
measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade
receivable without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.

Debt instruments

Debt instruments that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at
amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method. Interest income,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

4. GEBER (&
®) BEREEMEERN @

(i)

BT B BT 1R

SEEE QHMBZREESE
B ZEREEBBET KOS
BoREEBEmPERAES
BeplReETBUBRRZAE
BR g TokURD DT
REEEBMU (RZAEW 2
AREEZREE TREBR
EE R /b 5% BB (SR =% %B B 1)
ZHMEBEEZREE HEER
EEAERLERRELRSZ
ARBERHERE WA EE)
SEREE (BEETE) °

(h EMITHE

(i)

GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

EHEE

FEWIR ARG 22 A B W) 4R TR 320 o P
BERERAABENLENS
MEENRZ B BIAEEAE
BENHEREEZA) BB -
RERTABENLERREE
HHERE—REHHRA L
18 ) b T BOHA A A 32 A Y 2 @
BE-

THEE UEEAMEMRDH
FEWERRRERIN M AT EE
&> HRARAFEF ABREDN
B BIBM ERE BT
ERBRNRZZ MG E - Wi
EARBEILDNBBIRRT S
BRI FERE-

EEILAR

HRFAUBERENREERE
NEE HZFHREMEBEAKR
RN R AZEENE
SR AN ET B o MBI AN FT B R
TMEEHBRABRARZ
STE-FBWA ER W KIB
KRBT 18 m R FEED o A% I FE
0 By B AE fo W o 19 2 48 o P

=]
s ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIFEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

(i)

Financial assets (continued)

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is
not held for trading, the Group could irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).
This election is made on an investment-by-investment
basis. Equity investments at FVOCI are measured at
fair value. Dividend income are recognised in profit
or loss unless the dividend income clearly represents
a recovery of part of the cost of the investments.
Other net gains and losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income and are not reclassified to
profit or loss. All other equity instruments are classified
as fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), whereby
changes in fair value, dividends and interest income
are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit loss (“ECL") on trade receivables and other
financial assets measured at amortised cost.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall
is then discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and
has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, ECLs are based on
the 12-month ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLS.
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4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4. FEEER &
(h) Financial instruments (continuea) (hy ERTH #E)
(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (continued) (i) ZHEZELRELFE (&
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When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group's historical
experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than
30 days past due.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-
impaired. A financial asset is “credit-impaired” when
one or more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes the following observable data:

= significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract such as a default or being
more than 90 days past due;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not
consider otherwise;

- it is probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties.

The Group considers that a default event occurs when:
(1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if any is held); or
(2) the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIFEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

(iir)

(iv)

wv)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at
amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets through a loss allowance
account. The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is written off when the Group has no reasonable
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its
entirety or a portion thereof. However, financial
assets that are written off could still be subject to
enforcement activities in order to comply with the
Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially
measured at fair value, net of directly attributable costs
incurred.

These liabilities including trade payables, other
payables and accrued charges, retentions payables,
bank loans and loan from ultimate holding company,
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
effective interest method. The related interest expense
is recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
for borrowing costs (see note 4(q)).

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
COsts.

Derecognition

The Group generally derecognises a financial asset
when the contractual rights to the future cash flows in
relation to the financial asset expires.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.
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4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

78

(i)

Inventories of properties
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value as follow:

(i)  Properties under development

The cost of properties under development comprises
specifically identified cost, including acquisition cost
of land, aggregate cost of development, materials
and supplies, wages and other direct expenses, an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing
costs capitalised. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price less estimated costs
of completion and costs to be incurred in selling
the properties. On completion, the properties are
transferred to properties held for sales.

(iij) Properties held for sales

The cost of completed properties for sale comprises
the costs of those completed units transferred from
properties under development and where applicable,
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price, based on
prevailing market conditions, less estimated costs to
be incurred in selling the property.

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Share-based payment transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve).
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4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1)

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to share option
reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will
be transferred to share capital and share premium. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
retained profits.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax
credits.
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4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k)

80

Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities and all deferred tax assets, to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised. Future
taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
include those that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same
period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the
deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination) and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, and
temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries
to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the
Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable
that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable
that they will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 4(e)
(), the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using
the tax rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their
carrying value at the end of the reporting period. In all other
cases, the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement
of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIFEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k)

Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously;
or

= in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered, intend to realise the current tax
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a
net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFERIEERRIN » LUBTTHIT)

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Revenue and other income

(i)

82 GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

Revenue from building construction

Revenue is recognised overtime as the Group’s
performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs and is
recognised by reference to the stage of completion
measured based on the construction works performed,
which are certified by an independent professional
architect, relative to the remaining construction works
promised under the contract. Invoices are issued
according to contractual terms and are usually payable
within 30 days.

Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the
period in which they are incurred.

The Group has elected to apply the practical expedient
not to adjust the transaction price for the existence
of any significant financing component given the
period between the transfer of control of construction
service and the payment date is one year or less, whist
retention receivables serves as an assurance that the
construction services performed comply with agreed-
upon specifications.

The Group's construction contracts usually give rise
to variable consideration, which arises from variation
orders or claims. The Group estimates the amount
of consideration to which it will be entitled using the
expected value method as the variable consideration
usually associated with a range of possible
consideration amount. The Group would include an
estimate of variable consideration in the transaction
price only to the extent that it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognise will not occur when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration
is subsequently resolved. At the end of each reporting
period, the Group updates the estimated transaction
price (including updating its assessment of whether
an estimate of variable consideration is constrained)
to represent faithfully the circumstances present
at the end of the reporting period and the changes
in circumstances during the reporting period and
recognise corresponding adjustments as revenue (or
reductions of revenue).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIFEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Revenue and other income (continueq)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Revenue from sales of properties

Revenue arising from the sale of properties is
recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of
profit or loss on the basis that control of the property
has been passed to the customer during the current
accounting period, which is the point in time when
the customer has the ability to direct the use of the
property and obtain substantially all the benefits of
the property. Deposits and instalments received on
properties sold prior to the date of revenue recognition
are included in the consolidated statement of financial
position under contract liabilities.

To the extent that the deposits and instalment received
from customers are regarded as providing a significant
financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised
under that contract includes the interest accreted
on the contract liability under the effective interest
method during the period between the payment
date and the transfer of control of the property. The
discount rate applied is reflective of the rate in a
separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. The interest
is expensed as accrued unless it is eligible to be
capitalised in accordance with note 4(q).

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments
over the periods covered by the lease term. Lease
incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as
an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as
income in the accounting period in which they are
earned.

Rental related income
Rental related income is recognised on an accrual
basis.

(i)

(iii)

(iv)
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4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Revenue and other income (continueq)

84

(n)

(v) Dividend income
Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the Group's right to receive payment
is established.

(vi) Interest income
Interest income is recognised using effective interest
method. Interest income on credit-impaired financial
assets is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e.
the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset. For non credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount.

Contract liabilities

Contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration
is due) from the customer. If the considerations received
(including advances received from customers) exceeds the
revenue recognised to date under the output method, then
the Group recognises a contract liability for the difference.

Contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract, e.g. sales
commissions, are capitalised if the costs relate to revenue
which will be recognised in a future reporting period and the
costs are expected to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining
a contract are expensed when incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is recognised in
profit or loss when the revenue to which the asset relates is
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIFEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(P)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the end of the reporting period.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the rates
approximating to those ruling when the transactions took
place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign operations
are translated at the rate ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
as exchange reserve. Exchange differences recognised in
profit or loss of group entities’ separate financial statements
on the translation of long-term monetary items forming
part of the Group's net investment in the foreign operation
concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as exchange reserve.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for
its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of
that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceased
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or
completed.
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5.

86

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, the directors
are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

(@) Valuation of investment properties and
investment properties under development
As described in note 15, investment properties and
investment properties under development are stated at fair
value based on valuation performed by an independent firm
of professional valuer.

In determining the fair value of investment properties and
investment properties under development, the valuer has
used a method of valuation which involves, inter-alia, certain
estimates including appropriate discount rate, capitalisation
rate and expected market rental growth rate. In relying
on the valuation reports, management has exercised its
judgement and is satisfied that the method of valuation is
reflective of the current market conditions.

(b) Estimated net realisable value of properties

under development and held for sale

Management reviews the net realisable value of the Group's
properties under development and held for sales at each
reporting date. Appropriate write-down to estimated net
realisable value is recognised in profit or loss when the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds its net realisable
value.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

5.

(b)

Estimated net realisable value of properties
under development and held for sale (continued)
In determining whether write-down of properties under
development and held for sales is required, the Group
takes into consideration the intended use of the properties,
the estimated costs of completion and estimated costs
necessary to make the sale, the current market environment,
the estimated market value of the properties and/or the
present value of future cash flows expected to receive. If
the market environment/circumstances or estimated costs
of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the
sale changes significantly, resulting in a decrease in the net
realisable value of these properties interest, additional write-
down may be required. As at 31 March 2024, the carrying
amounts of properties under development and held for
sales are $1,773,757,000 (2023: $1,727,828,000) (net of
accumulated write-down of $72,126,000 (2023: $60,342,000)).

Going concern

As disclosed in note 3(b), the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
The appropriateness of using going concern basis is
assessed by the management after taking into consideration
all relevant information about the future liquidity and
performance of the Group, including the operating cash
flow of the Group, the availability of the loan facilities in
the foreseeable future and the continuing financial support
from controlling shareholder. Such assessment involves
uncertainties. Actual outcome could differ significantly
and hence render the adoption of the going concern basis
inappropriate.
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EREAGHTEMBEZRSSE ©
W HIBIRIE B R O E 5T e A A A
BEEAREE MIZEMERT A
BIREE R > B A BEZBE BB ANl
HEE R _E_WE=A=+—
H BRI ERBEHEYENERT
E7%41,773,757,00070 (ZE - =4 :
1,727,828,0007T) (OB EFHRERE
72,126,0007T (Z & — =4F : 60,342,000
7o) °

= 438 4T A
FHERE

M EE3MFTIBEE » S HM BIRERE
ERFBEENER RN - AR
BREEENBELREEBEEZR
E B R RE M FEERIFT B AERE
Bl BEAEBNEERS
M AIFRRARRERRMEN AN
MR R IR R FF BRI 7552 55 o
BREILEEIEEE BRERA
FEEARKER HEERAFELE
BERETGEN-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFERIEERRIN » LUBTTHIT)

6.

88

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that are
used to make strategic decisions.

The Group has three reportable segments. The segments are
managed separately as each business offers different products
and services and requires different business strategies. The
following summary describes the operations in each of the
Group's reportable segments:

— Construction: construction of residential buildings,
commercial buildings and data centres

—  Property leasing: leasing of data centres and commercial
shops

—  Property development: development and sale of properties

Inter-segment transactions are priced with reference to prices
charged to external parties for similar order. Central income and
expenses are not allocated to the operating segments as they are
not included in the measure of the segment’s profit that is used by
the chief operating decision-makers for assessment of segment
performance.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s most senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

= Segment assets include all tangible, non-current and current
assets with the exception of investments in financial assets,
current and deferred tax assets and other corporate assets.
Segment liabilities include trade payables, accruals and
other current and non-current liabilities attributable to the
business activities of the individual segments and bank
borrowings managed directly by the segments.

- Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to income generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments.

DEBERE
AAEERTIEBEERRAKBEROR
1T 1 tH SR B R TE 2R TE AL & ) Bf

AEBA=ZEERROB -BAEADEEZ
EBRETANERRERT  BEFEHN
FHRBEMELBILEE  LUTEIZ A
FEBBRAFROMOVES

- BR BREATEFT BEEBFTRE
B

— YEMEE HHEEUEPODEKREEH

- WELERE ZERNHEEYE

DEERZ 2 EMBALETERIEEAL
WERHERMEB - AR P REA KRR
RN EIEE E BEERRABLHE D 5
REMD WA REEDEEREE
&R

D BRBERDBEERDIEMS »
AEBESBITHEEASRUTEESR
REVHRSDEBENER BEEKRERE:

— NHBEECUREHNELEE FRE
BERMBEE  HEERMEE  BH
REERBEEERAMEEEERE
BRoh o D EP B R B IEE R 2 BRAS R
B LEMERR S ER  H i
R FRBEBEURDEEEERE
AYSRITIETR °

— BakAXD2ERSFDBEROK
AREEDBEENFRSZDEERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M mRRMEE E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(FRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

{EBREEZERBER AT 2023/24%H

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6. DEIHRE &
(@) Segment revenue and results (a) DEBERFER
For the year ended 31 March 2024
BEZ-_ME=A=+—HLEFE
Inter-
Property Property segment
Construction leasing development  elimination Total
B MERE MERE  HIBREH st
$'000 $'000 $000 $'000 $'000
FT FT Fr Fir FT
Revenue from external customers R ENBE B INE 77,648 276,531 178,512 - 532,691
Inter-segment revenue B 426,916 26,242 - (453,158) -
Segment revenue Al 504,564 302,773 178,512 (453,158) 532,691
Segment results DEEE 35,557 559,538 (70,144) (42,433) 482,518
Unallocated other income RAEEMBA Rz F 28
and gain, net (2,374)
Unallocated expenses XPETH (45,053)
Changes in fair value of financial ~ BAFEABEZ SHEE
assets at fair value through 2 ATEES)
profit or 10ss 707
Finance costs FUB I (122,667)
Profit before taxation PR TR 313,131
For the year ended 31 March 2023
BEZT=F-A=t+-HILEE
Inter-
Property Property segment
Construction leasing  development elimination Total
fea MERE MERR  HEEEE st
$000 $000 $ooo Sooo Sooo
Fr Fr T Fr Fr
Revenue from external customers R ESMPE B UG (88,954) 243,072 4,850,442 - 5,004,560
Inter-segment revenue B 239,305 30,729 - (270,034) -
Segment revenue SEE 150,351 273,801 4,850,442 (270,034) 5,004,560
Segment results DEEE (162,389) 120,936 1,742,001 (28,620) 1,671,928
Unallocated other income RAEMUA T Y223 58
and gain, net (4,049)
Unallocated expenses RAEEEH (34,090)
Changes in fair value of financial ~ BATFEHABRZEHEE
assets at fair value through AT EES)
profit or 10ss 483
Finance costs PSR A (105,092)
Profit before taxation PRI AR 1,529,180
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBERRIE @)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFERIEERRIN » LUBTTHIT)

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6.
(b) Segment assets and liabilities

DEEmE (E
(b) PEEERER

90

2024 2023
“ETME - ——
$000 $000
FiT Fir
Segment assets DEEE

construction e 34,510 90,027
Property leasing MEMRE 6,562,851 5,264,277
Property development YR 1,917,056 1,896,165
Total segment assets HMOEE 8,514,417 7,250,469
Other financial assets Hith&pEE 20,603 19,256
Deferred tax assets IR TEE 2 81,013 71,306
Current tax assets ENIRIEE E 2,445 3,063
Unallocated office premises ROEMAEYE 366,031 374,537

Unallocated head office and KOBBRBERTEEE
corporate assets 398,013 316,729
Unallocated cash and bank balances k2B IR& & IEITLER 3,723 114,882
Consolidated total assets RENEE 9,386,245 8,150,242

Segment liabilities bk B=RE

Construction e 444,458 366,461
Property leasing MERE 1,789,180 813,386
Property development MEER 1,523,197 1,463,831
Total segment liabilities woHasd 3,756,835 2,643,678
Current tax liabilities EAREEE 274,648 265,821
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIEE R 88,701 73,624

Unallocated head office and APEERABI RTEEER
corporate liabilities 133,531 93,151
Unallocated bank loans KDBECIRITTER 2,179,524 2,092,135
Consolidated total liabilities NN =K(=] 6,433,239 5,168,409
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

A MBERRMEE &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(FRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6. TEERE B
(c) Other segment information (c) HithoaIER
Property Property
Construction leasing development Unallocated Total
B NERE NEER AR Lh
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

ZE-ME “Z-=F CZE-ME “ZC-E ZE-ME “SC-E ZE-ME “ZC-E ZE-ME “ZC=E

$000 S0 $o00 St $000

St $00 St $000 S0

7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 77
Additions to non-current  FREENE
segment assets PHEE 174 75 971,880 164,418 51 5,866 779 599 972,884 225455
Depreciation ik 195 152 259 35 1,179 489 20,280 2377 21913 40343
(d) Geographic information d) ME&HER

All of the Group’s revenue from external customers
are generated from customers located in Hong Kong.
Substantially all of the Group’s non-current assets are also
located in Hong Kong. Therefore no further analysis of
geographical information is presented.

(e) Information about major customers (e)
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group is as follows:

AEBPIARBIINBE R BRI TYIR
BUREBEBNER - MAEEE KX
PIERBBEIFINER

BERXTERRNEN
B AEEGKEBBIO%RNES 2
Wz

2024 2023
—E_MmE B =

$’000 $°000

FiT FiT

Customer A1 ZHA 90,696 N/A

Customer B Z B 75,697 N/A

L The revenue was derived from property leasing segment.

! W B YA E DA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(FRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6. DEI®E B
(f)  Timing of revenue recognition () UWakEsR A
Construction Property leasing Property development Total
B IES NEER @t
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZECmE ZECCF ZECME CRC-f ZBOME CRT-F ZECME CECCF
$000 S0 $000 $000 $000 $o00 $000 $000
¥ FT F FT F Fr F Fr
At apoint in time RE—RRES = 5 - - 178,512 4,850,442 178,512 4,850,442
Transferred over time REBF e 77,648 (88,954) 59,157 38,500 - - 136,805 (50,454)
Revenue from other sources RE ARG - - 217,374 204572 - - 217,374 204572

77,648 (88,954) 276,531 243,072 178,512 4,850,442 532,691 5,004,560

7. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAIN, NET 7. WEMBREMIREFEE

Revenue which is derived from the Group’s principal activities and FRREAER TS £HEINEUREM
other income and gain, net during the year is analysed as follows: WA R FREDITIAT -
(@) Disaggregation of revenue (@) Wz
2024 2023
—E-ME BT =
$’000 $o00
FiT FIT
Revenue from contracts with customers &E 7SR E LRI FE155
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HEANNER GO E
Sales of properties YIEHE 178,512 4,850,442
Revenue from building construction (note) ~ BFEEWRE (52) 77,648 (88,954)
Rental related income THE AW A 59,157 38,500
Revenue from other sources H iR UL =
Rental income B WA 217,374 204,572
532,691 5,004,560
Note: .
For the year ended 31 March 2023, revenue from building HE_Z-_=F=-HA=-+—HILEFEEETF
construction included a reversal of revenue of $165,471,000 due BEWEEEZFAREERZEBRE
to cumulative catch-up adjustments arising from the change in RS e ELENRBEA G EME K E
estimated transaction price during that year. 165,471,0007T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

= .4 H
48

MEHRRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTHIT)

7. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAIN, NET
(continued)

(b)

Unsatisfied performance obligations

As at 31 March 2024, the aggregate amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations under the Group's existing contracts is as follows:

Wz
(b)

3 LA R EL s 28R (A2)

RETEROEME
F_E_EEEEE =+—H F=&H

PEERAGNETRBEEOEEN
RZERIT -

2024 2023

—E-ME _EC=F

$000 $000

FT FT

Amounts expected to be recognised as TEHRER AW Em 2 TRE

revenue;

Within one year —FR 129,611 139,782

After one year but within two years —FBREMFR 233,966 -

363,577 139,782

This amount represents revenue expected to be recognised
in the future from sales and purchase agreements from sales
of properties entered into with customers. The Group will
recognise the expected revenue in the future when or as the
control of the property has been passed to customer.

I RRIE R AR TAHIR Z P T L M)
ESNERN D - AEBER KT E
BERERMTE P RN TR

Details of contract liabilities (0 BHBEFH
The Group has recognised the following revenue-related AEBRCHIUTREBBA G088
contract liabilities: & :
2024 2023
“EmE ZEI=F
$’000 $000
FT FiT
Contract liabilities BRHEE 24,937 1,005
Significant changes in contract liabilities BHBEEEAEZS)

Contract liabilities of the Group arise from deposits from
sales of properties made by the customers while the control
of properties are yet to be passed. Such liabilities increase as
a result of contracts entered into with customers under the
sales arrangement before the completion of the underlying
properties.

FEBNGHEEREBHEEMEZ
T MAMYEEE BVESI R K
BTEF mFERBREEBEYETNK

RBAMIHE R HREZERETT GKM
g0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBERRIE @)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CRFFRIFERRIN  LUBITET)

7. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAIN, NET 7.
(continued)

Waas AR H i a5 5% 88 (42

(d) Other income and gain, net (d) HhUgA KRR
2024 2023
—E-ME 2=
$°000 $000
FT v
Bank interest income RITH BURA 9,919 12,576
Dividend income from unlisted JELEMBREEEN
fund investments 2 BUA 722 722
Net foreign exchange loss HhEE R RSB (13,053) (18,106)
Forfeited deposits BRWETE 1,391 2,801
Changes in fair value of financial assets at A F{EzF ABTHZ
fair value through profit or loss STHEBEZ AT EEE 707 483
Government subsidy (note) B #EL (32 = 3,743
Gain on disposal of property, HEME -BEMKE
plant and equipment Z W 3 -
Loss on written-off of property, WEEYZE R K5k
plant and equipment Z 518 = (445)
Others Hth 6,434 4,529
6,123 6,303
Note: &
For the year ended 31 March 2023, the amount represented the HE_ T _—F-A=+—HILEEZZ

government grants obtained from Employment Support Scheme
("ESS") under the Anti-epidemic Fund launched by the Government
of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region supporting the payroll
of the Group's employees. Under the ESS, the Group had to
commit to spend these grants on payroll expenses, and not reduce
employee head count below prescribed levels for a specified period
of time. The Group did not have any unfulfilled obligations relating
to this programme as at 31 March 2023.

BIENEBFNTHEBFEENE
MEREEERMFETE (TRUMESE ) W
B ARBERAERRERENHE - REBERF
WS B > A & B R KGR S A R B 1Y S2 (Y
#HwH BRERHARTFHBESEAME
BRIEEEKF -AERR T _=F=1
=+t—BuEA B ERMNEARET

B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

CRFRIFEBRSN > LUBTTHIT)

8.

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

8. FRIRATER

BRARENER Bk GIA) UTFRIE !

2024 2023
T ME 2=
$°000 $000
FiT FiT
(a) Finance costs (@) BIEERkA
Interest on bank loans and other RITERREMMETFE
borrowing 359,999 182,700
Less: Amount capitalised* B BARCEEE* (237,332) (77,608)
122,667 105,092

e The borrowing costs have been capitalised at the range of 4.69% to e

7.98% (2023: 5.21% t0 6.46%) per annum.

(b) Staff costs (including directors’ (b)
remuneration)
Salaries, wages and other benefits
Share-based payment expenses
Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Less: Amount capitalised

(c) Other items (c)

Cost of inventories recognised as
expenses

Direct operating expenses arising
from investment properties that
generated income

Impairment loss (reversal)/recognised on
trade receivables (note 18)

Write-down of inventories of properties

Depreciation (note 15)

Auditors’ remuneration

— audit services

— other services

BEN IR ERLOONET 8% (CE_=

F I 521%F6.46%) BA1E o

BTRA (BIFESEHH)
e TERAEMEH 117,773 139,700
MRHEREZ N ZzRX 11,631 14,050
REMFER KRB 2 HE=
2,387 2,834
131,791 156,584
A= N (61,913) (76,561)
69,878 80,023
Higg
WRAREZ
FERAE 168,153 2,827,198
HEESWAZREYE
EEZBEERERY
118,111 98,389
7 W B R0 Y R B
(=188) K548 (W15£18) (655) 318
MELFEZHR 20,296 52,358
TEE (HfaE15) 21,913 40,343
TZ BN &
— IR 1,425 1,384
—HMART 25 25

EEREEIERBIR AT 2023/244F 4
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MR RIME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(R¥55EERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

INCOME TAX EXPENSES
Income tax in the consolidated statement of

9.

96

(@)

profit or 10ss represents:

FRiSH 3 th

(@) HFEBEmRPBFAEHRAER

2024 2023
—E_WE =
$’000 $000
FT Fir
Current tax BNHA#RIE
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax FRNEBHERESE
for the year 9,383 268,321
Under-provision in respect of prior years BEFERETE 1,111 703
10,494 269,024
Deferred tax IRIEFR IR
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss e,/ Gt A) KEEBR
for the year (note 9(c)) (H15£9(c)) 4,187 (15,304)
14,681 253,720

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at the rate 16.5% (2023:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong, except for the first $2,000,000 of qualified group
entity’s assessable profit which is calculated at 8.25% (2023:
8.25%) in accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI") and the Cayman lIslands, the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the BVI and the Cayman Islands.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") on
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the statutory tax rate of the
Group’s PRC subsidiaries is 25% (2023: 25%). The Group had
not generated any taxable profits in the PRC during the year
(2023: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(FRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 9. FrSMxZE @)
(b) Reconciliation between income tax expenses and (b) BRAREABEWFASIHREEHE
accounting profit before taxation at applicable BRI EsHaf R :
tax rate:
2024 2023
—E-mE —E=fF
$’000 $o00
F FT
Profit before taxation PRI AT F) 313,131 1,529,180
Notional tax on profit before taxation, HRERREMREERERE Y
calculated at the rate applicable to the WA ZMESE ZRIE
profits in the jurisdictions concerned 53,650 249,816
Effect of non-taxable income EEFRIMANZE (64,445) (6,340)
Effect of non-deductible expenses AEHNERASTNEE 16,048 427
Effect of unused tax losses not recognised  REESTMRIBESEHI £ 8,317 9114
Under-provision in respect of prior years BEFERETE 1,111 703
Income tax expenses gz 14,681 253,720
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(FRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 9. FrfSMxH &)

(c) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (c) BEHEREEREEERER
The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities TR AR S I AR R 2k N T B0 B I SR 18
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial (BE) /BENERSBDO REEDN
position and the movements during the year are as follows: BEIT -

Depreciation
Depreciation in excess
allowances in of the
excess of the related Write-down of
related  depreciation inventories of Hedging
Deferred tax arising from: depreciation  allowances properties Tax loss reserve Total
hERiE WEAR A
BEHERS . ARERRE  BERHE ba V] HEsE HinthiE it
St St St Somw Somw Somw
At 1 April 2022 RZE__%mA-A 61,628 (1,460) (1.99) #1,516) (355) 16,301
Credied to other NBEt2ERE
comprehensive income - - - - 1321 1321
Charged/(credited) to the nk/ GtA) B4
profit or loss 11,210 (27,589 (10,852) 1927 = (15,304)
At 31 March 2023 and KZEZZ£=R=t+-Hk
1 April 2023 “E-ZEMR-H 72,838 (29,049) (12,848) (29,589) 966 2,318
Charged to other NiEM2ENE
comprehensive income - - - - 1,183 1,183
Charged/(credited) to the mis/ GtA) 85
profit or loss 15,429 26,503 (1,352) (36,393) - 4,187
At 31 March 2024 R-E-mE=RA=+-H 88,267 (2,546) (14,200) (65,982) 2,149 7,688
2024 2023
—E-@OF TEI=HF
$’000 $000
FiT FT
Net deferred tax assets EREM B RRNERRN
recognised in the RERIEE EFER
consolidated statement of
financial position (81,013) (71,306)
Net deferred tax liabilities EREMBERTRNERH
recognised in the LR IB B (&3 RE
consolidated statement of
financial position 88,701 73,624
7,688 2,318
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

CRFEFRISERRSN > LUBTTHIT)

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

(d)

10. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(@)

At 31 March 2024, the Group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of unused tax losses of $567,465,000
(2023: $517,061,000) as it is not probable that sufficient
future taxable profits will be available against which the
unused tax losses can be utilised. The tax losses do not

expire under current tax legislation.

Tax effects relating to cash flow hedges included

in other comprehensive income:

9. FRfS

(d)

10.

mxH @)

RIEZMNE=A=+—H HRXX
RIEFMRAH A KOIBE R SIKSE KB
ARRIEEE KAEBLEMSARER
R TEE5$8567,465,00070 (ZE - =
£ 1 517,061,0007T) HEsRERIBE
E-RBRITRE AH > MBEBELR
BEHAEm

Hfth & mE i e

() BRIHAEMREKENES

MEBHPHNRNBEE

2024 2023

“EmE TET=HE

$’000 $°000

F FrT

Pre-tax amount FRIE AT £ 28 7,169 8,013
Tax charged MIESZH (1,183) (1,321)
Net-of-tax amount PRiR1e 88 5,986 6,692

Components of other comprehensive income,

including reclassification adjustments

(b)

Hith 2 E R AR ER D (B1E
B EHE)

2024 2023
“EZME B =F
$’000 $000
Fi FT
Cash flow hedges: WEREH P !
Effective portion of changes in FERNEERNE A TA
fair value of hedging instruments N EEBNEREB D
recognised during the year 7,169 8,013
Net deferred tax charged to Hitt2mW =0k
other comprehensive income IRIEFRIE (1,183) (1,321)
Net movement in the hedging reserve REMEENE AERFERN
during the year recognised in HohEEEE)FER
other comprehensive income 5,986 6,692
Exchange difference on translation of MBEBIINEBNERELE
foreign operations (6,142) (13,765)
Change in fair value of financial BAFEFAEMEEmER G
assets at FVOCI Z2EMEEZ AT ELEH 462 (1,357)
306 (8,430)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFERIEERRIN » LUBTTHIT)

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 11. EEFHM
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors were as ENHEMTERESTZHMAOT
follows:
2024
“ECNE
Salaries,
allowances Share-based  Retirement
and benefits  Discretionary payment scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expenses contributions Total
e 2Nk MERGBH R
ik BNER METEL  LfizR%  RAHEER H
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

F7 F7 F F7 F7 F7
Executive Directors JTES
Chan Hung Ming BR7LEA - 2,857 473 - - 3,330
Lau ChiWah qEE - 2,857 473 - 18 3,348
Kwan Wing Wo Bk A - 2,779 448 - 18 3,245
Tsang Ka Man ZEH - 1,524 240 - 18 1,782
Independent BUFHTES

Non-Executive Directors

Tsui Ka Wah hxE 404 - 67 - - 471
Kan Yau Wo Bl 404 - 67 - - 471
Ho Chiu Yin lvan GIFEEPA 404 - 67 - - 471
Lee Chung Yiu Johnny TRIE 404 - 67 - - 471
Total st 1,616 10,017 1,902 - 54 13,589
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIFEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

1. EEHMN @)

2023
“RCzE
Salaries,
allowances Share-based Retirement
and benefits  Discretionary payment scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expenses  contributions Total
i) 1) NRHBH
iZE EER MRETEA  ZfIzB%  BRGERR st
$000 $000 $000 $ooo $000 $000
F F F F F F
Executive Directors BTESE
Chan Hung Ming LA - 2774 683 - - 3462
Lau Chi Wah 5 S 2,774 688 1,212 18 4,692
Yuen Ying Wai ! REE = 1,168 274 = 8 1,450
Kwan Wing Wo BkAL - 2,69% 652 1212 18 4578
Tsang Ka Man ? B2 - 447 - 1,212 6 1,665
Independent BUERTES
Non-Executive Directors
Tsui Ka Wah fhxE 392 - 97 242 - 731
Kan YauWo syt 392 - 97 242 - 731
Mok Kwai Pui Bill 3 HEED 292 - 97 - - 389
Lee Chung Yiu Johnny TRIE 392 - 97 242 - 731
Ho Chiu Yin lvan * @R 100 - - - - 100
Total st 1,568 9,859 2,690 4,362 50 18,529
1 Mr. Yuen Ying Wai retired as an executive Director on 7 August 2022 L REBREENRZIZEZZTHFENBLHEMEH
TES
2 Ms. Tsang Ka Man was appointed as an executive Director on e CEHLT S _F+_RAt+HHES
15 December 2022 ERITES
3 Mr. Mok Kwai Pui Bill resigned as an independent non-executive 3 EEEEYEN B =F—B—HE1E
Director on 1 January 2023 UIFNTES
4 Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan was appointed as an independent non- e ABARALRENR 2 =F—F—HEZE
executive Director on 1 January 2023 BIUIERMITES

No director received any emoluments from the Group as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office during the year. No director waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments during the years ended 31 March 2024 and
2023.

Details of the share option scheme for the purchase of ordinary
shares in the Company operated during the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023 are disclosed in note 33.

FAMBEEFWNRAEBREAME 55
MBAAEER N INBE X EBRREESHF
AEREABUME - BE_T_NEKR-ZF
TZHF=ZR=+t—HLFE BESEEN
RURRBRREAME -

BHE _ T _NEEZE_=—F=ZB=+—
HUEFESHAREERATZERMNE
RSB PR IB I MY 5E33IMEE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

= A H
8

MR RIME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CRFFRIFERRIN  LUBITET)

12. EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

(@)

Emoluments of five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2024 include 3 (2023: 3) directors whose
emoluments are disclosed in note 11. The aggregate of the
emoluments in respect of the remaining individuals is as
follows:

. AR
&

(@)

=#r A RS 4R E I E

hamEFHMALTIME
HE_ZE_WNE=ZBA=+—HIE%#
ErAEBRURSHFMALTEIE=
HCEI=F =) ES ZlER
MISE113 88 o iR A THIBN S4B 58 U0
T

2024 2023
—E-E —E=-=
$°000 $000
FT FT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e B REYET 4,072 5,746
Discretionary bonuses FYIBTEAL 663 1,374
Share-based payment expenses MRS ZHZ = 1,212
Retirement scheme contributions BRIRETEI R 36 36
4,771 8,368
The above individuals” emoluments are within the following ATz EN T
band:
2024 2023
TETME 2=
Number of Number of
individuals indiviauals
A& A#
$1,500,001 to $2,000,000 1,500,001t &2,000,00075 1 -
$2,500,001 to $3,000,000 2,500,001t 2 3,000,0007% 1 -
$4,000,001 to $4,500,000 4,000,0007% £4,500,0007% - 2

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join, or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office for
the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

Emoluments of senior management

Other than the emoluments of the directors and five
highest paid individuals disclosed in notes 11 and 12(a),
no other emoluments were paid by the Group to its senior
management for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of its senior
management as an inducement to join, or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office for the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

CRFEFRISERRSN > LUBTTHIT)
13. DIVIDENDS

13- HQI%\
(@) Dividends attributable to the year: (@ BREAFENEKRE :
2024 2023
—E_NE .
$’000 $000
FT FiT
Special interim dividend declared and BEEIREZABER
paid of Nil HK cents (2023: 20.0 HK cents) EPHHHy SEERZTA
per share (ZE =4 1 20.0%1l) - 283,908
Interim dividend declared and BEIREZMH
paid of 4.0 HK cents FRER RS B & 4. 078
(2023: 6.0 HK cents) per share (TEZ =% 6.081) 56,809 85,173
Final dividend proposed after the end WEARBRERBREZ
of the reporting period of Nil HK cents FHER ESREEW
(2023: 5.0 HK cents) per share (ZEBEZ=4:5.081) - 71,006
Special dividend proposed after the end R EAREBEERKEZ
of the reporting period of Nil HK cents R EEREEN
(2023: 15.0 HK cents) per share (CTE =% 1 15.081) - 213,018
56,809 653,105

The Board does not recommend payment of a final dividend

for the year ended 31 March 2024.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the final and special
dividends proposed after the end of the reporting period
had not been recognised as a liability as at the end of the

reporting period.

EXFETERRERE"T _EE_
B=+—HLEFEZXRHARE

BE_ZT_=—F=—R=+—HIL*F
B RERESHRBERLE Z KA
FRREHARAERSHARAEIRE

&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(FRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

13. DIVIDENDS (continued) 13. RE #&)
(b) Dividends attributable to the previous financial b) MREFEHERZCTBR E—

year, approved and paid during the year: B BEENRE :
2024 2023
—_E_E -
$’000 $000
FiT FT
Final dividend in respect of the NAREERERZAW
previous financial year, approved E—BRFEEXRA
and paid during the year of 5.0 HK cents % E & A5.0%8
(2023: 4.0 HK cents) per share (TEZ=4 4.08() 71,006 56,782
Special dividend in respect of the RS EHLE R Z T
previous financial year, approved and E—BFEERR
paid during the year of 15.0 HK cents 2 B 815.081
(2023: Nil HK cents) per share (CE =% ZHW) 213,018 -
284,024 56,782

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. SREF
(@) Reported earnings per share (a) EREFITmZERETR
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share RAEIEARRELERE S NF
attributable to the equity holders of the Company for the — A=+ HLEFENSKREAKE#
year ended 31 March 2024 is based on the following data: SERMNHIRE T EIETE

2024 2023
—E-ME -
$°000 $000
FiT Fz
Earnings: BF
Profit for the year attributable to equity TN B AR E T
shareholders of the Company 298,450 1,275,460
2024 2023
—E_mE CEC=4F
$°000 $°000
FiT FT
Number of shares: iR &R :
Weighted average number of AEHEREARAIZBEET
ordinary shares in issue for the LiER TR
purpose of basic earnings per share 1,420,176 1,419,599
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares BREFT R EBRZ
on share options BEHELE 814 944
Weighted average number of STEHEREERNEERK
ordinary shares in issue for the NAETF 981
purpose of diluted earnings per share 1,420,990 1,420,543
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTHIT)

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

(@)

Reported earnings per share (continued)

The diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023 is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The
Company'’s potentially dilutive ordinary shares comprised
share options.

Underlying (loss)/earnings per share

For the purpose of assessing the underlying performance
of the Group, basic and diluted underlying (loss)/earnings
per share are also presented based on the underlying loss
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
$85,713,000 (2023: underlying profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of $1,299,332,000), which
excludes the effects of changes in fair value of investment
properties. A reconciliation of underlying (loss)/profit is as
follows:

@)

14. EREF @)

AREFTRZEBRER (B
BE_Z_MEFR-_F_=F=A1
=+—HLEENSRBERNTE
BREEZTEINEBROMETS
HEBERRMFAEREBTREREY
ZERSE - AT EEEBETERER
EroBEROERBRE

SRER (518) B
EATGAERZERERRIE S
PR (518) BARBAR AT LR
RS EREIE BIMBREEYE
NFEEEZ FE) 85,713,0007T (=
B -F  AREER Hxﬁﬂgfﬁmfrl
1,299,332,0007T) st EREFRFE7 o &
B (B8R HEF 2 HIRIT

2024 2023
“EmE —EBC=F
$000 $000
FT FiT
Profit for the year FEREA 298,450 1,275,460
Changes in fair value of investment KREYMEQTEE

properties (384,163) 23,872
Underlying (loss)/profit for the year ERER (518 E5F (85,713) 1,299,332
HK Cents HK Cents
Bl BN

Underlying (loss)/earnings per share SRER (58 &7
- Basic —HA (6.04) 91.53
- Diluted —#8 (6.04) 91.47
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MR E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(FRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

15. FIXED ASSETS 15. BIEEE
Furniture,
Investment fixtures
properties Buildings and
Investment under held for other fixed
properties  development Sub-total own use assets Sub-total Total
frfi RER
BRH frfi RER
REN% KENE NGt BRNE HftETEE NGt i
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
7z 7z 7 z 7z 7 z
Cost or valuation: FAASfh(E
At 1 April 2023 RZE"=EmA-A 3,761,000 833,220 4,594,220 922,940 36,494 959,434 5,553,654
Additions HE 4,014 967,603 971,617 = 1,267 1,267 972,884
Disposal tHE - - - - (237) (237) (237)
Surplus/(deficit) on revaluation BitRi/ (58 (5,014) 389,177 384,163 - - - 384,163
Exchange adjustment ERBE - - = (301) (14) (315) (315)
At 31 March 2024 RIZ_ME=A=+-H 3760000 2190000 5950000 922639 ¢ 50 %6019 6910149
Representing: Hine
Cost [y - - - 922,639 37,510 960,149 960,149
Valuation i 3,760,000 2,190,000 5,950,000 - - - 5,950,000
3,760,000 2,190,000 5,950,000 922,639 37,510 960,149 6,910,149
Accumulated depreciation: BitE:
At 1 April 2023 RZFZZENE-H = = - 98,491 23,900 122,391 122,391
Charge for the year (o2 8 ) ERZH W 80) - - - 18,595 3318 21913 2913
Written back on disposal HERDE = = = = (237) (237) (237)
Exchange adjustment ERBE - - = (197) (5) (202) (202)
At 31 March 2024 RZF-ZME=A=1-A = = - 116,889 26,976 143,865 143,865
Net ook value: REFE:
At 31 March 2024 RZE_ME=A=1+-A 3,760,000 2,190,000 5,950,000 805,750 10,534 816,284 6,766,284
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A MBERRMEE &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(FRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

15. FIXED ASSETS (continuea) 15. BIEEE (&)
Fumniture,
nvestment fixtures
properties Buldings and
Investment under held for other fived
properties  development Sub-tota Sub-total Total
st 5 @5t
St St 0
Cost or valuation: FAASfh(E
At 1 April 2022 RZE-"EmE-A 3,971,000 482,700 4,453,700 868,708 64,3% 933,064 5,386,764
Additions HE 12,784 151,608 164,392 54,927 6,136 61,063 205455
Written-off s - - - - (33966) (33966) (33966)
(Deficity/surplus on revaluation Bl (58) /BE (222,784) 198912 (23872 - - - (23872
Exchange adjustment ERBE - S S (695) (32 (727 727)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZZF-A=1-H 3,761,000 833,220 4,590,220 922,940 3649 M 53
Representing: L
Cost A = - - 922,940 36,494 959,434 959,434
Valugtion fiE 3,761,000 833,220 4,594.220 = = - 4,594,220
3,761,000 833220 4,594,220 922,940 36,49 959,434 5,953,654
Accumulated depreciation: FitiE:
A1 April 2022 RZZ-"EME-H = = - 77450 3,550 116,000 116,000
Charge for the year fnote 8 (¢) EW (7 80) - - - 21,466 18877 10343 0343
Written back on written-off SRR S S S S (33521) (33521) (33521)
Exchange adjustment EREE - - S (#2) ) 31 31
At31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=R=1-8 = S > 98491 B0 12391 ¥
Net book value: REPE:
At 31 March 2023 RIEZZF=F=1-H 3,761,000 833,220 4,594,220 824,449 12,59 837,003 5431263
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e MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFERIEERRIN » LUBTTHIT)

15. FIXED ASSETS (continued) 15. BICREE &
(@) The fair value of the Group's investment properties and () ATEENKEYMEREEFKREYE

investment properties under development is categorised
within Level 3 recurring fair value measurements. The
movement of these balances are as follows:

MATES B E S RIS AT @
2o ILEEMNBBNT :

2024 2023

—EME TET=HF

$’000 $000

FiT FT

At 1 April RrYA—H 4,594,220 4,453,700
Additions NE 971,617 164,392
Fair value adjustment N EFE 384,163 (23,872)
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 5,950,000 4,594,220

The fair value adjustment of investment properties and
investment properties under development is recognised in
the line item “Changes in fair value of investment properties”
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or l0ss.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, there were
no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or
out of Level 3.

The Group's investment properties and investment
properties under development were revalued at the
reporting date by Colliers International (Hong Kong) Limited,
an independent firm of qualified professional valuer, who
have among their staff Members of the Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors with recent experience in the location and
category of property being valued. The management of the
Group has discussion with the surveyors on the valuation
assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is
performed at each interim and annual reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIFEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

15. FIXED ASSETS (continued)
(@  (continued)

15. BIE&EE (&
(@ #&)

The following table shows the significant unobservable
inputs used in the valuation model:

BB GEES ZNERTARE
2z -

Properties Valuation techniques Unobservable inputs Adopted rate/value
ES GER % FRIBRYE RNLE EE
2024 2023
12 B =F
Investment properties
BEME
- Data centres Income approach - discounted  Risk-adjusted discount rate 7.75% 7.75%
cash flow method
—EBAL BWAE-BRBEERENT  ERAELRE
Expected market rental growth rate 1.9%-2.4% 3.5%
BHEmBEHEER
Expected occupancy rate 94%-100% 94%-100%
FEttE
Capitalisation rate 4.25% 4.25%
BAREE
- Commercial shop Market comparison method Market unit sale rate, and taking $35,140 per $34,842 per
into account of location square feet square feet
and size factors
— MHZ LB MBEBT RUE - SFHFR (SRS
PUNFSES 35,1407 34,8427

The fair value of investment properties — data centres is
determined on the basis of discounted cash flow method
by discounting projected cash flow associated with the
properties using risk-adjusted discount rate. The valuation
takes into account expected market rental growth and
occupancy rates of the properties. The discount rates
used have been adjusted for the quality and location of
the buildings and the tenant credit quality. The fair value
measurement of investment properties — two data centres
is positively correlated to the expected market rental growth
and occupancy rate and negatively correlated to the risk-
adjusted discount rate and capitalisation rate.

REYE-BIET O ZAFELRE
MRREREESCONEE AR
DT LAE R R R AR IR R R AR
EYERBAN—RINTBRARERE -
HEZEIZSYENEATHES
Mg EER - EANMBERDHE
BERAENERRMELURERBE
ERBER - REVENAFEFE
SRS ES R EAREEE
BRAME MARREERRERRER
EX2 & EAERME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFERIEERRIN » LUBTTHIT)

15. FIXED ASSETS (continueq)

@)

(continued)

The fair value of investment properties — commercial
shop is determined on the basis of assuming sale of the
property interest in its existing state by making reference
to comparable sale transactions as available in the relevant
market. The valuation is subject to suitable adjustments
between the subject property and the comparable
properties. The fair value measurement of investment
properties — commercial shop is positively correlated to the
market unit sale rate.

The fair value of investment properties under development
are determined using residual method. This method involves
firstly the assessment of gross development value, which is
determined using the same basis and adopted rates (except
for expected occupancy rate) in determining the fair value
of investment properties — data centres, on the assumption
that the property had already been completed in accordance
with the current development plan on the valuation date,
less the estimated costs of completion together with an
allowance for developer's profit. The expected occupancy
rate adopted for determining the gross development value is
79%-100% (2023: 79%-83%) and the developer's profit is 3%-
12% (2023: 20%). The resultant residue figure is the fair value.

Estimated costs of completion, including costs of
construction, land premium on lease modification,
professional fee and associated costs, plus an allowance for
developer’s risk and profit, are estimated by the valuer based
on market conditions at the reporting date.

The fair value measurement of investment properties
under development is positively correlated to the expected
monthly rental, market rental growth rate and occupancy
rate, and negatively correlated to the estimated costs of
completion of $1.086 billion (2023: $2.080 billion).

@)
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SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIFEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

15. FIXED ASSETS (continuea) 15. BIEBE (&
()  The Group leases out a number of building facilities under b)) FEEREBELEHESAHBEETE

operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial term of
3.5 t0 20 years, with an option to renew the lease after that
date at which time terms are renegotiated.

All properties held under operating leases that would
otherwise meet the definition of investment property are
classified as investment properties.

The Group’s total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows:

FRif o xFHE—RIT BHI35E
205 WA BEER MR EGEEY
Ry BT 10 P AR X o

FREMEUCERESAFAREEHR
T ENERENEZERTE N
mIREYE -

FEBRERBIAIRHEEAENRAE
R REAEREBENT

2024 2023
—EmE —EBC=F
$'000 $°000
F FrT
Within 1 year —FRN 192,176 171,826
After 1 year but within 2 years —FBEBIER 154,480 168,141
After 2 years but within 3 years “HFBB=FRK 136,626 129,568
After 3 years but within 4 years —FBREOFR 128,135 107,965
After 4 years but within 5 years MFEBRBEREREN 106,067 172,709
After 5 years LF#% 116,945 141,398
834,429 891,607

(©)  All the Group's investment properties are situated in Hong (0 AEBEZREVMEMNREEBRUFH

Kong and held under medium-term leases.

(d) The carrying amounts of the Group's building held for own (d)
use are under:

MAKAE -

ETAM AU T ARISTE 2B BY
HIRMEE

2024 2023

—E_ME _EC=F

$000 $000

Fz FrT

Medium-term leases in Hong Kong REBZFIAEL 803,031 819,221
Medium-term leases land use rights in the PRC  }* Hr [ = F A £ th {55 FR 2,719 5,228
805,750 824,449

(e) Certain of the Group’s building held for own use and (e)
investment properties were pledged against bank loans,
details of which are set out in note 21(a).

AEBRETERAYERKREYEDIK
U ERGIRITEN  BRAEBE SN
$21@@)°
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e MBERRIE @)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

CRFFRISERRSN  LUBTTHIT)
16. INVENTORIES OF PROPERTIES

16. YEES

2024 2023
“EmE “EI=F
$000 $000
FiT FT
Properties under development located in R EBRFENERF
Hong Kong and the PRC (note (a)) Y% (@) 703,658 974,001
Properties held for sales located in Hong R EBRPENFEE
Kong and the PRC HEZME 1,070,099 753,827
1,773,757 1,727,828
Notes: i
(@) As at 31 March 2024, all properties under development in 2024 are (@ MRIZBEZOF=B=1+—HFBEZEFRY
expected to be recovered after one year. As at 31 March 2023, PR —FRBLE - RZB-=F=A
except for an amount of $521,511,000 which is expected to be =+—8-%A%0521,511,000TH RS
recoverable after one year, all remaining balances of properties YMIETEIAR —FR BN R T 4EERTER
under development are expected to be recovered within one year. R—FRug(e e
(b) At 31 March 2024, leasehold land included in the properties under by MZIE_ME=RB=+—H #EHY
development amounted to $474,687,000 (2023: $788,575,000). ¥RNBE g2 HE T MEE5474,687,0007T
T =4 :788,575,0007T) °
(c)  Certain of the Group’s inventories of properties were pledged () XAEEETYEGFECKFURERTE
against bank loans, detail of which are set out in note 21(a). o BREAFBEHEIFMHE21@)
17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES . BHEERESHNERE
(@) Contract assets (@ BNEE
2024 2023
“EZME “ET =
$’000 $000
FiT FT
Contract assets arising from BFEEEENENEE
building construction: W ER BRI HER
Retention receivables EWRE S - 46,317

112

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount
of contract assets includes payment schedules which
require stage payments over the construction period once
milestones are reached. These payment schedules prevent
the build-up of significant contract assets. Additionally, the
Group typically committed to retain on 5% of the contract
sum for 1 to 3 years as retention period, which is kept in
contract assets until the end of the retention period as the
Group's entitlement to the amount is still conditional.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

CRFEFRISERRSN > LUBTTHIT)

17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(continued)

(@)

Contract assets (continued)

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract

17.

BNEERGNERE @)

(@)

BNEE (B

RSt A E RS NEENRRE 2

assets is as follows: Mmr
2024 2023
—E-mE ===
$’000 RX000,
FiT FT
Within one year —FR - 46,317
Movements in contract assets BHEENEE
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
$’000 $000
FiT FT
Balance as at 1 April RH B —B 48R 46,317 257,844
Addition during the year REEARM - 76,517
Changes as a result of cumulative HRNEEEEMERZ
catch-up adjustments arising from KA WEt7E)
change in estimates (note 7(a)) - (165,471)
Reclassification to receivables B BAERKIE (46,317) (122,573)
Balance at 31 March R=A=+—H#&&% - 46,317
Contract liabilities (b) &H&8E
2024 2023
—E-[E s
$°000 $000
FiT FT
Deposits from sales of properties HEMENETE 24,937 1,005

Typically, deposits and instalments received in accordance
to the payment term as stipulated in the sales and purchase
agreement for sales of properties are classified as contract
liabilities. These will remain as contract liabilities until the
control of these properties is transferred to the customers.

EEREEIERBIR AT 2023/244F 4

SEkDHNREBE SHEMERE
KB —BEZ WOEREHNER-
ZRER-BERGEREHNEAR B
ERFMENERRB I GER -

113



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(FRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES 17. BHNEERANEE &

(continued)
(b) Contract liabilities (continued) (b) &H&EE #E
Movements in contract liabilities BHEEREE)
2024 2023
—E-E e
$°000 $000
F5T FiT
Balance as at 1 April WU B —HA% 1,005 3,312,486
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of RERMEDUW T S EX T A
recognising revenue during the year that FR=F =L =PE N
was included in the contract liabilities at
the beginning of the year (1,005) (3,311,481)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of  EFE R IHEY 2 WENE S
receiving deposits and instalments during DHFIESESNEEIEN
the year from sales of properties 24,937 -
Balance at 31 March R=B=+—H48 24,937 1,005
18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18. FEURBRFR K HfthFE U =R IE
2024 2023
“ETME 2T
$°000 $000
F5T FiT
Trade receivables (note (1) FEURBRTR (B2() 36,663 36,597
Less: Loss allowance B B IE R (131) (786)
36,532 35,811
Deposits, prepayments and e FENRIBER
other receivables HhpEUserIa 124,664 197,240
161,196 233,051
Note: E
0) Except for an amount of $11,396,000 (2023: $13,475,000) as at 31 (i) BEBEE_E_WE=ZB=+—HILHW
March 2024, which is expected to be recovered after one year, all 11,396,0007¢ (Z&=E - =4 : 13,475,0007T)
of the remaining balances are expected to be recovered within one B BE—FRIESN  FTE R REREETE
year. ST —FRUR[E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CRFFRIFERRIN  LUBTTH )

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 18. FEURBR TR HfthFEURTRIE (&)
The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables (net of loss BRRHASE RSB EWERR (0REE
allowance), based on invoice dates, is as follows: B NEREBR DU ¢
2024 2023
“EmE —EC=F
$°000 $000
FiT FT
Less than 1 month DR—EA 19,417 22,167
More than 1 month but less than 3 months HBE—EAELR=EAa 16,992 12,848
More than 3 months but less than 6 months BE=EAaBLRER - 67
More than é months Bia7<E A 123 729
36,532 35,811
The movement of the loss allowance during the year is as follows: FREBBEENESNNT
2024 2023
—EmE _EC=F
$000 $000
FiT FT
At 1 April REA—H 786 468
Impairment loss (reversal)/recognised (note 8(c)) (IB148) /FER R ER R
(H15%8(c)) (655) 318
At 31 March R=B=+—H 131 786
The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables (net of loss A SR 8 Bl B 2 B AR 7 B R E B FE U BR T8
allowance), based on past due date is as follows: REC DTN -
2024 2023
—E-WmE —E-=
$°000 $o00
FiT FT
Not yet past due R 19,417 22,167
Less than 1 month past due B OR—EA 11,421 6,179
Over 1 month but less than 3 months past due mEpEE—EAELK =@ 5,571 6,669
Over 3 months but less than 12 months past due  #HI=ERE/LH*+_@EH - 67
Over 12 months past due mHEAEBE+ /A 123 729
36,532 35,811
The Group generally grants trade customers with a credit term rEE—HKEBEZEREMIOKERRA-
of 30 days. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from BREERLONBASEREIN ZREBBESFR
customers. BEREFIREIKRR-

SEREEERERAR 20232458 11D



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CRFFRIFERRIN  LUBITET)

19. RESTRICTED AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS AND CASH  19. Z[RHI&R EBIEHERUKIRE KR

AND BANK BALANCES 1THEER
2024 2023
—E_NE —ET=F
$000 $000
FiT Fir
Cash and bank balances R& RIRITARRR 213,469 231,679
Fixed deposits EHIFER 353,952 380,122
867421 611,801 _
Less: B
Pledged deposits (note (i) EIRIBPER F0) (478,542) (371,043)
Restricted deposits (note (i) ZBREIERR (F23) (26,317) (15,324)
_ (504,859)  (386,367)
Cash and bank balances as stated in the SEEMBRAEXTANNIRE
consolidated statement of financial KRIRITHEGFMRIEEIRE
position and cash and cash equivalents MERNNIRER
as stated in the consolidated cash flow REEBY
statement 62,562 225,434
Notes: it
(i)  These balances represent bank deposits pledged to secure banks (i) HEERIERITEREEAERERERTE
loans of the Group (see note 21(a)). AHIEE (BHIEE21()) ©
(i)  These balances represent proceeds received from sales of (i) HCEERISHEMEMSREBEEAEEN
properties which was deposited into a designated bank account. IRITIRP oz BEANRZEREBZ
The use of these deposits are limited to settle payments for BEE MMEEERAIRRETERNF
construction cost, interest and repayment of secured bank loans BRAE -

corresponding to that property project.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SFEMBERRIE @)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTHIT)

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

20. FE(IERFMR B H M (I RIE

2024 2023

“EmE TET=F

$’000 $000

Fz FT

Trade payables FETBRTX 60,865 47,377
Other payables and accrued charges Hih R IB R EsT & A 54,725 55,439
Rental and other deposits (note (i) e R EMIZE G0) 4,810 4,650
Rent receipts in advance FEUFE & 8,159 9,268
Retentions payables (rote (i) FE(S R B RRIA (FE(1i) 38,664 81,171
167,223 197,905

(i) Except as disclosed in notes (i) and (iii) below, all of the trade and
other payables are expected to be settled within one year.

(i) Except for an amount of $4,270,000 (2023: $4,110,000) as at
31 March 2024, which is expected to be settled after one year, all of
the remaining balances are expected to be settled within one year.

(i) Except for an amount of $10,776,000 (2023: $23,826,000) as at
31 March 2024, which is expected to be settled after one year, all of
the remaining balances are expected to be settled within one year.

The ageing analysis of the Group's trade payables, based on
invoice dates, is as follows:

(iif)

PR T XM SE(iD R (PR IR BB & 5 > PR FEAY
R B (S RRIATRE I I — FE A S ©

MBEE_E_NE=BA=+—H1H
4,270,0007C (ZZ2 = =4 : 4,110,0007T) 78
sHEE—FREBIN B FIREREEES
BE—ERLES-

HE_Z_NWE=B=+—H1kt R\t
— FB4EN10,776,00070 (ZEZ=4:
23,826,0007T) 4 > Fr 8 TR BR 2B TB TS 1
—EREEE

RFZETZ LA EAE BRI RNBRE

Less than 1 month

More than 1 month but less than 3 months
More than 3 months but less than 6 months

DU
2024 2023
—EZME ==
$°000 $°000
FiT FiT
DR —@EA 27,616 29,486
BE—EAEL K=/ 27,077 17,753
BE={EBB/LN/NER 6,172 138
60,865 47,377
EREmZRERAT 20232458 117



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(FRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

21. BANK LOANS 21. IRITEM
2024 2023
—ETME ==
$’000 $°000
FiT FT
Bank loans RITER
- Secured —HigE 5,754,284 4,571,450
- Unsecured — I 86,646 58,604
5,840,930 4,630,054
The bank loans are repayable as follows: IRITERBERUTFREE !
2024 2023
—EmE TET=F
$’000 $°000
FiT FT
Within 1 year or on demand and —FRFREREER
included in current liabilities FIARENBE - 1,657,064 770,948
After 1 year and included in —FRBRIAIFRBERE
non-current liabilities:
After 1 year but within 2 years —FBREMFR 227,046 858,835
After 2 years but within 5 years MEREBHEFNRN 3,804,179 2,673,541
After 5 years A& 152,641 326,730
4183866 . 3,859,106
5,840,930 4,630,054
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SFEMBERRIE @)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIFEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

21. BANK LOANS (continued) 21. iR

(@) At 31 March 2024, the bank loans bear interest ranging from (a)
3.55% to 7.55% (2023: 3.55% t0 5.96%) per annum and are
secured by the following assets:

TEM (&

AZE_WE=RBR=+—H"> fEﬁ
BRENEKA355%FE7.55% (ZF
=4 3.55%%F5.96%) o i A FHE
EVEEMR .

2024 2023

—EME = =

$’000 $ooo

FiT FT

Investment properties KREY% 5,950,000 4,594,220

Property, plant and equipment LY E R =YL 751,512 768,653
Financial assets at fair value through BAFESFAREMEE

other comprehensive income W2 &R E E 10,127 9,665

Inventories of properties MEEE 1,478,601 1,727,828

Pledged deposits BIRFEER 478,542 371,043

Trade receivables FEUBR R 35,741 19,755

Sundry deposits Hithizs 15,809 15,773

8,720,332 7,506,937

In addition, at 31 March 2024, the banking facilities of the
Group were secured by the following:

- assignment of project proceeds, project insurance
and fire insurance policies for certain construction
contracts in relation to certain banking facilities
granted to the Group with maximum amount of
$297,000,000 (2023: $300,000,000);

- assignment of all rentals and all other moneys,
sales proceeds and insurance over the investment
properties of the Group in relation to certain bank
loans granted to the Group with carrying amount of
$3,363,641,000 (2023: $2,630,000,000);

- assignment of sales proceeds and insurance over
the inventories of properties held for sales of the
Group in relation to certain bank loans granted to the
Group with carrying amount of $535,609,000 (2023:
$464,736,000); and

- share mortgages over the entire issued and paid-up
share capital of certain subsidiaries.

iR -—E2-WE=Z/A=+—08"
FEERRITRE DU TIIEE 1R
(o

= @%%%?L&A%EUIEEPE’E
FIE~TEB B ke N B fRBR EE
AREFERETIRTHE E
B =& 8E4297,000,0007T (Z=
— =4 :300,000,0007T) ;

- HIZEAEERKREVMENFBEMA
S RFIARIEHEFRERIEN
Fefrbe > @ NEREERETIRIT
B HIREEA3,363,641,000
7t (ZEZ = £ 1 2,630,000,000
TD) b)

— HEFAREENELIRTENR
EENEERRMNAERFE
BEREENMEFTENREN
5% > IR [ <& 28 4535,609,0007T
(T =4 1 464,736,0007T) ;
)54

- EHTHEBEARANEZHWERTK
BB R AR RRADIRIR

EREEZERERAT 202322588 119



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBERRIE @)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFERIEERRIN » LUBTTHIT)

21. BANK LOANS (continued)

(b)

Certain of the Group's banking facilities are subject to the
fulfilment of covenants relating to certain ratios as are
commonly found in lending arrangements with financial
institutions. If the Group were to breach the covenants, the
drawn down facilities would become repayable on demand.
The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these
covenants. As long as the Group complies these covenants,
it is considered that the respective drawn down facilities will
not be repaid on demand.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group was unable to meet certain
financial ratios under the relevant bank loan agreements of
certain bank loans. Such non-compliance of the covenants
may cause the relevant bank loans of $192,914,000 classified
as current liabilities to become immediately due and payable
should the lenders exercise their rights under the loan
agreements.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had not breached the

covenants under the loan agreement with banks.

Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk
are set out in note 29(b).

(o)
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21. SRTTEM (&

AEBETRITMEANESE T
RHRE 2 FLEE RN AR
BRI EM Lo A EEE R 2%
PRIGEN B BRE S B U BRI EREIE -
FEREREZEEBTZEFLENE
Mo RBAEBETHZELE IR
BMER T REBREE

R CECNE=HA=+—H '&xEE

FEFEETRITERZBHER
ENRTENE FTHBLEE - HEER
ANRIBEERBETHEEER BEAF
BT ER O EERERBIRTER
192,914,0007c BRI B B HR(E S ©

A _EBE_=F=A=+—H F&&EH
WEERRBRTERBZRER R

4t

DEO

FEESERHESRABNE—FT
15 E N HIEE29(D) ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTHIT)

22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 22. fTEERT A

2024 2023
“ETE BT
$000 $000
FiT Fir

Cash flow hedges: BEREHH:
interest rate swaps FMEREHEL 13,026 5,857

Represented by: Flm -

Current assets TMENEE 923 =
Non-current assets ERBEE 12,103 5,857
13,026 5,857

23.

(@ The notional principal amounts of derivative financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period

are as follows:

@)

REBSHRREENTESHRTIAMN
LEATEHROT

2024 2023

—E-NE —E=5F

$000 $000

FiT For

Interest rate swaps (note 29(c)(1) MEBEH (Wa229(0)0) 1,048,000 1,050,000

(b)  Derivative financial assets/liabilities represent the amounts
the Group would receive/pay if the positions were closed
at the end of the reporting period respectively. Derivative
financial instruments that did not qualify for hedge
accounting and their corresponding changes in fair values

have been recognised in the profit or l0ss.

(c) All derivative financial instruments qualified for hedge
accounting were deemed effective for cash flow hedge
purposes and no ineffective portion was recognised in profit
or loss for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

LOAN FROM ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY
The amount is unsecured, bearing interest at a rate of HSBC's
Hong Kong Dollar Best Lending Rate per annum, and repayable not

earlier than twelve months from the reporting date.

23.

(b)

TETMEE BEREAEBRMHNR
HHIR T AR IEL T HRRIE
A EERETG S HIFG AN
EEMIAREATENEREHE
FRIBm A FESD o

FRENEERETREREN PEE
ENTTEERMTASABREARE
ME RILIRAEMBOREET
EINERZEI=F=RF=+—H
IEFERm AR -

RERBERABZER

I SRR UEBEBRITETRE
BERENEHE WRRRREDBE
+ = {BA PEE-

EEREEIERBIR AT 2023/244F 4 121



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(FRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

24. SHARE CAPITAL 24. &
2024 2023
—E_ME "=
No. of No. of
shares Amount shares Amount
ROEE Fs L +5
‘000 $000 oo $000
FE F FER Fr
Ordinary shares of $0.01 each SREEITNEER
Authorised: EE
At 1 April and 31 March REB—HBKR=A=+—H 10,000,000 100,000 10,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BEIRAR
At 1 April REE—H 1,419,812 14,198 1,419,542 14,196
Shares issued upon exercise of IFRRERETNRN
share options (ote 33) (H3233) 410 4 270 2
At31 March R=A=+-H 1,420,222 14,202 1,419,812 14,198
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as EERFAARRBBARERNKE
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share TEEEARBIREAE LER—ENE
at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with ER NP EARBEGR TEEMSMAES
regard to the Company’s assets. BREZEREMAL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIFEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

25. RESERVES
(@ The Group
Details of the movements in the Group's reserves are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
The natures and purposes of reserves within equity are as
follows:

(i)  Share premium
The share premium account is governed by the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and may be
applied by the Company subject to the provisions, if
any, of its memorandum and articles of association
in paying distributions or dividends to equity
shareholders.

No distribution or dividend may be paid to the equity
shareholders out of the share premium account
unless immediately following the date on which the
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the
Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due
in the ordinary course of business.

(i) Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion
of the cumulative net change in the fair value of the
hedging instruments used in cash flow hedges pending
subsequent recognition of the hedged cash flow in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note
A(d).

(iij) Share option reserve
The share option reserve represents the cumulative
expenses recognised on the granting of share options
during the period.

(iv) Fair value reserve
The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative
net change in the fair value of equity investments
designated at FVOCI that are held at the end of the
reporting period (see note 4(h)(i)).

(v) Exchange reserve
The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies set out
in note 4(p).

25. #fE

(@) HTEE

KREBREBEEFF RN GEREE
RN ERmPEENTEE KRB
B

(N REE@EE
R aERAREFEQTE
RE ARF R A EmRR A
DK EBEFHEUREHEHMERS
A AARBESC (A) 8
B EER

PRIFEBREZMDREKRE
ERRAQATARAXINREE
EHPERANGES SRR ETH
B aEEAAERKRRS
RIS

(i) #AHERE
HHhREBEEERSRBYHMAR
BHAPTARAFENRGES
FENANE D UFERIRE
By SEA()FR 8 & 5T BURFERD B ¥
RIRERE

(iii) FERRIERHE
BRERGBERERRDBRE
BIBY R 5t fEs8R % °

(iv) RFlEGHE
AT ERBESERAFTESA
HMEEmBmREAKRER T
SRR AT EEHFER
(B sEAMN)D) ©

(v) SMEHE
SNEERER B IERIREBINET
WU BRREENERER &
1 178 4% BR B SEA (D) FIT 80 & 5T SR
BRIEo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(R¥55EERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

25. RESERVES (continued) 25. f#t&E (&)
(b) The Company (b) ARE
Share
Share option Retained
premium reserve profits Total
BinEE iR E R wst
$000 $000 $000 $000
i i i i

At 1 April 2022 RZE--_FNA—H 91,541 = 5,000 96,541
Profit and total comprehensive FERENR2EKE

income for the year - - 772,731 772,731
Dividend approved in respect BitEz LEERE

of the previous year - - (56,782) (56,782)
Dividend approved in respect BEZEFERE

of the current year - - (369,081) (369,081)
Share-based payment expenses MEmF ATz RS - 14,050 - 14,050
Share issted upon exercise of IFERRERETNRN

share options 1,392 (327) - 1,065
At 31 March 2023 and RZE-=#=R=+-A

1 April 2023 kRZE-=FMB—H 92,933 13,723 351,868 458,524
Loss and total comprehensive FEREREZENG

income for the year - - (9,032) (9,032)
Dividend approved in respect BEZ FEERE

of the previous year - - (284,024) (284,024)
Dividend approved in respect ElEZAEERE

of the current year - - (56,809) (56,809)
Transfer on lapse of share options HERERRMmER = (1,334) 1,334 =
Share-based payment expenses DA pA 3 - 11,631 - 11,631
Share issued upon exercise of TERRERZTHRG

share options 2,112 (497) - 1,615
At 31 March 2024 RZZ_ME=A=+-AH 95,045 23,523 3,337 121,905

At 31 March 2024, the aggregate amount of the Company's
reserves reached $121,905,000 (2023: $458,524,000),
whereas the reserves available for distribution to equity
shareholders of the Company, as calculated in accordance
with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the
Company's memorandum and articles of association, was
$98,382,000 (2023: $444,801,000).

RIE2E_MHFE=B=+—H>&RH
A 4REEA121,905,00070 (ZE =
£ © 458,524,0007T) » MIRIEHESHE
NEEM R A B 4R 4 E A2 KA B 4
AISTE DR T AL RRERE
Y {6 5 48 88 75 98,382,0007T (& - =
£ : 444,801,0007T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

CRFRIFEBRSN > LUBTTHIT)

26. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

26. ERATIRBRRR

POSITION
2024 2023
2T NE =5
Notes $°000 $000
Jiog=3 FiT FT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BEREE 42,775 52,856
Investment in subsidiaries KRERB AT -1 -
Loan to subsidiaries ERFHRB AR 1,498,190 1,186,914
Deferred tax assets R IEE B 9,630 9,495
Financial assets at FVTPL BANTFESFAER S
THMEE 10,476 9,591
_ 1561071 1,258,85%
Current assets RBEE
Loan to a subsidiary BRFHB AR 2,500 2,500
Prepayment and other receivables FE1T =R B Hofth FE U =R 1B 736,879 2 1,663,3262
Pledged deposits BIRFFER 357,737 266,081
Cash and bank balances B RIRTTA R 3,378 114,825
1100494 2,046,732
Current liabilities mENaRE
Other payables HMh e I8 8,257 3 441,1043
Bank loans IRITE®R 979,778 413,921
Loan from a subsidiary SN EYANEIR=EN 2,500 2,500
Lease liabilities HEaR& 6,047 4 5,847°¢
. 996,582 863372
Net current assets ngEEFE 103912 1,183,360
Total assets less current liabilities 2B EFRSEE 1,664,983 2,442,216

EEREEIERBIR AT 2023/244F 4 1 25



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFERIEERRIN » LUBTTHIT)

26. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL  26. =R ATBMBIRRER &)
POSITION (continued)

2024 2023
—E-ME —EC=HF
Notes $°000 $000
Hiat FT FT
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Bank loans IRITER 90,992 559,863
Loans from subsidiaries IENEI=EN 1,367,100 1,369,600
Loan from ultimate holding company HRERKZER AT ZER 36,800 -
Lease liabilities MHEaR& 33,9844 40,0314
- 1.528876 1,969,494
NET ASSETS BEFE 136,107 472,722
CAPITAL AND RESERVES & 2 B & 1
Share capital N 24 14,202 14,198
Reserves e 25(b) 121,905 458,524
TOTAL EQUITY sERERS 136,107 472,722
1 Less than $1,000. L /NFA1,0007T ©
2 Included in prepayments and other receivables are balances with g FENREMERRIECFELENNE QS
its subsidiaries of $735,882,000 (2023: $1,662,122,000). B #584735,882,00070 (ZE =4 :
1,662,122,0007T) °
3 Included in other payables are balances with its subsidiaries of $nil g HMEMNRIBEEENBABNGES | &
(2023: $440,552,000). (= =4 : 440,552,0007T) ©
4 Lease liabilities are balances with its subsidiaries of $40,031,000 4 HEaEARENB QR Z48740,031,0007T
(2023: $45,878,000). (ZEBEZ =41 45,878,0007T) ©
On behalf of the Board REREET
Chan Hung Ming Lau Chi wWah
FR¥LEA ZEE
Director Director
EF EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SFEMBERRIE @)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(FRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

27. SUBSIDIARIES 27. B AT
The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries UTHRARBEEAZEREEANES
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the BEREBEZHNBRABINFBE BREBFRR
Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise fesh FERMDERIEEER
stated.

Proportion of ownership interest

BEERELLH
Issued and
Place of fully paid
incorporation share capital/ Group's
or registration/ registered effective Held by the Held by a
Name of subsidiary operation capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activity
BRIk
EMBRIgER/ BREMRE/ b5 0] HEAF HEAR
WEARLIE BRI EER BEEE 8 HE IEXH
Able Business Development Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property development
BEERARAR Y 17 MELR
Dormax Limited Hong Kong $1 100% = 100%  Property development
SBERAR B 17t MEER
Dragon Mount Development Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property development
REEBERAR B 17T MEERE
Easton Development Limited Hong Kong $100 100% - 100%  Property holding
REERARAR Y 1007¢ MERE
Eson Development Limited Hong Kong $100 100% = 100%  Property holding
ERERERAT B 1007¢ MERE
Golden Ford Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property development
TEEERAR B 17T MEERE
Grand Build Development Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property development
ERNEERBRAF Y 17 MELR
Grand Tech Construction Hong Kong $5,000,000 100% = 100%  Construction
Company Limited
EREEERAT B 5,000,0007% BE
iTech Towers Data Centre Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Provision of data
Services Limited centre premises
and facilities
ERERBEROERAT e 17t RREERER L5
GBS
Marvellous Investments Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property holding
REREERAR B 17T MESE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBERRIE @)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CRFFRIFERRIN  LUBITET)

27. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 27. MBAT &
Proportion of ownership interest
BEERELLA
Issued and
Place of fully paid
incorporation share capital/ Group's
or registration/ registered effective Held by the Held by a
Name of subsidiary operation capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activity
BETR
AMmIRER BRkE/ TEE HEAR HHE A
EYNG Y B HMEX BERE 5B BE IE%B
Regal Development Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property development
REZERERAT &% 17T MEER
Swift Millions Limited Hong Kong $5,000 100% - 100%  Property development
ERERAT &5 5,0007 MERE
Top Regent Investments Limited Hong Kong $1 100% = 100%  Property holding
HFREEERAT e 17T MERE
Wellford Properties Limited Hong Kong $100 100% - 100%  Property investment
REBXERAT &% 1007¢ MELE
Winning Tech Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property investment
BEIBRAR &5 17T MERE
Guangxi Jiaming Property The PRC RMB32,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Development Co,, Ltd. **
EREHRMEREEREMCAT HE AR 32,000,000 MEER
Guangxi Jiagiaohui Investment The PRC RMB150,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Development Co,, Ltd. *#
EREHELEREBREMTLAT  HE AR #150,000,000 MERE
g wholly-foreign-owned enterprise * INEEERE
# the English name is direct translation of the Chinese name E BN LBABRMERXLE
28. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28. EXREERME
The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to AEEEEREANTEEBRARERE
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in FERENEN UAREBRNBREER
order to fund its construction business and property development UERMEZERIKEEBREES - AR
and investment projects, provide returns for shareholders and BEREMAMmEAERELR SR AN T UK
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital HRRENERRBLUBRBEARR A
structure to reduce the cost of capital.
The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital AEBITHRTHBRTREEEEALR
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder B MRS KRR (AIEABERS NG
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and FOKTE) ERRE R B AR I A SRV T B e fR PR
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position, ZEERE T wREKER RNEEHE
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes BEREEo

in economic conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SFEMBERRIE @)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIFEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

28. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Under the extract terms of the major bank facilities, the Group is
required to comply with the following financial covenants:

- consolidated tangible net worth shall not be less than
$1,200,000,000 to $2,500,000,000;

= the ratio of consolidated net borrowings to consolidated
tangible net worth shall not exceed 180% to 220%,

- consolidated EBITDA to consolidated finance charges shall
not be less than 2.0 times,

= net gearing ratio shall maintain at or below 1.5 times;
- current ratio shall maintain at or above 0.5 to 1.0 times;

- tangible net worth of certain subsidiaries shall not less than
$700,000,000 to $800,000,000; and

- EBITDA to finance charges of certain subsidiaries shall not
less than 1.8.

The compliance of the financial covenants are disclosed in
note 21(b).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s current ratio (defined as current
assets divided by current liabilities) was 1.18 times (2023: 2.12
times). The Group's net gearing ratio (defined as total interest-
bearing borrowings less cash and bank balances and restricted
and pledged deposits and divided by shareholders’ equity) was
approximately 179.8% (2023: approximately 134.8%).

28.

BEXEERRE (8
REZBROTBEGRDE 2 EBAE
SFIUTR524

- RBe BRI EE/N1,200,000,0007T
%2,500,000,0007T ;

BREERRSAINEEREZL
%Z_Eﬂ 0%1220%7

- REBRRENNE - TERBHEAE
R ES ﬁ?%)ﬂzttf\?d\ﬁ”\? 0
e .

- FEARBBEWEEEISEIUT ;
= RBENELERAEIFOSE1.0B T L L

- ETWBRAENBREERENNM
700,000,0007% £800,000,0007T 5 &

S :FW% TE’JK%%HIE %'JE ?ﬁ%

i .STE‘

MBRONGIRIBREM E21(0)KEE

A _WNEZ/A=+—H AEEANR
BLE CRBEERABAR) £1.18% (Z
TTZFI212(8) c AEBNIFEAAREL
X (E&RATEBENEERIRS RIRTAR
DR Z R & K EIR IR R BR A IR R R) 49
179.8% (ZZ =14 : #9134.8%) °

EREEZERERAT 20232258 129



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFERIEERRIN » LUBTTHIT)

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risks arises in the
normal course of the Group's business. The Group’'s exposure
to these risks and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these risks are described
below.

(@)

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and
bank deposits, financial assets at FVOCI, financial assets at
FVTPL, derivative financial instruments and trade and other
receivables. The Group maintains a defined credit policy
and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

Cash, including restricted and pledged deposit, are deposited
with financial institutions with sound credit ratings and the
Group has exposure limit for any single financial institution.
Transactions involving derivative financial instruments and
debt investments are with counterparties of sound credit
standing. Given their high credit ratings, management
does not expect any of these financial institutions and
counterparties will fail to meet their obligations.

Before entering into construction contracts, assessment
of the potential customers is carried out as part of the
acceptance procedures for the new contracts.

Regular review and follow-up actions are carried out on
overdue amounts of trade receivables from customers which
enable management to assess their recoverability and to
minimise the exposure to credit risk. Trade receivables are
due within 30 days from the date of billing. Normally, the
Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

In respect of rental income from leasing properties, rental
deposits are held to cover potential exposure to credit
risk. An ageing analysis of the receivables is prepared on a
regular basis and is closely monitored to minimise any credit
risk associated with these receivables. Adequate impairment
losses have been made for estimated irrecoverable amounts.

29. HHERAREEREMIAATE

AEBBBNEE RABESANXAR
DBDEAEBESEBBERETEE -AEE
ENZEZEBRUKRTERSEEZFRAR
PERANAY B 75 L B IR BUR R FE I T o

(@)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIFEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

@)

Credit risk (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has significant
concentration of credit risk in a few customers. In view
of their credit standing, good payment record and long-
established relationships with the Group, management
does not consider the Group’s credit risk to be significant.
At the end of the reporting period, 43% and 93% (2023: 6%
and 91%) of the total trade receivables were due from the
Group's largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.

The Group does not provide any other guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk as at 31 March 2024
and 2023.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the customers as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customers operate. The Group generally requires customers
to settle progress billings and retentions receivable in
accordance with contracted terms and other debts in
accordance with agreements.

@)

EEREEIERBIR AT 2023/244F 4

29. HHEAREEREMIAATE
(4&)

EERK &)

RBERR AERVETAEFEREE
AEEETREB - BREEETHR
RrS I hErcE@mMEINED
MR EEERALEEERNEE
BB AE K PRIREHER BUR
FHBEER D BIBA3%E93% (=
F 6N EBRAERRAEE
EARERFIE.

A CE_NER_EBE_=F=H
—t+t—H AEBTERHTTZE
AEFAZEERMRNEMIER

AEEHMAZRHEIEETENGER
A FFEEEN TR BENE
B se i AR ERIBISZIREST > 3L
EERERPRBEENUKREREER
EMPEERRE - AEEBEBEEXRE
FIREGHFRREEEERERER
REBERREBREEEMES-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e MBERRME &
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29. BMFERAGEEREMTAAFE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) €=
(@) Credit risk (continued) (@ 8RRk &

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLSs, which is calculated
using a provision matrix. As the Group's historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables:

FEREZESNERBRHEERGTEZ
FRAEREEEENERERW
RRZEREFR BARNEAERZBE
FEBRERITEMTRE R DER
TEANGRREAEZE  REAHRE
SHEZERERTIENRTIERTRAR
PERZBEE—FED

TREFARTERRBERTRNEE
R KRIAREEHRZEN !

2024
—TME
Expected Gross carrying Expected
loss rate amount credit losses
TR = IREEELE TRHEERE
(%) $000 $000
(%) Fr F
Trade receivables FEUL R TR
Not yet past due REHR 0.12% 19,441 (24)
Less than 1 month past due B DR —ER 0.57% 11,487 (66)
Over 1 month but less than mi —@EAaELr
3 months past due =1@8A 0.71% 5,611 (40)
Over 3 months but less than mEA=EAELIR
6 months past due ~NMEA 0.00% - -
Over 6 months but less than mEAEAELR
12 months past due +=@A 0.00% - -
Over 12 months past due mEg+—EA 0.81% 124 (1)
36,663 (131)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CRFFRIFERRIN  LUBTTH )

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29. MERAMEEREMTIAATE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (%
(@) Credit risk (continued) @ EEERMKE #E)
2023
_EC=F
Expected Gross carrying Expected
loss rate amount credit losses
SELI Gp R FREEEEE BREERE
(%) $000 $000
(%) FT FT
Trade receivables FE U BR =R
Not yet past due R 0.19% 22,210 (43)
Less than 1 month past due g DR —EA 4.41% 6,464 (285)
Over 1 month but less than mEA—EAELR
3 months past due =ER 5.62% 7,066 (397)
Over 3 months but less than mEA=EAELR
6 months past due NMEA 6.94% 72 ()
Over 6 months but less than mEgREAELR
12 months past due +ZEA 0.00% - -
Over 12 months past due mi+ @A 7.13% 785 (56)
36,597 (786)
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience BB IEERIBAT =-FNEREIE
over the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect RKEFEH ZELEED FHABURM
differences between economic conditions during the period EUWEBFEIRIAE R 2 8B/
over which the historic data has been collected, current BRI A RN EEREWRZRZ FBIAF
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions HRNZRBER I BERZENER -

over the expected lives of the receivables.

Trade receivables that were not yet past due and contract B 4 280 2R 7 R (B BV B WGBS K i
assets within retention terms relates to customers for whom R B ERR A BY FE U AR BB AR IB A 3L 2R I
there was no recent history of default. EENCEENEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFERIEERRIN » LUBTTHIT)

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

€)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables that were past due relate to a number of
customers that have a good track record with the Group.
These receivables mainly relate to tenants of property
leasing. Based on past experience, management believes
that there has not been a significant change in credit quality
and the balances are not credit impaired. Except for rental
deposits for Data Centres, the Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade
receivables during the year is as follows:

@)

29. HHERAREEREMIAATE
&

EEER (&

B HA{B SRR (B BY FE Ik B S T B K
EEARFEARCHNERER &
ERUREZANYEEEZRR
REBEBTRER BEEEIRBEAMZ
SHERFHRAERE REREEE
R EBEREE  BZFEHDRR
PR HURE - BREUET ONE TR
T FEBUERZEFERTEE
I35 R & o

FRAERBUIRMBIEG R FHIRED
mE

2024 2023
—E-ME 2=

$°000 $000

FT F7T

At 1 April ROEA—H 786 468
Impairment loss (reversal)/recognised FERNE (O HER2

during the year AEEE (655) 318

At 31 March R=B=+—H 131 786

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and other
receivables are set out in note 18.

Liquidity risk

Individual subsidiaries within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the raising of
loans to cover the expected cash demands, subject to
approval by the Company’s board of directors. The Group's
policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants,
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed funding lines from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(FRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29. MHERAMEEREMTAAFE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) #)

(b) Liquidity risk (continuea) (b) REEEZRERE (&)
The following table details the remaining contractual DUFSIRFIIAERE Z ERIE BN ]R
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the SHRGBTEOERBER L RE
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual BHXRBIIRSRE (BEEREOF=E
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments (W% E - BRI S HARMIRTT
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on FE) HTEBFENAR) AL
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the ERTHRHVRFEEAMESY

earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BNRBRRETR

More than  More than

Within 1 year but 2 years but
1yearor lessthan  lessthan More than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount

—-ERyg 0L mENE
BRER (EmEMR ERENR  EENE Mgt REfE

S0 000 S0 S0 So00 $000
7 7 7 7 i i
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=RA=+-H
Bank loans RTER 1,926,255 397,040 4,165,029 199,956 6,688,280 5,840,930
Trade payables, other payablesand  FEfTERF EHEMTUE
accrued charges REHER 116,130 2,100 1,460 710 120,400 120,400
Retentions payables EREDE 27,888 1,355 6,774 2,647 38,664 38,664
Loan from ultimate holding company  RERKZR AT 2 EH 2,162 2,162 38,358 - 42,682 36,800
2,072,435 402,657 4,211,621 203,313 6,890,026 6,036,794
At 31 March 2023 RZBZ=f=RA=+-H
Bank loans RITER 925,472 909988 2,825,609 304599 5005668 4,630,054
Trade payables, other payablesand  FEfTERF E BT FUE
accrued charges R ER 103,356 - 3,560 550 107,466 107,466
Retentions payables ENRETE 57,345 23,345 5 476 81171 81,171

1,086,173 933333 2829174 35625 5194305 4,818,691
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBERRIE @)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(PRFFERIEERRIN » LUBTTHIT)

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(€)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the
impact of rates changes on interest-bearing borrowings
which predominantly bear floating interest rates. The Group
monitors closely its interest rate exposure and the level of
fixed rate and floating rate borrowing and considers hedging
interest rate exposure should the need arise. The Group's
interest rate profile as monitored by management is set out
in (i) below.

The interest rates and terms of repayment of interest-
bearing borrowings of the Group are disclosed in note 21
and note 23 to the financial statements.

() Hedging

Interest rate swaps, denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
have been entered into to achieve an appropriate mix
of fixed and floating rate (mainly Hong Kong Interbank
Offer Rate) exposure which was consistent with the
Group’s policy. At 31 March 2024, the Group had
interest rate swaps with a notional principal amount
of $1,048,000,000 (2023: $1,050,000,000), which it has
designated as cash flow hedges of the interest rate
risk inherent in its variable rate bank borrowings. At
31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have any
interest rate swaps which were not designated as cash
flow hedging instruments.

The swaps will mature over the next one to two years
and have fixed swap rates ranging from 1.3% to 3.4%
(2023: 1.3% to 3.4%). The net fair value of swaps
contracts entered into by the Group at 31 March 2024
was $13,026,000 (2023: $5,857,000). These amounts
are recognised as derivative financial instruments (see
note 22).

(€)
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REIHEXRFR -AEEEYEREEH
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KRIERE T (i) °

AEE G BERIF ERERERR
BA S IR R M 5210237 4 B8 o

(i) #HHA
REBBE L UB T ENF
KIFHEN WERTEAE
EBRENBEERTERIHER
AEAS R _E_ME=8
—t+—A AERBFELREEL
% %81,048,000,00070 (ZEZ=
£ 1 1,050,000,0007T) K H) =42
HEH IEEAEFBIRITHER
ATEFER RIS REEH o
A TETNERCE T ZEZ
BZ+—RB ' xERTEFET
AEEEAERESREN ML
BRI Ei 549

HHENBERRRHTEARNZE
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

29. BHAREEREMIAATE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6=}
(c) Interest rate risk (continued) (0 FMERE &
(i) Interest rate profile (i) FFEHE
The following table details the interest rate profile of TRFANFRIEEARERE
the Group’s net borrowings (as defined above) at the HATENFEXRRASONE
end of the reporting period, after taking into account B AEBRRBRESHERNME
the effect of interest rate swaps designated as cash TEETEERLOMNEXRER
flow hedging instruments (see (i) above). (B _Ex() -
2024 2023
—ECmE ey
Weighted Weighted
average average
effective effective
interest rate Amount interest rate Amount
BRA= &8 EIES E
% $000 % $000
F7 Fr
Net fixed rate borrowings: & B34
Bank loans RITER 5.41% 1,048,000 3.37% 1,050,000
Variable rate borrowings:  ZE(fE:h
Bank loans RITER 6.80% 4,790,930 5.00% 3,580,054
Loan from ultimate holding RERRERRAZER
company 5.88% 36,800 N/A -
4,827,730 3,580,054
Total net borrowings MERRE 5,875,730 4,630,054
Net fixed rate borrowings as & BEFUFERIGEER
a percentage of total net FENENT
borrowings 17.84% 22.68%
(iii) Sensitivity analysis (i) SREZHT

At 31 March 2024, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would have
increased/decreased the Group's profit for the year
and total equity by approximately $40,312,000 (2023:
$29,893,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk
for borrowings made by the Group which were not
hedged by interest rate swap contracts. The analysis
has been performed on the same basis as for the year
2023.

ATETNE=Z/=+—H" 14
SRR BEEE EF R /D 1001E £
B MErAE B SRS g
7 £ B £F 79 35 A R 48 R A L
‘b /1 IN#940,312,0007T (Z &
— =4 1 29,893,0007T) ©

B LR 5 AT T R R
BED B E IR TR
it B A A SR e B
BEK 2 ERNAEAR
e B =EANRAREE
7o

EEREEIERBIR AT 2023/244F 4 1 37



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(d) Foreign currency risk
The Group’s presentation currency is the Hong Kong dollars.
The Group's cash at bank and on hand were denominated in
Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi.

The Group has not hedged the foreign currency exposure
in relation to financial statement items denominated in
Renminbi.

(i)  Exposure to currency risk
The following table details the Group’s exposure at
the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising
from recognised assets denominated in a currency
other than the function currency of the entity to which

(d)

29. HHERAREEREMIAATE
(4=

SN LBz
FERNZINEERBE AEEH
RITREFREUBEHARES
=0

FEBTEHNPUAREHERNTF
WRIRE RN R

() EEEEERE
TREMITTEEBN RS
HARANREBRE BRI
ERLUONNERSHENERS
BEEMAERNEEEL-

they relate.
Exposure to
foreign currencies - Renminbi

SpEEREBE— AR EE
2024 2023
—E-@OF TEI=HF
$°000 $000
FiT FT
Pledged deposits BIREFER 345,719 351,435

(ii)  Sensitivity analysis
The following table indicates the approximate change
in the Group's profit for the year (and retained profits)
and other components of consolidated equity in
response to reasonably possible changes in the foreign
exchange rates to which the Group has significant
exposure at the end of the reporting period.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

(d)

Foreign currency risk (continued)
(ii)  Sensitivity analysis (continued)

29. HHEAREEREMIAATE

#
(d)

IS LB

(#)

(i) BEREDH (E)

2024 2023

“EImE “ET=
Effect on Effect on
Increase/ profit for Increase/ profit for
decrease the year decrease the year
in foreign and in foreign and
exchange retained exchange retained
rates profits rates profits
HEEGN R %Eﬁé?ﬁ‘&
#m,/ Ho eyl g,/ w pagil
SNEEE MEE SMNEEZR _M g
% $000 % $000
B F7 Bt FT
Renminbi ARE +1-5% +/-14,434 +1-5% +/-14,672

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on the Group entities” profit for the year measured in
the respective functional currencies, translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rate ruling at the
end of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change
in foreign exchange rates had been applied to
re-measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period. The analysis
excludes differences that would result from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations into the Group's presentation currency. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2023.

ERFSIDMAERBLUBINEE
ERGENHAERBERFE
A BY BN B 22 BB BE AR > TR R
SHARNEXRBRESEBTER
BETER

BRESHTBREEBNES
HARFENEAE@mEERINE
ARNERTECERERS
EETENE LD A EIE
A EBINEFNMBRERILE
ARERFNREEMEENE
F o 2023FEM DB EARNE
B EETR e
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29. MERAMEEREMTIAATE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) #E
(e) Fair value measurement (e) ~AFEFE
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i) HRAFEHAENETHEERE

value &
Fair value hierarchy R EEFR
The following table presents the fair value of the TREVNAEESR T AN
Group’s financial instruments measured at the end of EHARELBEMHEESEN A
the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised TE MR E B BREEEL]
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined 135 AFEEFENEEDS
in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level —EAAFEER LNFEFES
into which a fair value measurement is classified ML 2REEFMATBEEN
is determined with reference to the observability AlREMMEEE25ENT

and significance of the inputs used in the valuation

technigue as follows:

Level 1 valuations

E—RIEE

Level 2 valuations

B _MREE

Level 3 valuations
B REE

Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.
EERE—REBEFENATE IR EHRTIEMBEEREEXNEER
KRR E o

Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available.

FAEZRBEFAENAFE IR EE— AN RREERABFRARIHE
ENEEHG - N ERREURLIERZIEMIHER NS -

Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs.
FERATARENEEFIR S EN AT E-
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29.
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)
(e) Fair value measurement (continued)
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

MERBEEREMIAATE
=
e) AT{EFE (#)
(i) BAFEFNEHNEHEERE
" (&
A TEER &

Fair value measurement categorised into

AREHENES
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
AR 54 B BZh
$000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fir F Fr FT
As at 31 March 2024 RZZE-ME=BA=+—H
Assets BE
Derivative financial instruments  fT4£ 2RI E—FXEHEH
- Interest rate swaps 13,026 - 13,026 -
Financial assets at FVOC| BATESARMZERR
JERMEE 10,127 - 10,127 -
Financial assets at FVTPL BATENABHZSHEE 10,476 - 10,476 -
As at 31 March 2023 RZEZ=%=F=+—H
Assets BE
Derivative financial instruments  fT4E 2RI E-FXEEHEH
- Interest rate swaps 5,857 = 5,857 =
Financial assets at FVOC| BATESAHMZERR
JEREE 9,665 - 9,665 -
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEHABRZEHEE 9,591 - 9,591 -

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2,
or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy
is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which
they occurred.

BE_Z_MERZZE_=F
ZA=+—HLEE 5Kk
BRO R EAEEE TRR
BERE=ZMHNBAHEH KEH
HRBEIRETREHMRAFE
FME Rz EEENERE-
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(e) Fair value measurement (continueq)

(i)

(ii)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair
value measurements

The fair value of financial assets at FVOCI is based
on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period without any deduction for transaction costs.

The fair value of assets at FVTPL is based on the cash
value priced by external and independent parties at
the end of the reporting period.

The fair value of interest rate swaps are determined
by applying the discounted cash flow method. It is
calculated as the present value of the estimated
future cash flow that the Group would receive or pay
of each swap at the each payment date based on the
observable yield curves.

Fair values of financial instruments carried at
other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the
Company's financial instruments carried at amortised
cost are not materially different from their fair values
as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

&

29. HHERAREEREMIAATE

) AFEE (E

(i)

(ii)
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30. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 30. EXRKIE
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March 2024 and 2023 RIEWERZE=F=F=+—H
not provided for in the consolidated financial statements were as ABEEGREUBRRBE CERRKENT
follows:
2024 2023
—E-mE —E=f
$’000 $o00
FiT FT
Development of investment properties EREEYE 1,086,364 2,046,067
31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 31. HAEE
At 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Company did not have any RIE_NMER_E_ZFE=F=+—
material contingent liabilities. B> AARLEmEARHAEE

32. NOTES SUPPORTING CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 32. iS4 naERMNMs
STATEMENT

(@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (@) HREEHESEBEYOIE .
2024 2023
—E-mE —EC=F
$’000 $000
FiT FT
Cash available on demand BERAEFARE 62,562 225,434
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32. NOTES SUPPORTING CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 32. X 4&EZaRERERNME &

STATEMENT (continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) MEFBEENEEHERAOT :
activities:
Loan from
ultimate
holding Dividend
Bank loan company payable
. RERRER
RITEMR  REZER PR B
(note 21) (note 23) (note)
(Hiz221) (#5223) ()
$000 $000 $000
FT Fir Fir
At 1 April 2022 N_E-__F£M"A—AH 4,906,937 = 27
Changes from financing cash flows: MEFRESREZ S8 !
Proceeds from bank loans RITERASTUR 1,606,238 = =
Repayments of bank loans BIERITER (1,883,121) - -
Interest and other borrowing cost paid BIH EMEMERLE (182,700) - -
Dividend paid EURE = = (425,853)
Total changes from financing cash flows RERERE LR (459,583) - (425,853)
Other change: E{hEE)
Interest expenses FEZH 182,700 - -
Dividend declared BIRE - - 425,863
182,700 - 425,863
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZEZ=%=H=+—H
R-E-_=FNB—H 4,630,054 37
Changes from financing cash flows: MEREREZEH) !
Proceeds from bank loans RITERMASEA 2,162,403 - -
Proceeds from loan from ultimate holding ~ ZREBKRER AT ER
company Fr {3 RUE - 36,800 -
Repayments of bank loans BERITER (951,527) - -
Interests paid EAFE (359,494) (505) -
Dividend paid BRRE - — (340,842)
Total changes from financing cash flows RERENEZ BEREE 851,382 36,295 (340,842)
Other change: HEE) .
Interest expenses FESH 359,494 505 =
Dividend declared FIREE - - 340,833
359,494 505 340,833
At 31 March 2024 R_E_MNFE=RA=+—H 5,840,930 36,800 28
Note: it
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, dividend payable was included KRERR _E_NFR-ZZE-=F=H
in other payables and accrued charges (note 20) amounting to =+—HMNEMEMNRERESER (M
$28,000 and $37,000 respectively. 5£20) W43 5l £13528,0007T B237,00070 B9 FE

TS -
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 33. HERGHESTE
In order to provide incentives or rewards to eligible participants to RYBRREBEEBALTHAEREBE
contribute to the long term success of the business of the Group, ENRMERER  ARBNRZE—=
the Company adopted a share option scheme on 23 July 2013 +tBA-+=H ?%ME%E%&E%%U (r% sHE) ©
(the "Old Scheme”). The Old Scheme was valid and effective for EEREAZBAIHEREZZE—=4tA
a period of 10 years from 23 July 2013 and had expired on 23 July “t+=BEA8H+5 ﬂﬁEﬁ’f: T =&
2023. Upon its expiry, no further options were granted. tAZ+=HER ZBRETEIE WS
BimE— IR ERE
As at 31 March 2024, 15,280,000 options are outstanding under RZZ_MNFE=B=+—H REEZ
the Old Scheme. 15,280,00017 f B 1 18 SR AT feb o
Details of movements of the options granted under the Old BE_ZNGERZEI=F=A=+—
Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 are BIEFERIBESERHNBREZEE)
shown below: BT
Number of share options
RREgE
Balance Granted Lapsed Exercised Balance

Name or category asat  duringthe  duringthe  during the as at
of grantees Date of grant  Exercise price Exercise period 1 April 2023 year year year 31 March 2024

RZEZZF R-E-mF
RRABLRE btk R 7 mA—H ERRL ERFEE ERfTE =ZB=+-H

(HKS)
(E7)
Executive directors:
#iTEs:
éaliChl Wah 15112/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
i U/b\ﬁ
Kwan Wing Wo 15/12/2022 39 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
Bk
Tsan% Ka Man 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 1,000,000 = = = 1,000,000
EL
Sub-total 3,000,000 - - = 3,000,000
Gt
Independent
non-executive directors:

BUFHES:
%sui Ka Wah 151212022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 200,000 - - - 200,000
Ka;%au Wo 15112/2022 39 1512/2022-14/12/2032 200,000 = = = 200,000
BRA
Lee Chung Yiu Johnny 15112/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 200,000 - - - 200,000
IRE
Sub-total 3,600,000 - - - 3,600,000
NG
Employees:
B&:
In aggregate 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 5,030,000 - (640,000) (410,000) 3,980,000
= 11/1/2023 6.04 11/1/2024-10/1/2033 8,000,000 - (300,000) = 7,700,000
Sub-total 13,030,000 = (940,000) (410,000) 11,680,000
1\GE
Et_g:l 16,630,000 - (940,000) (410,000) 15,280,000
AN
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 33. HERESE (&)
Number of share options
fletEHe
Cancelled/
Balance Granted lapsed Exercised Balance
Name or category asat  during the during  during the as at
of grantees Date of grant  Exercise price Exercise period 1 Apr 2022 year the year year 31March 2023
/ \ Bog-Z o s
ERABRHE i) A i mA—H FRRL P3| EQfTE ZA=1+-H
(HKS)
(#7)
Executive directors:
#iTEs:
Lau ChiWah 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Kwan Wing Wo 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
BA
Tsang Ka Man 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 = 1,000,000 = = 1,000,000
RS
Sub-total - 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
G
Independent
non-executive directors:
BUFHITES:
Tsui Ka Wah 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 = 200,000 = = 200,000
Kan YauWo 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 - 200,000 - - 200,000
R
Lee Chung Yiu Johnny 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 - 200,000 - - 200,000
Sub-total - 600,000 - - 600,000
It
Employees:
fE&:
In aggregate 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 = 5,300,000 = (270,000) 5,030,000
at 11/1/2023 6.04 11/1/2024-10/1/2033 - 8,300,000 (300,000) - 8,000,000
Sub-total - 13,600,000 (300,000) (270,0000 13,030,000
G
Total = 17,200,000 (300,000) (2700000 16,630,000
af
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 33. BRREHD @)

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 4 August 2023, the Company’s
new share option scheme (the “New Scheme”) was adopted.
The New Scheme is valid and effective for a term of 10 years
commencing on 4 August 2023. Under the New Scheme, the
Board may, at its own discretion, grant options to any full-time or
part-time employees, executive, officers and directors (including
non-executive and independent non-executive directors) of the
Company and any of its subsidiaries.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the New Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the total number of shares in issue on the date of approval
for adoption of the New Scheme, being 142,012,234 shares (the
“Scheme Limit"). Subject to Shareholders’ approval in general
meeting, the Board may (i) renew this limit at any time to 10%
of the shares in issue as at the date of the approval by the
Shareholders in general meeting; and/or (i) grant options beyond
the Scheme Limit to eligible participants specifically identified by
the Board.

The total number of shares issuable upon exercise of the options
granted under the New Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company to each eligible participant in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Any
further grant of options is subject to Shareholders’ approval in
general meeting with such eligible participant and his associates
abstaining from voting.

Options granted under the New Scheme may be exercised in
whole or in part at any time during the period commencing on
the date of acceptance of the options granted and expiring at the
close of business on such day as the Board may determine when
granting the option but in any event not exceeding ten (10) years
from date of grant of such options subject to the provisions of
early termination thereof.

RE_E_=F \ANERTHNERTR
REBFARGBBENEBREZR  FQFH
fERR ST EI (THREHED) EERM - FEtEI8
“EC-F N\REUBESAMTE -RE
WMEtE > EFERBETREREAEBN
FEES BHRBE - TTHRABULERF
KRB ARES (BEIFRITRBILIFNIT
B%) -

IRIBH 5T 8 R A A B A E B R i 51 2
AFRENBRERTRERD aHRS
BB ERMN = EE B EETRD
4EHAY10% > B1142,012,234088 8319 (TE+ 2R
) oWMEERFENREASG LA BS
SO()EREMILIREEZREAG LE
RERHLES HEBTIRIDEI10%; K2
RE@BAtERENERETESIIET
HNEBERBHEE

REA+ZEARHE BRaBERKRSEE
IR 5T Bl R AR BME R E BB IR ST 2
ERNBREETERMAY T HTHRND
B TRBBEETRMN % - EAE—
TREBREAGTRINKRRAG LitE
BEZGER2AEREMBABERER
FEIEE -

st BMR R ZRR T BREPINES
FHENREE kBN AFE A Z B AN E
REHREOITE EEBBEBISESR
BEBRERDASES 105 WAR
T8 2 IR BRI IR PR RRR ©
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 33. BBiREHE @)

A consideration of $1.0 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an
option. Offers to grant an option shall be open for acceptance for
a period of up to 30 days from the date of grant (the “Acceptance
Period”) provided that no such offer shall be open for acceptance
after the expiry of the period of the New Share Option Scheme or
after the New Share Option Scheme has been terminated. An offer
of the grant of options not accepted within the Acceptance Period
shall lapse. Pursuant to the New Scheme, the participants may
subscribe for the shares of the Company on exercise of an option
at the price determined by the Board provided that it shall be at
least the highest of: () the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of grant,
which must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing prices
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Share.

Since the adoption of the New Scheme and up to the reporting
date, no share options have been granted by the Company under
the New Scheme.

The fair value of share options granted to eligible participants
is recognised as staff costs with a corresponding increase in
share option reserve within equity. The fair value is measured
at grant date using the Binomial model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.
Where the eligible participants have to meet vesting conditions
before becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread over the vesting
period, taking into account the probability that the options will
vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited
to the statement of profit or loss for the year of the review, unless
the original staff costs qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve. On vesting
date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the share option reserve) except where forfeiture
is only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the
market price of the Company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the share option reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is included in the amount recognised in share
capital for the shares issued) or the option expires (when it is
released directly to retained profits).

PR PRI B B BB AR R A2 1.07T I
B-HEBREZEZOABR G B ES
%300 A3 (THR4RHA) MRl i A
R AR 51 B HAPR & ST 5T BU AR AR L
BN EEM - REAPARRERMR
LB BAIR SR - REMTE 2
HEIRTEBRERNRESIEEHE
BRBBEAT RN EZERAR/ERT
JRBE (RONNRELBAH WAREE
H) EXFr & BB R ROIUHE (i)
RONEBRHBPN A EZEXHEBR
PR BIRERPIROVTHWTHE ; Kk
PREE-

BRWHMETEIBERS B AR BAHE
IR 5T 8% L BB AR 0 1A

RTAERSEENBEREATERSDS
B4 BmAZ EREFEERIEM-
ZATFETHFRAZRIVER IR H B HK
Z 8 1R B IR P AR 3R BY A R e AR £ 5t
EB-GERSEERALMERBIRMG 5
BRGTEERE ABREZGS AT
ERETEBHEANDE Lt kERE
B BRI BENE ©

REBHEREEERABENERER
Bo-RIFRAEEIMASERBEIREE
BARBEEEERINEMRS R FER
ERORE /SIASREENBDR I
REREERERE -INEEH I BEE
sO Ay Sz B 2R 0 LU PR BB R R & A BB AR
BB MBRERETIAMRBE IRIF
ER B ERER AN RN D EEREE
BIRAMRU - REam AN BRE AR
B EEBRBESE Bt AB#HTRD
RRARRD ¢8RE) BRERR BNE
HEERBENE)
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 33. BEIRHEstE (&)

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted on 15 December 2022 and 11 January 2023 is measured
by reference to the fair value of share options granted. The fair
value of the share options is measured using a binomial model
as at the date of grant. Such fair values are subject to a number
of limitations, due to the subjective nature of and uncertainty
relating to a number of assumptions under the binomial model.
The assumptions used in the valuation of the share options have
been disclosed below. The contractual life of the share option is
used as an input into this model. Expectations of early exercise are
incorporated into the model.

ER T _F+A+AHMZZE=
FE—B+—HIRHBREMESRENA
FETL2BREREERENAFEFE
EREERENATELVRZRHEHBUZIE
AREHE-HRNERZBEABRE I RS
BRFZ FEFHEERTREEERRZ BX
ZATESEZIERS - BREGBEPRE
BFHNRIBENR TXRE BRESHER
FUILEBE R AE—IE6H A 2K - FBHRIR AT
TEMAZIEER o

Share options granted on

FERR IR

15 December 11 January

2022 2023

—E_C CEC=4F

+=ZB+&H —B+—H

Share price at date of grant (HK$) % H HERRE CEr) 3.95 6.00

Expected volatility TEHRR I8 31.91% 32.81%

Dividend vield A% B UL = 2.53% 1.67%

Risk-free interest rate # B f F) =1 3.22% 3.35%

Fair value at date of grant (HK$) RigH BN A FE (Br) 1.212 1.862

Exercise price (HK$) 1T16& C&) 3.95 6.04
The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility, which is T8 HB K 18 T IR R FE SRR 08 0 1 BB AR Y 0
calculated based on the weighted average remaining life of the BT HFGRFERFE KA AR EENS

share option and adjusted for any expected changes to future
volatility based on publicly available information. The expected
dividend yield is based on the dividend payout in the previous year
and the average share price in the preceding year.

The fair value of share options granted during the year ended
31 March 2023 was approximately $25,681,000, in which the fair
values of share options granted to Directors and employees were
$4,362,000 and $21,319,000 respectively.

The share-based payments of approximately $11,631,000 (2023:
$14,050,000) is charged to the profit or loss for the year ended
31 March 2024.

R IE R FRER BN 1 L 5 28 o TEHA
BREXENR F—FZMHNKRER E—FN
FHREE-

RBEE_ZTE=F=B=+—HIEFEH
% H A BB IR HE 2 A B 4925,681,0007T
HPRFTEEREEZEREQATFED
#94,362,00070 K& #921,319,0007T °

DR MR 22 4911,631,0007t (=
L~ =4 :14,050,00070) st AR E _Z Y
FZB=+—HIEFENEHE
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34. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34.

(@ In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in this consolidated financial statement, the

EARBE RS
@ BFEEEYBRREMIBOFTNERN
RB IR BEBPRFRAREE]

Group entered into the following transactions with related UEMEARMEEBGIZS :
parties:
2024 2023

—E-NE —EC=HF
Related party relationship Type of transaction $°000 $°000
Bkl ke X SHER FiT Foo
An associate of a director Sales of properties - 17,333*
—REEZBEA HEYZE
Ultimate holding company Interest expenses 505 =
R AT FMEXZH
* include sale of a residential unit at a consideration of $15.33 i BELE—EETEEMN - RES

million, where the formal agreement for sale and purchase
was entered into in June 2021 and the transaction was
completed in April 2022 with the corresponding revenue
being recognised in FY 2022/23. Details of this transaction
had been disclosed in the Company's 2021/22 annual report.

(b)  Remuneration of key management personnel, including
amounts paid to the directors as disclosed in note 11 and
the highest paid individuals as disclosed in note 12, is as

15338 EXREBEWHZ N -2
T—EXBE:_E-__&£mKmA
SRR 5 0 B IR &= 7R 522022/23
FERBRID - RFZHBEREAQT
2021/22F NI EE ©

by EE2EBRASHFM (BEMEIR
BENEENZER KNF12KRER
SEEIALD W

follows:

2024 2023
—E-ME BT =

$’000 $°000
FiT FIT
Short-term employee benefits RHREEF 18,270 21,237
Share-based payment expenses IR A= ZHAX = 5,574
Post-employment benefits BIREF 90 86
18,360 26,897
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIFEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

34.

35.

36.

37.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b) Remuneration of key management personnel, including
amounts paid to the directors as disclosed in note 11 and
the highest paid individuals as disclosed in note 12, is as
follows: (continued)

The related party transactions in respect of the remuneration
of directors and chief executives of the Company constitute
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. However, these transactions are exempt from
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The related party transactions in respect of the remuneration
of key management personnel (other than directors and
chief executives) of the Company did not fall under the
definition of connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

IMMEDIATE PARENT AND ULTIMATE HOLDING
COMPANY

At 31 March 2024, the directors consider the immediate parent
and ultimate holding company of the Group to be Chan HM
Company Limited, which is incorporated in the BVI. This entity
does not produce financial statements available for public use.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the reporting date, the Group obtained loans
from the controlling shareholder which are unsecured, bear
interest at a fixed rate of 3% per annum and not repayable
within twelve months from the reporting date. The loans from
the controlling shareholder shall initially be recognised at its
fair value, being the present value of all future cash flows of
the loans discounted at the prevailing market interest rate. The
estimated difference between the nominal value and the fair
value initially recognised of the loans of approximately $52 million
will be recognised as a deemed contribution from the controlling
shareholder during the year ending 31 March 2025.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 June 2024.

34.

35.

36.

37.

EEREEIERBIR AT 2023/244F 4

EXMBARS (@)

(b) SEBRASFHM (BEME1HR
BEENEFNEHR KNF12KRER
SEREAL WT @

FABTEFMEZITHA B FHENAIREE
MR ZEEN LEHRABIAEZRR
ERRBR 7 - AMRE EHRAE
VUAS ILERFRHRRHRE Ak
T3 R ERHL AR E o

ARARBETEEEAER (EFNE
SITHABRIN AR 3 5 I
KRB _E TR RSB 14AEFR 7 E IR
25 o

ERSAGRREERAT

BEERA R_E_ME=/A=+—H=K
EENERSRARRREERAT AN
BRE LA BsEMAILAChan HM Company
Limited o b B B Y0 AR MM A RE AR
BiR& o

HEHAREIR

REARR AEENGERRRER H
AERE - UEEFR3%s R WA FENEK
SRRt -ERREE -ERRREMH
MEZATE BIUATHERERRZER
BIFr A RRIRE M) Stk b5t EREESA
HATBEZEZBNS 2008 THRBE_S
TEEZA=+—HLEFERGFEERR

#HER S MERR

RGREMHBREN_ZE_MFEAB-+H
AEEEaHEREETIE-
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP
TEBFFEMERER

The particular of the Group’s investment properties and buildings held HEBEMNKEEYERBEBRYEZFIBUT !
for own use are as follows:

Location Use Tenure

thEh B& FHER

Investment properties

iTech Tower 1 Data centre Medium-term lease
No. 28 Pak Tin Par Street RPN FRERFRAY

Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong

SEMARE

A i E285%

iTech Tower 2 Data centre Medium-term lease
No. 56 Ta Chuen Ping Street SR FREAFRAY

Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong

EBMAZEE

FTHE I H565%

Shop B, Ground Floor, Ccommercial shops Medium-term lease
No. 39 Chatham Road South 725 FRERFRAY

Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BHENFER IV IER B8 R 3995 M EBE

Buildings held for own use

1=):k7/ES
18/F, No. 39 Chatham Road South Office premises Medium-term lease
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong I /NE FREAFRAY

BARNREERIDVIEZRRER351812

19/F, No. 39 Chatham Road South Office premises Medium-term lease
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong WMAZE FRERTEAY
HAENBERIDIBRRIEMI191E

22/F, No. 39 Chatham Road South Office premises Medium-term lease
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong b R/NES FREAFRAY
EHAETLBER VB R B IE M39952218

Shop in the Basement Floor, Shop A and Sales office Medium-term lease
Shop C on the Ground Floor, and Shop A HEWER FREAFEAY

on the 1/F of No. 39 Chatham Road South

Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

EBNBER DRI B IE R39S HEE

] A f e C# B 112 AR
Rooms 805-806, 5/F, N0.9 Zhongjian Road Office premises Medium-term lease
Qingxiu District, Nanning, Guangxi Province MANE FREAFRAY

the People’s Republic of China
I EFE SRR 7 & R B 9SR518805 2 806 =
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